
                
 

 
AGENDA 

Regular Meeting 
April 19, 2016 - 7:30 p.m. 

 
City Council meeting packets are prepared several days prior to the meetings.  This information is reviewed 
and studied by the Councilmembers, eliminating lengthy discussions to gain basic understanding.                   
Timely action and short discussion on agenda items does not reflect lack of thought or analysis.                     
An informational packet is available for public inspection on our website at www.evanscolorado.gov and 
posted immediately on the bulletin board adjacent to the Council Chambers. 
 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER 
 

2. PLEDGE 
 

3. ROLL CALL   Mayor:  John Morris 
 Mayor Pro-Tem:  Jay Schaffer 
 Council:  Laura Brown 

 Mark Clark 
 Sherri Finn 
 Lance Homann 
 Brian Rudy 

 
 

4. PROCLAMATION 
A. Holocaust Memorial Observance  

 
5. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION  

 
The City Council welcomes you here and thanks you for your time and concerns.  If you wish to 
address the City Council, this is the time set on the agenda for you to do so.  When you are 
recognized, please step to the podium, state your name and address then address City Council.    
Your comments will be limited to two (2) minutes.  The City Council may not respond to your 
comments this evening, rather they may take your comments and suggestions under advisement and 
your questions may be directed to the appropriate staff person for follow-up.  Thank you! 

 
6. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 
7. CONSENT AGENDA   

A. Approval of Minutes of the Regular Meeting of April 5, 2016 
B. Ordinance No. 649-16 – Bella Vista Manufactured Home District, Planned 

Unit Development (PUD) Rezoning (Second Reading) 
C. Ordinance No. 650-16 – Amending the Planned Unit Development (PUD) for 

If you would like to address City Council,  
please place your name on the sign-up sheet  

located at the back of the council room.   
You will be recognized to speak during the  

"audience participation" portion of the agenda. 



It is the policy of the City of Evans that all programs and activities shall be accessible to, and usable by, 
persons with disabilities. Persons needing assistance shall contact the Safety & Risk Management Specialist 
at the City of Evans. Please provide three to five business day’s advance notice so we can adequately meet 
your needs. 
 

Vintage Villas (Second Reading) 
D. Ordinance No. 651-16 – Amending Ordinance No. 632-15 and Appropriating 

Sum of Revenues and Fund Balances for the Amended 2016 City of Evans 
Budget (Second Reading) 

E. Ordinance No. 652-16 Approving a Loan from the Colorado Water Resources 
and Power Development Authority (CWRPDA) in the Principal Amount not to 
Exceed $41,429,000 to Proceed with Improvements to the City Waste Water 
Treatment Facilities (Second Reading) 

 
8. SPECIAL RECOGNITION 

A. Recognizing Council Member Laura Brown 
 

9. SWEARING IN NEW COUNCIL MEMBERS 
 

10. NEW BUSINESS 
A. Resolution No. 20-2016 Approval of Contract Extension and Preliminary 

Budget Revision for Long Range Planner 
B. Award of Bid for City Street Sweeper 

 
11. REPORTS 

A. City Manager 
B. City Attorney 

 
12. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION (general comments) 

Please review the Audience Participation section listed at the beginning of the agenda for 
procedures on addressing City Council. 
 
 

13. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
A.  To Determine Positions Relative to Matters that May be Subject to 

 Negotiations, Developing Strategy for Negotiations, and Instructing 
 Negotiators, Pursuant to C.R.S. 24-6-402(4)(e) 

 
14. ADJOURNMENT 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

CITY OF EVANS – MISSION STATEMENT 
 

 “To deliver sustainable, citizen-driven services for the health, safety, and welfare 
of the community.” 



 

PROCLAMATION  
2016 Holocaust Memorial Observances 

 
 

WHEREAS, one purpose of the annual Northern Colorado Holocaust Memorial Observances is to 
emphasize how history teaches us about the actions that shaped our past, and 
 
WHEREAS, history is the product of the choices people have made and the actions people have taken, 
and 
 
WHEREAS, we want to learn about the consequences of choices and behaviors made in the past by 
individuals and governments in the hope of obtaining guidance on how to avoid past errors and emulate 
past successes when making important decisions in our own time, and  

 
WHEREAS, the annual activities of the Holocaust Memorial Observance allow all of us to examine how 
the uncontrolled power of the Nazi Party of Germany in the 1930s lead to the destruction of that 
country’s institutions and to the unprecedented tragedy of the Second World War, as well as the 
Holocaust, and 

 
WHEREAS, the NAZIS sought to systematically murder every Jewish man, woman and child of 
Europe, thereby giving a name to the previously unnamed crime of genocide, and 

 
WHEREAS, genocide has its roots in fear of those who are different, which develops into hate, which 
develops into bigotry, which developed into governmental policy and action against those who are 
portrayed as “less than human” outsiders, and  

 
WHEREAS, the protection of our own rights and freedoms requires our active participation to support 
what we see is right and to speak out against what we see is wrong, and  

 
WHEREAS, we sponsor these events in the hope that all who attend will learn to speak out when they 
hear anyone speaking hate and will lawfully act whenever confronted with hate to prevent anyone from 
acting with bigotry against others in America and in the world. 

 
WHEREAS, the cities of Greeley, Eaton and Evans along with the community of Northern Colorado 
through the institutional sponsorship of Aims, the University of Northern Colorado, the Greeley Tribune, 
the Greeley Interfaith community, Beth Israel Congregation and all others who co-sponsor and support 
the annual observances which are free and open to the public, 

 
NOW, THEREFORE I, John L. Morris by virtue of the authority vested in me as Mayor of the City of 
Evans, do herby proclaim April 19 to May 8, 2016 as Holocaust Memorial Observances and encourage 
the residents of Evans to participate in the educational activities during these Observances. 

 
 In witness whereof, I have here unto set my hand and caused to be affixed the official seal of the City of 
 Evans this nineteenth day of April 2016. 
 

 
 
ATTEST:       CITY OF EVANS, COLORADO 
 
                                                               By __________________________                                             
 City Clerk        Mayor 

 



 
  
 

COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 
  
 
DATE:   April 19, 2016 
 
AGENDA ITEM:   7.A 

   
SUBJECT: Approval of the Minutes April 5th City Council Meeting 
 
PRESENTED BY:  City Clerk  
___________________________________________________________________________ 
AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION: 
 
Approval of minutes. 
  
FINANCIAL SUMMARY: 
 
N/A
  
RECOMMENDATION: 
       
N/A
  
SUGGESTED MOTIONS: 
 
"I move to approve the minutes as presented." 
  
 



 

               
 

MINUTES 
EVANS CITY COUNCIL 

April 5, 2016  
 
 

CALL TO ORDER 
Mayor Morris called the meeting to 7:30 p.m. 

 
PLEDGE 

 
ROLL CALL    
 
Present:  Mayor Morris, Mayor Pro-Tem Schaffer, Council Members Brown, Clark, Finn,   
  Homann, and Rudy 
 
PROCLAMATIONS 

A. Fair Housing Month 
 
Mayor Morris read the proclamation for Fair Housing Month. 
 

B. Victims’ Rights Week 
 
Mayor Morris read the proclamation for Victims’ Rights Week and Mayor Pro-Tem 
Schaffer presented it to members of the Weld County Victim Services Unit. 

 
C. National Service Day for Weld County Retired & Senior Volunteer Program 

 
Mayor Morris read the proclamation for the Weld County Retired & Senior 
Volunteer Program’s National Service Day and Mayor Pro-Tem Schaffer presented it 
to members of the organization.  

 
 
AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION  
 

Mr. Jerry Long, from 4303 Pennyroyal, Evans, spoke to City Council about his 
concerns with road conditions in his neighborhood and distributed a handout to the 
City Council Members.  

 
 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
Mayor Pro-Tem Schaffer made the motion, seconded by Council Member Rudy, to 
approve the Agenda.  The motion passed with all voting in favor thereof. 

 
 



EVANS CITY COUNCIL 
April 5, 2016  
Page 2 
 

CONSENT AGENDA   
 

A. Approval of Minutes of the Regular Meeting of March 15, 2016 
 
Mayor Pro-Tem Schaffer made the motion, seconded by Council Member Brown, to 
approve the Consent Agenda.  The motion passed with all voting in favor thereof. 

 
 

NEW BUSINESS 
A. Public Hearing – Bella Vista Development 

i. Ordinance No. 649-16 – Bella Vista Manufactured Home District, 
Planned Unit Development (PUD) Rezoning (First Reading) 

      
 Mayor Morris opened the public hearing. 

 
Sean Wheeler, City Planner, explained that the applicant seeks approval for 
redevelopment of the Bella Vista Manufactured Home Park as a Planned Unit 
Development (PUD) for a new manufactured home community.  This process 
requires City approval of a request to rezone the property to a PUD, approval of a 
PUD Plan and approval of a subdivision plat.  For historic reference, the Bella Vista 
manufactured home park sustained significant damage during the 2013 flood and all 
of the homes deemed uninhabitable. 
 
The subject property is located at the northeast corner of Trinidad and 37th Streets in 
east Evans and it is approximately 5.9 acres in size.  The proposed development 
includes spaces for 52 manufactured homes along with areas for guest parking and 
open space.  The plan also includes a revised layout for the homes, a new interior 
circulation plan, updated utilities, landscaping and on-site detention for drainage.  
Access is proposed off both Trinidad and 37th Streets. 
 
Mr. Wheeler explained that the Planning Commission considered the request at a 
public hearing on March 22, 2016.  Planning Staff will provide a synopsis of their 
discussion for the City Council at the public hearing.  The Planning Commission 
voted 5 to 0 in favor of approval of the PUD Rezoning and the Subdivision Plat. 

 
Lastly, Mr. Wheeler entered the conditions of approval into the record, which were 
based on the Development Review Team assessment and the requirements of the 
Municipal Code for the application: 
 
1.   All representations of the applicant are considered conditions of approval unless 

modified by the City. 
 
2.  The applicant shall submit a PUD Final Plat and Final PUD Plan for approval 



EVANS CITY COUNCIL 
April 5, 2016  
Page 3 
 

prior to development of the site. 
 
3.  The applicant shall comply with all requirements of the City Engineer related to 

road and other infrastructure improvements including the submittal of final 
construction plans and details; a final opinion of costs and schedule of 
improvements, and all other elements determined appropriate by the City 
Engineer prior to development of the site. 

 
4.   The applicant shall provide a Final Drainage Plan and Final Traffic Memo to be 

reviewed and approved by the City Engineer prior to development of the site. 
 
Mayor Morris closed the public hearing and asked for comments from Council.  

 
Council Member Clark made the motion, seconded by Council Member Finn, to 
approve Ordinance No. 649-16 – Bella Vista Manufactured Home District, Planned 
Unit Development (PUD) Rezoning on first reading.   
The motion passed with all voting in favor thereof.  

   
 

ii. Bella Vista Subdivision – Preliminary and Final Plat  
 

Council Member Clark made the motion, seconded by Council Member Homann to 
approve the Bella Vista Manufactured Home Park PUD Plan and rezoning 
application, along with approval of the Bella Vista PUD Plat on presentation to 
Council for signature, subject to conditions of approval 1 through 4 as recommended. 
The motion passed with all voting in favor thereof.  

 
 

B. Public Hearing – Ordinance No. 650-16 – Amending the Planned Unit 
Development (PUD) for Vintage Villas (First Reading) 

 
   Mayor Morris opened the public hearing. 

 
Fred Starr, Public Works and Community Development Director, explained that the 
applicant is requesting an Amendment of the Vintage Villas Planned Unit 
Development Plat for the purpose of reducing the number of platted lots from the 
originally approved 52 lots to 49 lots.  This re-platting will allow for a 
reconfiguration of lots to provide more separation between lots and reduce the total 
number of platted lots by three. 
 
Mr. Starr explained that the request to amend the original Vintage Villas P.U.D. 
Subdivision Final Plat was originally approved by the Evans Planning Commission 
on July 8, 2003 and by the City Council on August 5, 2003.   



EVANS CITY COUNCIL 
April 5, 2016  
Page 4 
 

 
The Planning commission voted 5-0 to recommend that the City Council approved 
the proposed amendment to the Vintage Villas Planned Unit development Plat as 
proposed. 
 
Mayor Morris closed the public hearing and asked for comments from City Council. 
 
Council Member Homann made the motion, seconded by Council Member Rudy to 
approve Ordinance No. 650-16 – amending the Planned Unit Development (PUD) for 
Vintage Villas on first reading.  The motion passed with all voting in favor thereof.  
  

 
C. Public Hearing – Ordinance No. 651-16 – Amending Ordinance No. 632-15 and 

Appropriating Sum of Revenues and Fund Balances for the Amended 2016 City 
of Evans Budget (First Reading) 

 
   Mayor Morris opened the public hearing. 
 

Jacque Troudt, CPA, Finance Manager, spoke about the requirements of amending 
the adopted budget at quarterly intervals throughout the year in order to facilitate a 
flexible and accurate City budget. In this case, the revenues, expenditures (or 
expenses in enterprise funds) and transfers have been previously approved by the City 
Council and staff action is usually taken on these items immediately following 
Council’s direction.   
 
According to Ms. Troudt, Ordinance No. 651-16 is the first revision to the 2016 
Operating and Capital Budget. The original 2016 Budget was approved by Ordinance 
No. 632-15 on October 20th 2015. 
 
The Ordinance would make changes to revenues, expenditures, and transfers 
according to each respective fund.  Ms. Troudt summarized the following items in 
the first budget revision.  She explained that many of the items included are carry 
forward items, which were related to a specific project(s) appropriated for in the 2015 
budget, but were not finished in that fiscal year. Since appropriations lapse, the 
budget for these items needs to be appropriated (carried forward) in 2016. 
 
According to Ms. Troudt, the General Fund includes the following proposed revision 
items: 
 
 
Item 1.1 is for completion of the Laserfiche document retention system for $7,500. 
 
Item 1.2 is for completion of the Cemetery Software/GIS Project for 5,000. 



EVANS CITY COUNCIL 
April 5, 2016  
Page 5 
 

 
Item 1.3 will spend $6,000 of Traffic Calming Funds to install LED flashing stop 
signs, and resident communication signs. 
 
Item 1.4 will carry forward $15,000 for Police Officers signing bonuses. 
 
Item 1.5 is for the completion of the budgeting and financial reporting software for 
$48,350. 
 
Item 1.6, 1.7 and 1.8 represent grant costs for the Sediment Transport Study, South 
Platte Restoration Master Plan, and the Watershed Coordinator. The associated 
expenditures for these projects are $144,783, $1,918 and $78,568, respectively. 
 
Item 1.8 is for the purchase of 2 single axle dump trucks, $350,000. 
 
Item 1.9 represents completion of the Prairie View Drive Landscaping project for 
$417,400 and the US 85 Entryway & Landscaping project for $405,786. 
 
One-time funding items shown in 1.21 total $29,800. The chart below outlines the 
items included in this list. 
 
 

Vehicle Safety Equipment $3,800 
Public Works Internet $10,000 
Uninterruptable Power Supplies $5,500 
Storefront Improvement Grants $10,500 

 
The Cemetery perpetual care fund includes a carry forward for the construction of a 
maintenance shed for $75,000, item 1.10. 
 
The Street Impact fund includes carry forward of budget for the completion of 
construction on the 37th Street Access Control, 35th Avenue widening and 65th 
Avenue widening, see 1.12. 
 
The Park Impact fund includes an expenditure for completing the lighting project at 
Renaissance Park for $110,000, see 1.11. 
 
The Conservation Trust Fund includes funds to replace the playground equipment at 
City Park and Village Park, see item 1.13, for a total of $82,000. 
 
The CIP – Streets fund includes carryforward of road projects at item 1.14.  These 
include: 
 



EVANS CITY COUNCIL 
April 5, 2016  
Page 6 
 

 
- Flood Street repair, $260,073 
- US 85 Access Control at 31st and 37th Streets, $917,838 
- Highway 85 Improvements, $13,650 
- Street lighting, $50,000 
- Bridge repair, $24,000 
- 35th Avenue widening- 37th to Prairie View, $1,379,490 
- 65th Avenue widening, $47,500 
- 85 Access Control at 31st Street, $578,000 
- Evans Ditch Bike Path, $118,888 

 
The CIP – Parks fund includes an item at 1.15 for the carryover of design budget for 
the renovation of Riverside Park, for $359,142. 
 
Revision items for the Water fund include: 
 
1.16 increasing expense by $61,882 to complete the utility billing software 
replacement. The expenses for this software upgrade will be split among the water, 
wastewater and sewer funds, based upon respective revenue. 
 
1.17 increasing expense by $11,000 for the Sensus server replacements, which will 
assist the new utility billing software. 
 
1.18 increasing expense by $3,000 for water hydrant testing. 
 
1.19 increasing expense and related loan revenue by $126,384 to complete the water 
meter radio replacement program. 
 
1.24 increasing expense by $97,950 and related grant revenue of $87,184 for the 
Water Utility Master Plan. 
 
The Waste Water fund includes the following revision items: 
 
1.16 increasing expense by $20,333 to complete the utility billing software 
replacement. The expenses for this software upgrade will be split among the water, 
wastewater and sewer funds, based upon respective revenue. 
 
1.20 increasing expense by $50,500 for the purchase of a 6” pump and related hoses 
 
1.25 includes design costs for the new Wastewater Treatment Plant of $1,131,289 
and grant revenue of $1,650,272. 
 
1.26 represents anticipated FEMA revenue of $508,873 for costs incurred 



EVANS CITY COUNCIL 
April 5, 2016  
Page 7 
 

permanently repairing the Wastewater Treatment Facility. 
 
The Storm Drainage fund will also have an increase in expenses for new utility 
billing software update at 1.16, which will cost the Storm fund approximately $6,188. 
Additionally, items 1.22 and 1.23 show the 2015 fund carryover projects of the 43rd 
and Central Storm Drain, and the 29th and Anchor Inlet for $141,009 and $75,000, 
respectively. Also included is $141,009 of grant revenue and expense for item 1.6, 
Stormwater Management Plan. 
 
Ms. Troudt explained that the City Finance Committee reviewed the proposed budget 
revision at their last meeting and did not recommend any changes. 
 
Attachment “A”  identifies the detailed changes for the proposed revisions to the 2016 
Budget. The details are also summarized in the heading of the appropriation 
ordinance. 
 
Attachment “B”  includes the Beginning Balance by Fund based on preliminary 
audited balances. Final audited balances will be presented by our external auditors by 
the end of May.  The preliminary audited 2015 ending balance of all funds of 
$23,162,939 is higher than the 2015 adopted budget projection (including the impact 
of the final budget revision of 2015) of $13,933,601. The majority of the difference is 
in the General Fund (+$4,573,693), Street Impact Fund (+$891,356), CIP- Streets 
fund (+$944,543), and the Water Fund (+$1,118,991). The General Fund variance 
was due to higher than projected revenues and budget savings. The Street Impact 
Fund, CIP- Streets Fund, and Water Funds budgeted for capital projects in 2015 
which were not completed and are being carried forward to 2016. 
 
 
Mayor Morris closed the public hearing and asked for comments from City Council. 
 
The Council Members discussed their support for the budget amendment. 
 
Mayor Pro-Tem Schaffer made the motion, seconded by Council Member Finn to 
adopt Ordinance No. 651-16 – amending Ordinance No. 632-15 and appropriating 
sum of revenues and fund balances for the amended 2016 City of Evans Budget on 
first reading.  The motion passed with all voting in favor thereof.  
 

 
D. Public Hearing – Ordinance No. 652-16 Approving a Loan from the Colorado 

Water Resources and Power Development Authority (CWRPDA) in the 
Principal Amount not to Exceed $41,429,000 to Proceed with Improvements to 
the City Waste Water Treatment Facilities (First Reading) 

 



EVANS CITY COUNCIL 
April 5, 2016  
Page 8 
 
   Mayor Morris opened the public hearing. 
 
   Keith Meyers and Jessica Gonifas, Deputy City Manager presented the Ordinance No. 
   652-16.   
 

  Council Member Homann asked about the current plants that are at capacity and how 
  the future plant will provide extra capacity.  Mr. Meyers responded to Council  
  Member Homann’s questions.  

 
   Mayor Morris asked about the ability to expand the future plant,  
 
   Mayor Morris asked for any testimony in support or opposed to the Ordinances— 
   there was none.  
 
   Mayor Morris closed the public hearing at 8:52 p.m. 
 
   MPT discussed the magnitude of this project and discussed his support. 
 
   Mayor Morris discussed water rates and his support for the Ordinance.  
 

Council Member Clark made the motion, seconded by Council Member Rudy, to 
approve Ordinance No. 652-16–Approving a Loan from the Colorado Water 
Resources and Power Development Authority (CWRPDA) in the Principal Amount 
not to Exceed $41,429,000 to Proceed with Improvements to the City Waste Water 
Treatment Facilities (First Reading).  
The motion passed with all voting in favor thereof.  

 
 

E. Resolution No. 18-2016 – Wastewater Rate Adjustment 
 
   Ms. Gonifas discussed the Resolution and the need for wastewater rate adjustments 
   for the City of Evans.  
 
   Mayor Morris spoke about the need to increase wastewater rates, but also spoke to 
   the need to raise the awareness of residents about when and why the rates will be  
   increasing. 
 

Council Member Rudy made the motion, seconded by Council Member Homann,    
to adopt  Resolution No. 18-2016 – Wastewater Rate Adjustment. 
The motion passed with all voting in favor thereof.  
 

.     
A. Resolution No. 19-2016 – Approval of South Platte River Recreation Corridor 



EVANS CITY COUNCIL 
April 5, 2016  
Page 9 
 

Master Plan 
 
   Mr. Chad Reishel, Evans City Planner, discussed the need for Resolution No. 19- 
   2016 – Approval of South Platte River Recreation Corridor Master Plan. 
    

Mayor Pro-Tem Schaffer made the motion, seconded by Council Member Finn to 
adopt Resolution No. 19-2016 – Approval of the South Platte River Recreation 
Corridor Master Plan.  The motion passed with all voting in favor thereof. 

  
    

REPORTS 
A. City Manager 

 
Mr. Hogan, City Manager, spoke to the important decision reached by the Council to 
approving a loan from the Colorado Water Resources and Power Development 
Authority (CWRPDA) for improvements to the City Waste Water Treatment 
Facilities. 
 
Mr. Hogan referred the Council to the handout concerning meter reading and spoke 
about the success of the program for the program.  He specifically commended Joni 
Crist, City Utility Billing Specialist, who presented at a national conference for 
Sensus Software. 
 
Lastly, he talked about, how the City’s Emergency Manger, David Burns, is being 
utilized for regional Emergency Preparedness training and tracking the emergency 
incidents in 2016.  

     
     

B. City Attorney 
 
    Mr. Krob updated the Council on the Dirks Property, which was under a court order 
    to be cleaned up by the end of March 2016, but the owner had failed to comply.      
    Mr. Krob also spoke about the recent not guilty verdict for Tom Fallis, which was  
   consistent with the evidence collected by the Evans Police Department.   
     

AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION  
   There was no audience participation.  

 
EXECUTIVE SESSION 

A.  To Determine Positions Relative to Matters that May be Subject to 
 Negotiations,  Developing Strategy for Negotiations, and Instructing 
 Negotiators, Pursuant to C.R.S. 24-6-402(4)(e) 

 



EVANS CITY COUNCIL 
April 5, 2016  
Page 10 
 

 Mayor Pro-Tem Schaffer, made the motion, seconded by Council Member Clark,  
 To adjourn into executive session in order to determine positions relative to matters 

 that may be subject to negotiations, developing strategy for negotiations,                 
 and instructing negotiators, pursuant to C.R.S. 24-6-402(4)(e). 

 The motion passed with all voting in favor thereof. 
 
 The Council adjourned into executive session.  
 

 The executive session concluded at 8:39 p.m. 
 

 Mr. Krob noted for the record that the contents of the executive session were subject 
 to attorney client privilege and within the scope of the state statutes. 

 
ADJOURNMENT 

 
 
   The regular meeting adjourned at 9:40 p.m. 
 

 



Page 1 of 4 

CITY COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 
April 19th, 2016 

AGENDA ITEM: 

PREPARED BY: 

ACTION: 

REVIEWED BY: 

7.B- Bella Vista Manufactured Home District, Planned Unit Development 
(PUD) Rezoning; Preliminary & Final Plat

Sean Wheeler, City Planner 

Consideration by City Council 

Fred Starr, Public Works Director 

SITE INFORMATION 

Location: 
The site is located at the northeast corner of the intersection of Trinidad and 
37th Streets in east Evans.  It is approximately 5.9-acres in size.   
(See attached Vicinity Map) 

 Applicant:   Jim Feehan, 3610 Trinidad LLC. dba Bella Vista MHP 
  Norris Design (Consultant) 

Existing Land Use: 
  Abandoned Residential Manufactured Home District 
  (Destroyed in 2013 Flood) 

Proposed Land Use: 
  Re-designed Manufactured Home Community PUD; Preliminary and 
  Final Plat Approval. 

Surrounding 
Land 
Uses: 

North Single Family Residential 

South Single Family Residential 

East Undeveloped Land 

West Single Family Residential 

Existing Zoning:   RMH (Residential Manufactured Home) 

  Proposed Zoning:   Planned Unit Development (Residential Manufactured Home Community) 

Surrounding 
Zoning: 

North R-1 Residential 

South 
  R-1, R-2, RMH (Residential Manufactured Home), Riverside Meadow 
  PUD & Timberline Subdivision (Single Family Residential) 

East R-1 (Single Family Residential) 

West R-2 (Two Family Residential) 

Future Land Use 
Designation: High Density Residential 



Page 2 of 4 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION: 

1. The applicant seeks approval for redevelopment of the Bella Vista Manufactured Home Park as a
Planned Unit Development (PUD) for a new manufactured home community.  This process requires City
approval of a request to rezone the property to a PUD, approval of a PUD Plan and approval of a
subdivision plat.  For historic reference, the Bella Vista manufactured home park sustained significant
damage during the 2013 flood and all of the homes deemed uninhabitable.

2. The subject property is located at the northeast corner of Trinidad and 37th Streets in east Evans and it
is approximately 5.9 acres in size.  The proposed development includes spaces for 52 manufactured homes
along with areas for guest parking and open space.  The plan also includes a revised layout for the homes,
a new interior circulation plan, updated utilities, landscaping and on-site detention for drainage.  Access
is proposed off both Trinidad and 37th Streets.

PLANNING COMMISSION:  

The Planning Commission considered the request at a public hearing on March 22, 2016.  Planning Staff 
will provide a synoipsis of their discussion for the City Council at the public hearing.  The Planning 
Commission voted 5 to 0 in favor of approval of the PUD Rezoning and the Subdivision Plat. 

ANALYSIS / ISSUES: 

1. Rezoning & PUD Requirements:  Attached for consideration is the Staff report provided to the
Planning Commission.  It outlines the detailed staff analysis for this Rezoning and Plat approval request.
Approval of the request is subject to several provisions of the municipal code including;

 Chapter 19.22 Residential Manufactured Home (RMH) District
 Chapter 18.28 Planned Unit Development (PUD) Districts
 Chapter 19.60 Zoning Amendments

2. Assessment:  Staff’s assessment is that this request has (or can meet) the requirements of the above
cited chapters of the Municipal Code for a Planned Unit Development as a Manufactured Home Park.
Historic use of the site was for this purpose until it was significantly damaged in the 2013 flood.  The plan,
as proposed, would improve the site to current standards and restore a lost neighborhood.

3. Comprehensive Plan:  The request satisfies the requirements of the Evans Comprehensive Plan for
creating a diversity of residential neighborhoods in the City, with a goal to serve a variety of income levels
and life styles.  Chapter 4 of the Comprehensive Plan outlines “Goals, Policies and Actions” to guide land
use decisions.  Policy 1.1 – Actions on page 4-4 recommends revisions to the zoning map to reflect the
future land use map designations.  The future land use map identifies the site for residential urban
neighborhood uses.  Based on the stated objectives in the Comprehensive Plan and the Future Land Use
Map designation, this request satisfies both standards for rezoning the property to a Manufactured Home
Park PUD.

4. Site Plan:  The Municipal Code designates site plan approval as a function of staff, under the direction
of the City Manager.  Elements of the site plan are attached to this report for reference, and to illustrate
the intended layout and use of the property.  The PUD Plan requires approval by the City Council to rezone
the property to this use.



Page 3 of 4 

5. Subdivision Plat:  Title 18.28 of the Code requires approval of a PUD Plan showing in detail the
locations of the buildings and the designs of streets, lanes, parking areas, parks and other open areas.  The
attached subdivision plat is a graphic representation of that plan.  All lots within the property will remain
owned by the applicant until such a time as the owner may determine that lots can be sold individually.
There are no public easements or rights-of-way designated with approval of this plat.  As the platting of
lots is an element of the PUD Plan and specific to this site, the plat requires approval by the City Council.

STRAGIC PLAN, FOCUS, GOALS:  

This project relates most directly to three of the City Council’s identified strategic goals and objectives for 
Evans: 

1. Creating a Diverse Economy:  The creation of diverse neighborhoods adds to the City’s economy by
increasing the population base that will utilize Evans businesses and contributing to the City’s tax base.

2. Creating a Self-Sustaining City:  The use provides another residential area to serve individuals who
are employed in Evans, thus reducing the commute requirements for those employed in our municipality,

3. Creating a Family-Friendly Community:  The use restores a neighborhood that will residents who
may not desire single-family residential property, thus increasing the diversity of neighborhood options
for individuals considering Evans as a home.

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

A. Conditions of Approval:  The below conditions of approval are based on the Development Review
Team assessment and the requirements of the Municipal Code for this application.

1. All representations of the applicant are considered conditions of approval unless modified by the City.

2. The applicant shall submit a PUD Final Plat and Final PUD Plan for approval prior to development of
the site.

3. The applicant shall comply with all requirements of the City Engineer related to road and other
infrastructure improvements including the submittal of final construction plans and details; a final
opinion of costs and schedule of improvements, and all other elements determined appropriate by the
City Engineer prior to development of the site.

4. The applicant shall provide a Final Drainage Plan and Final Traffic Memo to be reviewed and
approved by the City Engineer prior to development of the site.



Page 4 of 4 

DRAFT MOTIONS FOR AGENDA ITEM A.i – ORDINANCE NO. 649-16: 

“I move to adopt Ordinance No. 649-16 on second and final reading.” 

“I move to deny Ordinance No. 649-16 for the following reasons.” 

Attachments: 
1. Staff Report to Council
2. Staff Report to Planning Commission
3. Vicinity Map
4. PUD Development Guide
5. PUD Site Plan
6. Applicant Project Description
7. Applicant Response to Staff Review
8. Bella Vista PUD Plat



 

Page 1 of 5 
 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
March 22, 2016 

 
AGENDA ITEM: Bella Vista Manufactured Home District, Planned Unit Development 
 (PUD) Rezoning and Preliminary and Final Plat 
 
PREPARED BY: Sean Wheeler, City Planner 
 
ACTION: Review for recommendation to City Council 
 
REVIEWED BY: Fred Starr, Public Works Director 
 
CITY COUNCIL DATE: April 5th, 2016 (Tentative) 
 

 

 

SITE INFORMATION 

Location: 
The site is located at the northeast corner of the intersection of Trinidad 
and 37th Streets in east Evans.  It is approximately 5.9-acres in size.   
(See attached Vicinity Map) 

 
  Applicant: 
 

  Jim Feehan, 3610 Trinidad LLC. dba Bella Vista MHP 
  Norris Design (Consultant) 
 

Existing Land Use: 
  Abandoned Residential Manufactured Home District 
  (Destroyed in 2013 Flood) 

 
Proposed Land Use: 

  Re-designed Manufactured Home Community PUD, Preliminary and 
  Final Plat Approval. 

 
Surrounding 
Land 
Uses: 

North  Single Family Residential 

South Single Family Residential 

East   Undeveloped Land 

West   Single Family Residential 

 Existing Zoning:   RMH (Residential Manufactured Home) 

Proposed Zoning / Use:   Planned Unit Development (Residential Manufactured Home Community) 

 
Surrounding 
Zoning: 

North   R-2 (Two Family Residential) 

South 
  R-1, R-2, RMH (Residential Manufactured Home), Riverside Meadows 
  PUD & Timberline Subdivision (Single Family Residential) 

East   R-1 (Single Family Residential) 

West   R-2 (Two Family Residential) 

Comprehensive Plan 
Future Use Designation:   High Density Residential 

 



 

Page 2 of 5 
 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION: 
 
1. The applicant seeks approval for redevelopment of the Bella Vista Manufactured Home Park as a 
Planned Unit Development (PUD) for a new manufactured home community.  This process requires City 
approval of a request to rezone the property to a PUD, approval of a PUD Plan and approval of a subdivision 
plat.  The Bella Vista manufactured home park sustained significant damage during the 2013 flood and all 
of the homes became uninhabitable.   
 
2. The subject property is located at the northeast corner of Trinidad and 37th Streets in east Evans and it is 
approximately 5.9 acres in size.  The proposed development includes spaces for 52 manufactured homes 
along with areas for guest parking and open space.  The plan also includes a revised layout for the homes, a 
new interior circulation plan, updated utilities, landscaping and on-site detention for drainage.  Access is 
proposed off both Trinidad and 37th Streets. 
 
 
ANALYSIS & ISSUES 
 
1. Rezoning & PUD Requirements:  The below Chapters of the Municipal Code provide direction and 
outline the process required to rezone a property to a Planned Unit Development. 
 

A. Chapter 19.22 Residential Manufactured Home (RMH) District:  Sub-section 19.22.070 of this 
chapter requires that redevelopment of Manufactured Home Parks shall be processed as a PUD, when 
an existing park has discontinued use for three (3) or more consecutive months.  This chapter also 
provides the minimum requirements for a PUD Plan to include standards for setbacks, utilities, accessory 
structures, open space and landscaping, etc.  It further requires compliance with the additional PUD 
standards contained in Chapter 18.28 of the Municipal Code, and requires submittal of a rezoning 
application in compliance with Chapter 19.60 of the Municipal Code. 
 

 B. Chapter 18.28 Planned Unit Development (PUD) Districts:   
 
1) 18.28.030: Size – Development Plan:  This section states that a property under consideration for 

PUD approval may also be subdivided into separate parcels.  The division of land this way is a 
platting process, however the Municipal Code does not provide the standards for a Preliminary Plat.  
It only provides the standards for a Final Plat.  Instead, the preliminary layout of lots, streets, open 
space, etc. is covered by approval of either a “Preliminary Plan” or a “PUD Plan”.  Essentially both 
are the same, except that a PUD Plan is typically more detailed to allow for specialized setbacks, lot 
sizes, etc.  A preliminary plat for this property is attached to this report for consideration.  Approval 
of the preliminary plat is required 

 
2) 18.28.100 – PUD Plan:  Here the Code provides added requirements for a PUD Plan.  Under the 

provisions of this chapter, if the PUD rezoning and Plan are approved then staff shall review the site 
plan for compliance with the approved zoning document.  Staff’s assessment is that the proposed 
PUD application will satisfy the requirements of the municipal code, subject to compliance with the 
conditions of approval included below.  A copy of the applicant’s PUD Plan is attached to this report 
for review and recommendation.  The site plan is also attached as for reference purposes. 

 
C. Chapter 19.60 Zoning Amendments:  This chapter outlines the process for amendments to zoning.  
It requires that rezoning a property to a PUD shall be done in conformance with the requirements in 
Chapter 18.28 PUD Districts described above.  Zoning amendments shall be approved only if the 
proposed zoning is in substantial conformance with the 2010 Comprehensive Plan or there exists 
substantial reasoning for amending the Comprehensive Plan, discussed in the next section below. 



 

Page 3 of 5 
 

D. Subdivision Plat:  Title 18.28 of the Code requires approval of a PUD Plan showing in detail the 
locations of the buildings and the designs of streets, lanes, parking areas, parks and other open areas.  
The attached subdivision plat is a graphic representation of that plan.  All lots within the property will 
remain owned by the applicant until such a time as the owner may determine that lots can be sold 
individually.  There are no public easements or rights-of-way designated with approval of this plat.  As 
the platting of lots is an element of the PUD Plan and specific to this site, the plat requries approval by 
the City Council. 
 

2. Compatibility:  The site is zoned RMH (Residential Manufactured Home) and is surrounded by other 
areas zoned for similar residential uses and densities.  Historically the proposed use has existed at this site 
and the rezoning to a PUD will allow for continued use as a manufactured home development.  This process 
also provides for significant improvements to the property as well.  Staff’s assessment is that the proposed 
use and rezoning are compatible with the surrounding area. 
 
3. 2010 Comprehensive Plan:  Chapter 3 of the 2010 Comprehensive Plan speaks to the City’s desire to 
create different types of residential areas to address a variety of income levels and life styles.  The applicant’s 
plan addresses this goal of the Comprehensive Plan.  Other sections of the Comprehensive Plan support 
promoting growth that fits within existing areas and can be supported by existing infrastructure, plus enhance 
the overall quality of life in Evans.  Redevelopment of this area as proposed meets those standards, increases 
housing options for residents and restores an area damaged in the 2013 flood.  Staff’s assessment is the 
proposed use satisfies the goals and objectives of the 2010 Comprehensive Plan. 
 
4. Engineering: The City Engineer has reviewed the preliminary information provided by the applicant 
and supports approval of the rezoning application.  Prior to development of the site, the applicant shall 
provide final construction drawings in compliance with standards and details monitored by the City 
Engineer.  The final drawings shall be consistent with the approved PUD, and the applicant must obtain 
approval from the City Engineer for the plans prior to development of the site.  This requirement is included 
as a condition of approval for the application below. 
 
5. Fire District:  The Evans Fire Protection District will review the final construction plans for 
development of the site in compliance with the standards they monitor in IFC 2012 with regard to this use 
in Appendix C and D of the fire code and related to fire protection requirements.  Final approval will be 
based on a review of the final plans, and no issues are anticipated to be of concern so long as the final 
drawings are consistent with the approved PUD Plan. 
 
6. Landscape Plan (Chapter 19.47 Municipal Code):  The City Parks and Grounds Superintendent 
worked with the applicant to craft a tree mitigation plan in compliance with the city code requirements.  The 
applicant provided a preliminary landscape plan to include a total of at least 49 trees.  The applicant will 
install turf in the open space and detention basin areas, around the sports court.  In addition each lot will 
have one (1) ornamental tree and three shrubs at a minimum.  The plan includes all low-water use trees and 
shrubs, addressing a desired xeriscape approach and the issue of water impacts from landscaping.  On 
approval of the PUD Plan, the city will review a final landscape plan for compliance with the PUD Plan 
approval and anticipates no problematic issues with the proposed landscaping.  This requirement is included 
as a condition of approval for the application. 
 
 
REVIEW CRITERIA 
 
1. Because this proposed use subject to four chapters of the Municipal Code, each shall be addressed for 
applicable review criteria. 
 



 

Page 4 of 5 
 

A. Chapter 19.22 Residential Manufactured Home (RMH) District:  Subchapter 19.22.070 lists the 
minimum requirements for a PUD Plan, and directs further compliance with the standards in Chapter 
18.28 for a PUD.  Staff’s assessment is that approval of the PUD Plan can satisfy the requirements 
contained in both Chapters of the Code, subject to the recommended conditions of approval below. 
 
B. Chapter 18.28 Planned Unit Development (PUD) Districts:  The criteria for approval described 
in Chapter 18.28 states that a PUD plan must serve the public interest, and the self-regulating aspects of 
the proposed PUD will provide adequate safeguards to the public and persons owning and occupying 
land in the PUD.  Staff’s assessment is the proposed PUD serves the public interest as it meets the stated 
goals of the City’s 2010 Comprehensive Plan for establishing different types of neighborhoods and the 
benefits therein.  This chapter also notes that for the City Council to approve the PUD, it shall consider 
the project in terms of compatibility of the application with the surrounding neighborhood in terms of 
traffic impacts, appearance and recreational amenities.  Staff’s assessment is the proposed PUD request 
satisfies all of these standards for approval as well. 
 
C. Chapter 19.60 Zoning Amendments:  This Chapter states that zoning amendments shall be 
approved if the application is in substantial conformance with the Comprehensive Plan or there exists 
substantial reasoning for amending the Comprehensive Plan.  Staff’s assessment is that the rezoning 
request satisfies this standard based on densities and surrounding uses. 

 
 
SUMMARY & STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Based on the above assessment of the requirements of the Municipal Code, Staff’s assessment is the project 
can meet the requirements for rezoning to a PUD to allow redevelopment of the site as a Manufactured Home 
Park, provided the applicant comply with the recommended conditions of approval below.  Should the 
Planning Commission determine that a recommendation to support approval is appropriate, Staff 
recommends including the following Conditions be included with the motion. 
 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
 
1. All representations of the applicant are considered conditions of approval unless modified by the City. 
 
2. The applicant shall submit a PUD Final Plat and Final PUD Plan for approval prior to development of 

the site. 
 
3. The applicant shall comply with all requirements of the City Engineer related to road and other 

infrastructure improvements including the submittal of final construction plans and details; a final 
opinion of costs and schedule of improvements, and all other elements determined appropriate by the 
City Engineer prior to development of the site. 

 
4. The applicant shall provide a Final Drainage Plan and Final Traffic Memo to be reviewed and approved 

by the City Engineer prior to development of the site. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DRAFT MOTIONS: 



 

Page 5 of 5 
 

 
“I recommend supporting a motion of approval by the City Council for the Bella Vista Manufactured 
Home District, Planned Unit Development (PUD) Rezoning, along with the Final Plat with conditions of 
approval 1- 4, as found in the staff report, or as modified by the Planning commission.” 
 
“I recommend supporting a motion of denial by the City Council for the Bella Vista Manufactured Home 
District, Planned Unit Development (PUD) Rezoning and the Final Plat.” 
 
 
 
 
Attachments:  1. Vicinity Map, 2. Project Description, 3. PUD Plan, 4. Final Plat 
 





   1 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 

Bella Vista Planned Unit Development (PUD) PLAN 
 
1. Access:  Access is provided in two locations.  The Trinidad Street entrance is a local road entrance with 30’ 
roadway entering and exiting the project.  The 37th Street entrance is a local road entrance with 28’ roadway 
entering and exiting the property. 
 
2. Allowed Use:  The PUD allows for single-family residential uses as a Manufactured Home Park.  Uses 
other than those allowed as home occupations in the Municipal Code, are not allowed by the PUD zoning. 
 
3. Fencing:  A six (6) foot privacy fence shall be constructed and maintained along the north property line of 
Bella Vista by the park owner.  Should the lots be sold independently at a future date, the owners of lots adjacent 
to the fence shall be responsible for maintenance of the fence.  No other fencing is proposed within the Bella 
Vista PUD. 
 
4. Landscaping:  Landscaping layout shall conform to a landscaping plan reviewed and approved by the City 
as part of the site plan.  All common landscaped areas (drainage areas, entry features, perimeter landscaping, sport 
court) will be owned and maintained by the owner of the Bella Vista community.  Landscaping within individual 
home sites will be maintained by the individual homeowners consistent with leasing requirements set forth by the 
owners of the Bella Vista community.  The owner of the Bella Vista community will install 1 (2” caliper) 
ornamental/small deciduous tree and 5 (#5 container) evergreen or deciduous shrubs on each lot to be located in 
such a manner that would not obstruct homes from moving on and off the lots. 
 
5. Lighting:  Street lights shall be installed in accordance with the attached PUD plan, Exhibit B. 
 
6. Lot Size Minimum:  The minimum lot size shall be 2580 square feet in size.  All manufactured homes are 
subject to the setback and placements standards described in sections 15 and 19 of this Plan.  For larger homes, an 
amended plat shall be required to combine lots to accommodate these units in compliance with placement and set 
back standards. 
 
7. Maintenance: 
 
A. The owner of a home shall be responsible for maintaining the exterior of the home, including but not 

limited to roofing, siding and skirting, in good condition and shall promptly replace or repair any damage or 
defects to such exterior. The owner of a home shall be responsible for maintaining the yard or open space 
within his or her designated home space, including but not limited to keeping such area free of weeds, trash 
or other violation of the municipal code.  Any such violation shall be punishable in accordance with the 
requirements of the municipal code, as applicable.  

 
B. The owner of a park shall be responsible for ensuring that every home within his or her park conforms to 

the International Property Maintenance Code as adopted and amended in the municipal code. Existence of 
violations of said code within a park shall be grounds for withholding of permits for replacement homes 
until such violations are corrected.  Documented efforts made by the park owner will be taken into 
consideration when the City reviews the permit process. 

 
C. The owner of a park shall be responsible for maintaining in good condition any and all of the following 

within his or her park and shall promptly replace or repair any damage or defects to such:  
 
1) Private streets, driveways, guest parking areas and walkways. 
2) Landscaping, not within an occupied, designated home space, including that which is located within 

adjacent right-of-way between streets or sidewalks and the park property line.  
3) Fencing around the park or on the adjacent right-of-way. 



   2 

4) Signage within the park or on the adjacent right-of-way. 
5) Lighting within the park. 
6) Private water and sewer service lines. 
7) Storm water detention ponds and structures. 
8) Accessory buildings that are owned by the park owner, whether or not they are within a designated 

home space.  
9) The owner of a park shall be responsible for any home space that is not occupied by a home, including 

keeping such spaces free of weeds, trash or other violations of this Code. Any such violation shall be 
punishable in accordance with Chapter 1.16 and/or Chapter 1.17 of this Code, as applicable, and shall 
be grounds for withholding of permits for replacement homes until such violations are corrected. 

  
D. The owner of the Bella Vista community, successors and assigns will own and operate the proposed 

development and will be responsible for all upkeep and maintenance for areas within the development 
boundaries.  Maintenance adjoining public rights-of-way shall be in accordance with the City of Evans 
standard procedures.  The City of Evans assumes no responsibility in regard to maintaining or upkeep of the 
lands or utilities within the P.U.D. Development, including water, sewer and storm sewer systems, 
sidewalks, roadways and irrigation systems.  The City of Evans reserves the right to inspect such system at 
anytime to ascertain compliance with such standards and applicable health codes and regulations. 

 
8. Ownership:  All manufactured homes will be either leased from the land owner or will owned by the 
tenant.  Homes will be 2015 or newer from the years 2015 to 2019, and no older than 4 years for all subsequent 
years of 2020 forward. 
 
9. Parking:  All lots will have a minimum of two off-street parking spaces.  There are an additional 12 off-
street guest parking spaces, as shown on the site plan.  Within the guest parking areas, any type of storage 
(recreational vehicles, boats trailers, campers, and similar vehicles) is prohibited.  Long-term parking of 
automobiles and motorcycles within the visitor parking areas is prohibited.  The owner of the land lease 
community shall be responsible for enforcement of the regulations governing the guest parking areas. 
 
10. Property Management:  A property management company will be engaged to manage the property with 
an on-site manager who will own and therefore reside on the property.  This individual will be an employee of the 
management company.  There will be no management office and no HOA.  A set of rules and regulations is 
provided to all new residents. 
 
11.  Recreation Facilities:  A sport court shall be constructed at time of other on-site improvements and 
maintained by the property manager, as shown on the site plan approved as Exhibit B to this document. 
 
12. Setbacks:  Setbacks for manufactured homes shall be a minimum of five (5) feet on the front and rear, five 
(5) feet on one side and fifteen (15) feet on the opposite side.  Accessory storage shed shall be setback a minimum 
of five (5) feet. 

 
13. Signage:  All signage for the project shall conform to that illustrated in the attached Bella Vista PUD plan, 
Exhibit B. 
 
14. Spacing of Structures:  Details addressing spacing between structures are shown on the site plan and 
described here.  Separation between structures shall be as follows: 
 
A. Homes placed end-to-end shall have a minimum of a ten (10) foot separation. 

B. Homes placed side-by-side shall have a minimum of twenty (20) foot separation. 

C. Homes placed side-to-end shall have a minimum of fifteen-foot separation. 



   3 

D. No home shall be located closer than ten (10) feet from any building within the park or from any property 
line bounding the park. No decks, stairs or other appurtenances shall be located within five (5) feet of any 
perimeter property line. 

E. Homes including any carports, decks, awnings or other additions non-removable tow hitches shall be set 
back at least five (5) feet from private streets and roadways, and twenty-five (25) feet from public rights-of-
way. 

F. Carports shall maintain a five (5) foot separation from adjacent structures. 

 

20. Storage Units:  One storage unit or shed may be placed on each home site to address storage of 
residentially permitted uses.  Storage sheds must be a minimum of 10’ from the Bella Vista property line and 5’ 
from adjacent structure. Accessory structures shall only be permitted in accordance with Chapter 19.48 of the 
Evans Municipal Code.  No storage shall be permitted underneath any home unless properly designed and 
enclosed with skirting. No flammable, combustible or hazardous material shall be stored underneath any home. 
 
22. Utilities 
 
A. Potable Water System:  The water system shall be designed by a Professional Engineer registered in the 

State of Colorado and installed in accordance with such plans as approved by the City of Evans and must be 
maintained as per the City of Evans standards.  The City of Evans reserves the right to inspect such system 
at any time to ascertain compliance with such standards and applicable health codes and regulations. 

 
B. Sanitary Sewer System:  The sanitary sewer system shall be designed by a Professional Engineer 

registered in the State of Colorado and installed in accordance with such plans as approved by the City of 
Evans and must be maintained as per the City of Evans standards.  The City of Evans reserves the right to 
inspect such system at any time to ascertain compliance with such standards and applicable health codes 
and regulations. 

 
C. Other Utilities:  Electric, Gas, Cable T.V., Telephone, and similar utilities shall be installed in 

 accordance with applicable standards and regulations. 
 
 

LIST OF EXHIBITS 
A. Legal Description 
B. Bella Vista PUD Plan Set 
C. Graphic Representations of Manufactured Homes 





1101 Bannock Street 
Denver, Colorado 80204 
303.892.1166 
 

- 1 - 

November 12, 2015 
 
Mr. Sean Wheeler 
City of Evans Community Development 
1100 37th Street 
Evans, Colorado 80620 
 
Re:  Bella Vista MHP PUD 
  Rezoning and Site Plan – 1st Submittal Response Letter 
 
 
Dear Mr. Wheeler, 
 
Thank you for your 1st submittal comments, which we received on October 2, 2015. We have reviewed all comments 
and addressed them in the attached resubmittal.  Please find the below items in our resubmittal package: 
 

 PUD Site Plan 
 Response to Comments Letter 
 Sample Rules and Regulations 
 Project Description  
 PUD Development Guide 
 Utility Conformance Letter 
 Preliminary Drainage Report and Exhibit 

 
We look forward to continually working with the City on this project.  As always, feel free to contact me with any 
questions at 303.892.1166. 
 
 
 
Sincerely 
Norris Design 
 

 
 
Leanne Vielehr 
Associate 



1101 Bannock Street 
Denver, Colorado 80204 
303.892.1166 
 

- 2 - 

STAFF ASSESSMENTS 
 
1. BUILDING & NEIGHBORHOOD SERVICES:  The Evans Flood Recovery, Building and Neighborhood Services 
Manager provided the following comments: 
 
The jurisdiction of the building division will not occur until the site is deemed ready for the placement of homes.  At 
such time, the City of Evans will require a Manufactured Home Permit with each unit being moved in. Such permit will 
need to include:  1. Photo of home, and;  2. Proof of age (copy of data plate). 
In Addition the Evans Building Division will inspect anchorage, utility connections and skirting for each residential 
use. 
Response: Noted. 
 
2. ENGINEERING:  The City Engineer provided the following comments: 
 
The applicant submitted a Preliminary Drainage Report, a Traffic Conformance Letter, a Utility Conformance Letter, 
and a Site Plan. The Site Plan includes a Utility and Grading Sheet, an Existing Conditions and Survey Map Sheet, a 
Conceptual Landscaping and details Sheet.  
 
 A. Site Plan: 
 

S1 – The applicant shall provide locations of all proposed signs and lights. A complete sign permit, including 
specifications for the signs and lights, including type, height and general conformance to the code. 

Response: Lights have been provided at the entrances from public streets. Stop signs have also been 
provided at these connection points. No parking signs have been added to one side on all private 
drives. 

 
S2 – The applicant shall provide the distance from all proposed buildings or structures to adjacent lot lines, 

easements and adjacent structures. 
Response: Typical building/structure placement has been provided in the form of a typical lot detail on 

the Site Plan. 
 
S3 – The applicant shall provide the square footage of all proposed buildings and the footprint of the proposed 

buildings. 
Response: All proposed building will be 16’ x 76’ and 1,216 sq. ft. A footprint has been shown on the site 

plan. 
 
S4 – The applicant shall provide more information on public trash removal or show trash disposal areas and 

enclosures including specifications for said enclosures if applicable.  
Response: Trash and recycling pickup will be provided by a third party provider such as Waste 

Management.  There is no central trash location planned. 
 
S5 - The applicant shall provide a public access easement for the fire department to ensure appropriate access 

and turn-around room is provided. 
Response: Public Access has been provided in the form of Tract A. 
 



1101 Bannock Street 
Denver, Colorado 80204 
303.892.1166 
 

- 3 - 

S6 - The applicant shall label all existing and proposed sidewalk accessible handicap ramps and reference them 
accordingly to the correct construction detail.  

Response: There will be no interior sidewalks and therefore, no new ramps added.  Existing Ramps have 
been labeled on the Site Plan. 

 
S7 – According to the home site typical labeled number 1 on the conceptual landscaping plan the distance from 

homes placed side-by-side will be 15’ when the minimum required is 20’. Please clarify this layout and make 
sure the minimum setback is met. 

Response: Home Site Typical has been adjusted to show proper home spacing of 20’. Minimum setback 
for all homes is 5’.  

 
S8 – Is the applicant planning on having any on-street parking permitted? If so signs stating “No Parking – Fire 

Lane” or “Parking This Side Only” or similar as approved by the City will be required on each side of every 
roadway less than thirty-two (32) feet in width. Please show on plans if applicable. 

Response: Yes, “No Parking” signs have been added to one side of private drives. 
 
 B. Utility Plan 

 
U1 - The applicant shall label the size and type of all existing water lines. 
Response: Existing lines have been labeled accordingly. 
 
U2 - The applicant shall show the plan and profile of all utilities. 
Response: Connection points and plan view orientation have been provided.  Profiles and final detail will 

be provided with the construction documents. 
 
U3 - The applicant shall provide the location, size, and material type of all existing and proposed water and 

sewer service connections and tap sizes (including those for irrigation systems). 
Response: This information will be provided on the construction documents. 
 
U4 - The applicant shall number manholes per city standards and label them accordingly. 
Response: Calibre will add this to construction documents. 
 
U5 - The applicant shall reference all service lines to an appropriate installation detail and label material type. 
Response: Calibre will add this to construction documents. 
 
U6 - The applicant shall provide a note stating to protect existing pipes, poles, etc. per 12.04.150 
Response: Calibre will add this to construction documents. 
 
U7 - The applicant shall provide callouts for all meters and reference an installation detail accordingly. 
Response: Calibre will add this to construction documents. 

 
 C. Landscaping Plan: 
 

L1 – The applicant shall show .the approximate location and character of all existing vegetation, labeled “to be 
removed” or “to remain”. 



1101 Bannock Street 
Denver, Colorado 80204 
303.892.1166 
 

- 4 - 

Response: All existing vegetation has been represented and accurately described in the legend.  
 

 D. Drainage Report:  
 

D1 – The applicant shall ensure water quality and their intent to meet 2 year return interval water quality 
standards. 

Response: The 2 year return interval water quality standard will be met. 
 
D2 – The applicant shall provide a maintenance policy for the multiple proposed detention/retention basins on 

site to ensure water quality. 
Response: A maintenance policy will be provided. 

 
 E. Geotechnical Report: 
 

GR1 - The applicant shall provide an investigation report regarding area stability for the proposed development. 
This report shall include a list of economically recoverable minerals in the land within the subdivision 
boundary. The statement must also include any known hazards and other important environmental 
conditions are present on the property. 

Response: We are working on preparing this information. 
 
 F. General: 
 

G1 – The applicant shall provide certificate blocks for signatures of owner, engineer, surveyor and City approval, 
as applicable on all plans. 

Response: Signature blocks have been added to the cover sheet per comment. 
 
G2 – Please note that all reports and construction plans completed by a Colorado Registered Professional 

Engineer must be signed and wet stamped prior to final acceptance. 
Response: Comment Noted.  Stamp and signature will be provided. 
 
G3 – Please include the email address of the property owner on the site plan. 
Response: The Property Owner’s email has been added to the cover sheet.  
 
G4 – The applicant shall include the lot size (square footage) on the cover sheet. 
Response: Lot size table has been included on cover sheet.  
 
G5 – The applicant shall list all benchmarks and bearings on the cover sheet. 
Response: Benchmarks and basis of bearings have been provided on the PUD Survey Plat. 
 
G6 - The applicant shall provide a general notes and construction notes page in the plan set that references all 

applicable standards and care for construction in the City of Evans. 
Response: General notes and construction notes have been added to the cover page.  
 
G7 - The applicant shall include all applicable Details and reference them with respect to the plans. 
Response: All applicable details have been added to the plans.  



1101 Bannock Street 
Denver, Colorado 80204 
303.892.1166 
 

- 5 - 

 
G8 – The applicant shall update the Utility Conformance Letter to 6” minimum water line and stamp the 

document. 
Response: The conformance letter has been updated, as requested. 

 
3. FIRE:  The Evans Fire Protection District provided the following comments: 
 

A. Since all of the streets are private they will serve as fire lanes and must meet the design criteria established 
in Appendix D of the 2012 edition of the International Fire Code. 

Response: All private streets meet the aforementioned criteria. 
 
B. Private fire protection water supplies must be installed AND maintained in accordance with NFPA 25-2011. 
Response: Comment Noted. 
 
C.  We do not believe one connection to the Municipal water supply will allow the needed fire flows- a second 

connection to the Municipal water supply may be needed and will prevent a dead end loop situation. 
Response: We now have three independent connections for fire flows. 
 
D. Two fire hydrants are not sufficient for this project. Fire hydrant spacing must conform to Appendix C of the 

2012 edition of the International Fire Code 

 
Response: There are now three hydrants planned for the area. 

 
4. PARKS:  The City Parks & Grounds Superintendent provided the following comments: 
 

A. The Landscape Plan is missing some of the required information, including addressing the standards in 
Chapter 19.47.160 - Landscaping and irrigation plan requirements, with specific items noted as follows: 

 
1. Mature trees and other existing vegetation, labeled "to be removed" or "to remain." See below also. 
 19.47.140 - Mature tree preservation and mitigation: 
  
- Existing healthy trees and shrubs shall be preserved and incorporated into the overall site and landscape 

design to the maximum extent practical, as determined by the City. Certain trees and shrubs may be 
deemed unsuitable or unpreservable but must be shown on the landscape plan and shall not be removed 
until approval is granted by the City. The value of trees that cannot be preserved and need to be removed 
shall be determined by the City Forester and appropriate new replacements shall be planted at the rate of 
one (1) tree for every four (4) inches of DBH (diameter at breast height) lost. Location of replacement trees 
may be within the development or at an acceptable location within City right-of-way as approved by the City 
Forester. 

 Response: ND 
 
- A list of all proposed plant and landscape material including species, size and quantity and labeled on the 

plan. 
 Response: ND 
 
- When adding the quantities please keep 19.47.040 - Minimum species diversity in mind. 



1101 Bannock Street 
Denver, Colorado 80204 
303.892.1166 
 

- 6 - 

 Response: Thank you. 19.47.040 has been utilized to maintain species diversity.  
 
- Soil amendments not called out per Chapter 19.47.080 - Soil amendments and rock mulch or gravel.  
 Soil in areas intended for plantings shall first be amended according to City standards in order to loosen 

compacted soil, improve the viability of plantings and reduce the amount of watering required. Rock mulch 
or gravel shall not be placed within two (2) feet of required trees. (Ord. 286-04) 

 Response: Soil Amendment note has been added to the Landscaping Notes on the Cover Sheet.  
 
- No irrigation plan submitted.  Per Chapter 19.47.070 - Irrigation.   All required landscaping shall be irrigated. 

Use of non-potable irrigation water is encouraged. The Director of Parks and Recreation may approve a 
temporary irrigation system for plants that can survive without irrigation once established. (Ord. 286-04) 

 Response: An irrigation plan is included in this submittal.  
 
5. CITY PLANNING:  The City Planner notes the following requirements as applicable to this request.   
 

A. CHAPTER 19.60 Zoning Amendments:  The applicant provided the items required by this chapter for 
review of a zoning amendment.  In addition Chapter 19.60 requires compliance with the requirements found 
in Chapter 18.28 PUD Districts, as discussed in the next item below. 

 Response: Noted. 
 

B. CHAPTER 18.28: PUD Districts: 
 

1. 18.28.100 - PUD Plan.   A PUD Plan or PUD Development Guide is required for this request with the next 
submittal.  The plan must contain sufficient detail to establish the perimeters for zoning definitions applied to 
this PUD, as required by the Municipal Code or desired by the applicant, to include setback requirements, 
layout standards for individual spaces, site management, covenant or controlling documents and other 
elements such as the following: 

 
- Accessory Structures:  Accessory structures shall only be permitted in accordance with Chapter 

19.48 of the Evans Municipal Code.  
 
- Amenities:  Describe amenities provided for residents if any. 
 
- Definitions of Use:  State the allowed use by right for this PUD as being only for a single-family 

Manufactured Home Park. 
 
- Density Standards:  State the maximum number or units allowed within the PUD. 

 
- Landscaping and Maintenance Requirements:  Describe the minimum landscaping and 

maintenance requirements for individual units. 
 
- Manufactured Homes:  The Municipal Code states that only Manufactured Homes are allowed in new 

development.  The PUD Plan shall show in detail the types and designs of units allowed in the 
development.  This section shall include definitions of the minimum and maximum sizes of units as well.  
The Municipal Code defines Manufactured Homes as follows “a home built entirely in a factory and 



1101 Bannock Street 
Denver, Colorado 80204 
303.892.1166 
 

- 7 - 

certified pursuant to National Manufactured Housing Construction and Safety Standards Act of 1974, 42 
U.S.C. 5401, et seq., commonly referred to as the HUD code. The code went into effect June 15, 1976.”  
(Chapter 18.30.030 - Definitions) 
 
Please note, Chapter 19.04.580 also defines “Manufactured Home” as any dwelling which is: 1) partially 
or entirely manufactured in a factory, 2) is not less than twenty-four (24) feet in width and thirty-six (36) 
feet in length; 3) is installed on an engineered permanent foundation; 4) has brick, wood, or 
cosmetically equivalent exterior siding and a pitched roof; 5) and is certified pursuant to "National 
Manufactured Housing Construction and Safety Standards Act of 1974," 42 U.S.C. 5401 et seq. as 
amended.  
 
Industry standards such as those quoted in both definitions will be the minimum definition for a 
manufactured home.  The PUD Plan should state if other requirements such as a minimum size, roof 
pitch, etc. are to be applied to the definition for a manufactured home.  City building code requirements 
would apply regardless, though the PUD standard can exceed the building code requirements.  PUD 
requirements cannot reduce building code standards or other applicable regulations such as those of 
the Fire Code.  Planning staff recommends consulting with the City Building Department for further 
direction in this area, should clarification be required. 
 

- Ownership:  Describe ownership of units and space and leasing requirements. 
 
- Parking, Guest:  The site plan must identify the location and use of guest parking areas. 

 
- Property Management / Homeowner’s Association:  Describe how management of the property is 

provided and include supporting legal documents such as HOA information.  Identify the location of 
onsite property management office or residence. 

 
- Setbacks:  Establish the minimum setback requirements for individual units, regardless of size or style. 
 
- Storage:  No storage shall be permitted underneath any home unless properly designed and enclosed 

with skirting. No flammable, combustible or hazardous material shall be stored underneath any home. 
 
- Typical Lot Layout Drawing:  Provide a typical lot layout to show in compliance with 18.30.037 as 

follows: 
 

A) The area devoted to each home space shall be no less than three thousand (3,000) square feet, 
and shall have the following setbacks. 

 
B) Separation between units: 
 1) Homes placed end-to-end shall have a minimum of a ten-foot separation. 
 2) Homes placed side-by-side shall have a minimum of twenty-foot separation. 
 3) Homes placed side-to-end shall have a minimum of fifteen-foot separation. 
 4) No home shall be located closer than ten (10) feet from any building within the park 
   or from any property line bounding the park.  
 5) Homes including non-removable tow hitches shall be set back at least five (5) feet from 



1101 Bannock Street 
Denver, Colorado 80204 
303.892.1166 
 

- 8 - 

  private streets and roadways, and twenty-five (25) feet from public rights-of-way. 
 
C) Parking: 
 1) Two paved off-street parking spaces shall be required per home. 
 2) On-street parking shall be allowed only if a twenty-foot wide traveled way is maintained at all 

times.  
 3) Visitor parking lots should be established and distributed in an accessible manner functional 

with surrounding properties. 
 
D) Skirting. Each home shall have perimeter skirting between the ground and the bottom of the home 

floor within (30) thirty days after placement is made. Such skirting shall be durable, rigid weather-
resistant material. 

 
E) Tie-down requirements. All licensees, as well as owners and occupiers of homes, shall be required 

to comply with any requirements imposed by Colorado law or by regulations issued by any agency 
of the State of Colorado, including but not limited to the Colorado Division of Housing, pertaining to 
anchoring or tying down homes as a safety precaution against wind.  

 
F) Decks/landing. A deck/landing is required at all exterior doors complying with minimum standards 

as set forth by the International Building Code. 
 

- Utility Requirements:  Describe the utilities provided to each unit and how those shall be billed either 
to individual unit owners or to the Property Manager. 
 

- Uses by Right:  The PUD Plan shall state that the site is limited to single family residential uses.  
Commercial and industrial uses, other than those allowed as home occupations in the Municipal Code 
are not allowed by zoning. 

Response: A Development Guide has been provided with the resubmittal addressing the items 
outlined above. 

 
2. PUD Site Plan:  The approved site plan shall be attached as an exhibit to the PUD Plan or PUD 

Development Guide.  It shall show at a minimum the location of all buildings, signs, streets, lanes, parking 
areas, parks, open areas, recreational facilities and all other improvements; the dimensions of all structures, 
streets, parking areas and recreational facilities, and the distances between structures and boundary lines. 
Response: Noted. 
 

3. PUD Survey Plat:  Under Chapter 18.28.110, a survey plat of the property is required.  The survey plat 
shall identify individual unit spaces as building envelopes, with appropriate bearing and distance information 
shown to establish the exact locations.  Other areas such may be identified as landscape easements, play 
easements and detention easement.  The survey plat shall include showing the outer boundaries of the area 
and showing elevation contours at two-foot intervals. 

 Response: The PUD Survey Plat has been provided, as requested. 
 

C. 18.28.110 - Application for PUD Plan Approval - Signatures Required - Contents. 
 



1101 Bannock Street 
Denver, Colorado 80204 
303.892.1166 
 

- 9 - 

This section of the Municipal Code describes the requirements for PUD Plan approval.  The requirements for this 
section are already on file (such as the legal description) or are described elsewhere in these comments, or in 
the comments provided by other reviewing offices. 

       Response: Noted. 
 

D. CHAPTER 18.30 Manufactured Home Park Plan: 
 
This section of the Municipal Code describes the requirements for the Manufactured Home Park Plan.  The 
requirements for this section are already on file (such as the legal description) or are described elsewhere in 
these comments, or in the comments provided by other reviewing offices.  The remaining items from this section 
include: 

 
1. Directory Sign:  Provide draft example of a directory poster per 18.30.080 as follows: 
 
 A) A poster shall be installed at or near each entrance to such home park to assist fire, police and service 

personnel in locating particular home spaces within the park. The poster shall be at least five (5) feet by four 
(4) feet and shall depict an aerial view of the community in such a way as to identify homes by the number 
or letter to be posted at each home space. PER Each home space shall be equipped with a permanent sign 
with the appropriate number and/or letter having a minimum height of five (5) inches and a minimum stroke 
of one (1) inch, prominently displayed, showing the number or letter assigned to each such home space. 

 Response: A Way-Finding Poster has been added to the Landscape Plan. Refer to Sheet L1.00 for 
locations and Sheet S-1.00 for the detail.   

 
 B) Existing manufactured home parks/communities shall comply with the installation of a directory poster, 

and will not be considered legal nonconforming. 
 Response: A directory poster has been included with plans. Reference the Comprehensive sign plan 

on Sheet S-1.00 
 
2. Controlling Documents:  Covenants or similar documents to describe management of the site and to 

ensure compliance with requirements such as those in 18.30.110 (Storage, accessory structures) etc.  
Response: Rules and Regulations will be established for this community as the controlling 
document.  A draft of the Rules and Regulations have been included with this submittal. 

 
E. Chapter 18.31 - Residential Neighborhood Design Standards 
 
1. Homeowner’s Association (Section 18.41.040):  This section requires the creation of a Homeowner’s 

Association in compliance with Colorado Common Interest Ownership Act standards. 
 Response: The nature of this type of community is managed more like an apartment complex than a 

SFD or SFA community and therefore no Homeowner’s Association will be established.  The land 
Owner along with their property management company will maintain the property.  Any fees to the 
tenants will be rolled into the rents.  

 
2. Minimum Subdivision Design Standards (Section 18.31.050):  This section provides standards for lot 

layouts, fencing, lighting standards, sidewalks, etc.  The project description and site plan shall be revised to 
address these standards.   



1101 Bannock Street 
Denver, Colorado 80204 
303.892.1166 
 

- 10 - 

 Some of the standards may not be applicable as the internal circulation network for this project is private vs. 
being publically dedicated.  For example, Item G speaks to the size requirements for public sidewalks, and 
this development will be private for use of the residents. 

 Thus the applicant may present a compelling argument that a sidewalk is not normally part of the 
communities and should not be required here if desired.  For other elements, such as the solid perimeter 
fencing, this section of the Municipal Code does not differentiate between public vs. private uses and thus 
fencing is clearly required.  Ultimately the requirements in this subsection must either be addressed in an 
updated project description, which could impact the final site plan layout as well. 

 Response: Noted.  An updated project description has been provided to address why no internal 
sidewalks are proposed. 

 
3. Neighborhood Identity Features (Subsection 18.31.060):  This section describes the requirements for a 

neighborhood identify feature.  The requirement for a single neighborhood identity feature is tied to the size 
of the property and the number of units proposed.  The applicant is advised to provide a neighborhood 
identity feature and identify that on the site plan per the requirements of this sub-section. 

 Response: A neighborhood Identity Feature has been added to the site plan in the form of a Sport 
Court.  

 
4. Neighborhood Development Plan (Subsection 18.31.080):  This section requires submittal of a 

neighborhood development plan, being a conceptual master plan for this project.  The requirements for a 
neighborhood development plan are outlined in this section of the Municipal Code, but are addressed by the 
site plan, the plat and the PUD Development Plan requirements.  The Municipal Code does allow for 
approval of neighborhood development plans after approval of a final plat but prior to its being recorded.  
Under Item C 2. of the submittal requirements, the Code states the following: 
 

Each NDP shall contain the following elements unless the Director of Public Works 
determines that one (1) or more of the elements are unnecessary because all planning 
issues concerning the internal organization of the development and the relationship 
of the development to surrounding areas can be resolved through either subsequent 
subdivision or development review for the development. 

  
 Because this section of the  Code allows for provision of a neighborhood development plan at a later point in 

the review, and because the other elements of this section are addressed in other requirements, Planning 
Staff will seek clarification on if this will be required or not.  Our intent is to provide the applicant with further 
direction when meeting with the Development Review Team to review these comments. 
Response: Noted.  Please inform us if the Neighborhood Development Plan will be required as soon 
as possible.   

 
Other Considerations:   

 
A. Density / Design / Layout:  It is not clear that the current density can be achieved if this project is to meet 
all other requirements, such as providing a neighborhood identity feature, guest parking areas, minimum set 
back requirements, sizes of units proposed, landscaping, etc.  Lot 22 for example, could be removed and that 
area leading into the onsite detention basin used for a playground feature.  Consideration of the standards noted 
by the City Planning Department and others is anticipated to require a reduction in the number of lots.  While the 



1101 Bannock Street 
Denver, Colorado 80204 
303.892.1166 
 

- 11 - 

lots as shown meet the minimum size standards, addressing that requirement still must be considered along with 
other code requirements.   
Response: The site layout and design has been modified to provide on-site parking and a neighborhood 

identity feature.  
 
B. Tracts:  In the next submittal please identify what the specific uses are as planned for areas identified as 
tracts. 
Response: All tracts and their uses have been identified on the Cover Sheet. 
 
C. Mail Delivery:  Please identify where mail boxes will be located and ensure that the street area next to the 
mail box location is sized appropriately to allow the mail truck or other vehicles to pull off of the main street for 
collection/delivery. 
Response: A Mail Kiosk has been added to this site plan.  



◙ 



◙ 



◙ 



CITY OF EVANS, COLORADO 

ORDINANCE NO. 649-16 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (P.U.D.) PLAN TO BE 
KNOWN AS THE BELLA VISTA PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT LOCATED WITHIN 

THE CITY OF EVANS 
 
 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Evans, Colorado, pursuant to Colorado statute and 
the Evans City Charter, is vested with the authority of administering the affairs of the City of Evans, 
Colorado; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Chapter 18.28 and 19.40 of the Evans Municipal Code, the City has 
received a request for approval of the Bella Vista Planned Unit Development (PUD) Plan, (“the 
Application”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Application seeks approval of the Bella Vista Planned Unit Development Plan as 
described in Exhibit A, attached, and seeks approval of the Bella Vista Site Plan as described in Exhibit 
B, attached; and 

 
  WHEREAS, following proper notice, the   Planning Commission considered the Application at its 

regular meeting on March 22, 2016 and recommended approval of the Application; and 
 

WHEREAS, at its regular meeting on April 5, 2016, the City Council reviewed the file herein, 
considered the Planning Commission's recommendation, and conducted a hearing concerning the 
Application  in accordance with Chapter 18.28 and 19.40 of the Evans Municipal Code, found that 
approving the Application met all applicable criteria and requirements, and would serve the public 
interest. 

NOW; THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
EVANS, COLORADO AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1.  The Bella Vista Planned Unit Development (PUD) Plan is hereby approved as described in 
Exhibit “A” 

 
Section 2.  Site Plan:  The Bella Vista Site Plan is hereby approved as described in Exhibit “B”. 

Section 3.  Publication and Effective Date: This ordinance after its passage on final reading,  shall be 
numbered, recorded, published and posted as required by the City Charter and the adoption, posting 
and publication shall be authenticated by the signature of the Mayor and the City Clerk, and by the 
Certificate of Publication. This ordinance shall become effective upon final passage. 

 
Section 4.Severability. If any article, section, paragraph, sentence, clause, or phrase of this Ordinance is 
held to be unconstitutional or invalid for any reason such decision shall not affect the validity or 
constitutionality of the remaining portions of this Ordinance.  The City Council hereby declares that it 
would have passed this ordinance and each part or parts thereof irrespective of the fact that any one part 
or parts be declared unconstitutional or invalid. 
 
 



 
Section 5. Repeal.  Existing ordinances or parts of ordinances covering the same matters embraced in this 
ordinance are hereby repealed and all ordinances or parts of ordinances inconsistent with the provisions 
of this ordinance are hereby repealed except that this repeal shall not affect or prevent the prosecution or 
punishment of any person for any act done or committed in violation of any ordinance hereby repealed 
prior to the effective date of this ordinance. 
 
 
 
INTRODUCED AND PASSED AT A REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF EVANS ON THIS 5TH DAY OF APRIL, 2016. 
 
 
ATTEST:   CITY OF EVANS, COLORADO 
 
 
__________________________________ BY: ______________________________ 
 Raegan Robb, City Clerk John L. Morris, Mayor 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED ON A SECOND READING THIS 19TH DAY OF APRIL, 2016. 
 
ATTEST:   CITY OF EVANS, COLORADO 
 
 
__________________________________ BY: ______________________________ 
Raegan Robb, City Clerk John L. Morris, Mayor 
 
 



 
 

 CITY COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 
  
 
DATE:  April 19, 2016 
 
AGENDA ITEM: 7.C 

 
SUBJECT:  ORDINANCE NO. 650-16, AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE 

PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR VINTAGE VILLAS PUD 
WITHIN THE CITY OF EVANS 

 
PRESENTED BY: Fred Starr, Public Works and Community Development Director  
_____________________________________________________________________ 
AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION: 
The applicant is requesting an Amendment of the Vintage Villas Planned Unit Development Plat 
for the purpose of reducing the number of platted lots from the originally approved 52 lots to 49 
lots.  This re-platting will allow for a reconfiguration of lots to provide more separation between 
lots and reduce the total number of platted lots by three. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 

1) March 22, Planning Commission Staff Report 
2) Ordinance No. 650-16 

  
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS: 
This is a request to amend the original Vintage Villas P.U.D. Subdivision Final Plat which was 
approved by the City of Evans Planning Commission on July 8, 2003 and by the City Council on 
August 5, 2003.   
 
The Planning commission voted 5-0 to recommend that the City Council approved the proposed 
amendment to the Vintage Villas Planned Unit development Plat as proposed. 
 
  
SUGGESTED MOTIONS: 
 
 “I move to Approve Ordinance No. 650-16 on second and final reading.” 
 
 “I move to Deny Ordinance No. 650-16.” 
     



 

Page 1 of 2 
 

 
 

PLANNING COMMISSION – MARCH 22TH, 2016 
 

 
AGENDA ITEM: Vintage Villas P.U.D. Amendment 
 
PREPARED BY: Fred Starr, Community Development Director 
 
ACTION: Review for recommendation to City Council 
 
REVIEWED BY: Fred Starr, Community Development Director 
 
CITY COUNCIL DATE: April 5, 2016 
 
 

 
 
 

SITE INFORMATION 

Location: 
The site is generally located East of 65th Avenue and North of 37th Street at 
the SE Corner of the intersection of Chardonnay Street and Borrossa Street.  
(See attached Vicinity Map) 

 
Applicant: Vintage Villas Homeowners Association , Rick Hertzke as President 

Existing Land Use: Single Family Residential Planned Unit Development 

 
Proposed Land Use: Single Family Residential Planned Unit Development 

 
Surrounding 
Land 
Uses: 

North Single Family Residential, Grapevine Hollow Subdivision   

South Single Family Residential, Grapevine Hollow Subdivision 

East Single Family Residential, Grapevine Hollow Subdivision 

West Single Family Residential, Grapevine Hollow Subdivision 

Existing Zoning: P.U.D. - Vintage Villas Planned Unit Development 

Proposed Zoning: P.U.D. - Vintage Villas Planned Unit Development 

 
Surrounding 
Zoning: 

North R-1, Single Family Residential  

South R-2, Two Family Residential   

East R-1, Single Family Residential 

West   R-2, Two Family Residential   
Future Land Use 
Designation: P.U.D. - Vintage Villas Planned Unit Development - Residential 

 



 

Page 2 of 2 
 

 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
The applicant is requesting an Amendment of the Vintage Villas Planned Unit Development Plat for the 
purpose of reducing the number of platted lots from the originally approved 52 lots to 49 lots.  This re-
platting will allow for a reconfiguration of lots to provide more separation between lots and reduce the 
total number of platted lots by three. 
 
APPLICABLE PROVISIONS 

1. An Amendment to an existing Planned Unit Development requires a recommendation by the 
Planning Commission and Approval by the City Council.   Since the request is for a modification of 
the number and location of existing platted lots and outlots, the request is being processed as a Final 
Plat. 

 
2. Since this request does not require modifications to existing public facilities or the requirement for 

additional public facilities, there is no requirement for engineering review or a development 
agreement.  
 

3. The site is zoned PUD – Vintage Villas Planned Unit Development.  There is no proposed amended 
to any other provisions of the Vintage Villas Planned Unit Development standards and guidelines.  
The purpose of this request is to reduce the overall number of lots and in doing so move some lot 
locations slightly to provide more space between platted lots. 
 

4. 2010 Comprehensive Plan:  The proposed amendment is in conformance with the Goals/Objectives 
and Recommendation of the Comprehensive Plan.  
 

5. Since this request is for a reduction in the number of platted lots and does not require any additional 
public infrastructure or modification to existing infrastructure, the City Engineer and Public Works 
Department have no comments regarding this request. 

 
 
SUMMARY 
 
This is a request to amend the original Vintage Villas P.U.D. Subdivision Final Plat which was approved by 
the City of Evans Planning Commission on July 8, 2003 and by the City Council on August 5, 2003.   
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff recommends approval of the request to amend the Vintage Villas P.U.D. Subdivision Plat as proposed. 
 
 
DRAFT MOTIONS: 
 
Motion to Approve:  “I move to approve the Vintage Villas P.U.D. Subdivision Replat #2 as proposed.”  
 
Motion to Deny:  “I move to deny the Vintage Villas P.U.D. Subdivision Replat #2 as proposed.” 
 
 
Attachments:  Vicinity Map; Vintage Villas P.U.D. Subdivision Replat #2 









CITY OF EVANS, COLORADO 

ORDINANCE NO. 650-16 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR 
VINTAGE VILLAS PUD WITHIN THE CITY OF EVANS 

WHEREAS, application has been made to amend the Vintage Villas PUD Plan; and 

WHEREAS, the   Planning Commission recommended approval   of   the requested 

amendment at its meeting on March 22, 2016; and, 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council, after considering the Planning Commission's recommendation, 
reviewing the file herein, and conducting a hearing concerning the PUD Amendment request in 
accordance with Chapter 18.28 of the Evans Municipal Code, find that the requested amendment would 
serve the public interest. 

NOW; THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
EVANS, COLORADO: 

Section 1.       PUD Amendment: The Vintage Villas PUD Plan is hereby amended as follows: 
 

A. The size and/or location of the building envelopes for Lots 16 through 19, 24 through 28, and 
30 through 33 of Block 9, Lots 11 through 16 and Lots 18 and 19 of Block 10, Lots 20 through 
27 of Block 11, and Outlots A, B, C and 4 of Vintage Villas P.U.D. Subdivision Replat #1, will 
be modified as shown on the amended final plat. 

 
Section 2. Plat Recording: A replat showing the revised PUD plan shall be kept on file at the City of 
Evans and recorded at the Weld County Clerk and Recorder. 

Section 3.  Publication and Effective Date: This ordinance after its passage on final reading,  shall be 
numbered, recorded, published and posted as required by the City Charter and the adoption, posting and 
publication shall be authenticated by the signature of the Mayor and the City Clerk, and by the Certificate 
of Publication. This ordinance shall become effective upon final passage. 

 
 

PASSED and APPROVED at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Evans on this 5th 
day of April, 2016. 

 
CITY OF EVANS, COLORADO 
 

 
        By:      

Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
     

City Clerk 
 
 



 
PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED ON SECOND READING this 19th day of April, 2016. 
 

CITY OF EVANS, COLORADO 
 

 
        By:      

Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
     

City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
         
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2 



1 

COUNCIL COMMUNICATION

DATE: April 19, 2016 

AGENDA ITEM: 7.D 

SUBJECT:  2016 Budget 1st Revision - Ordinance No. 651-16 – Amending 
Ordinance No. 632-15 and Appropriating Sum of Revenues and 
Fund Balances for the Amended 2016 City of Evans Budget (1st

Reading) 

PRESENTED BY: Jacque Troudt, CPA, Finance Manager 

________________________________________________________________________ 
AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION: 

The City Council approves specific items during the year which require an amendment to the 
adopted budget as required by the City of Evans Charter (Section 7.3 & 8.6).  In this case, the 
revenues, expenditures (or expenses in enterprise funds) and transfers have been previously approved 
by the City Council.  Staff action is usually taken on these items immediately following Council 
direction.  Budget revisions are scheduled at quarterly intervals throughout the year in order to 
facilitate a flexible and accurate City budget.  

Ordinance No. 651-16 is the first revision to the 2016 Operating and Capital Budget.   
The original 2016 Budget was approved by Ordinance No. 632-15 on October 20th 2015. 

FINANCIAL SUMMARY: 

The Budget Ordinance heading summarizes the changes to revenues, expenditures, and 
transfers by fund. Some of the items have been previously approved by the City Council, those items 
requiring additional explanation will be described below. Attachment “A”  identifies the details of 
each council action and Attachment “B”  identifies the net impact on the revised budget. The 
following descriptions are listed in the same order as the funds on Attachment “A”  and include the 
items which were not approved as a preliminary budget revision during the quarter. Many of the 
items included are carry forward items, which were related to a specific project(s) appropriated for in 
the 2015 budget, but were not finished in that fiscal year. Since appropriations lapse, the budget for 
these items needs to be appropriated (carried forward) in 2016. 

The General Fund includes the following proposed revision items: 



2 
 

 
Item 1.1 is for completion of the Laserfische document retention system for $7,500. 
 
Item 1.2 is for completion of the Cemetery Software/GIS Project for 5,000. 
 
Item 1.3 will spend $6,000 of Traffic Calming Funds to install LED flashing stop signs, and 
resident communication signs. 
 
Item 1.4 will carry forward $15,000 for Police Officers signing bonuses. 
 
Item 1.5 is for the completion of the budgeting and financial reporting software for $48,350. 
 
Item 1.6, 1.7 and 1.8 represent grant costs for the Sediment Transport Study, South Platte 
Restoration Master Plan, and the Watershed Coordinator. The associated expenditures for these 
projects are $144,783, $1,918 and $78,568, respectively. 
 
Item 1.8 is for the purchase of 2 single axle dump trucks, $350,000. 
 
Item 1.9 represents completion of the Prairie View Drive Landscaping project for $417,400 and 
the US 85 Entryway & Landscaping project for $405,786. 
 
One-time funding items shown in 1.21 total $29,800. The chart below outlines the items included 
in this list. 
 
 
Vehicle Safety Equipment $3,800 
Public Works Internet $10,000 
Uninterruptable Power Supplies $5,500 
Storefront Improvement Grants $10,500 
 
The Cemetery perpetual care fund includes a carry forward for the construction of a maintenance 
shed for $75,000, item 1.10. 
 
The Street Impact fund includes carry forward of budget for the completion of construction on 
the 37th Street Access Control, 35th Avenue widening and 65th Avenue widening, see 1.12. 
 
The Park Impact fund includes an expenditure for completing the lighting project at Renaissance 
Park for $110,000, see 1.11.  
 
The Conservation Trust Fund includes funds to replace the playground equipment at City Park 
and Village Park, see item 1.13, for a total of $82,000. 
 
The CIP – Streets fund includes carryforward of road projects at item 1.14.  These include: 
 



3 
 

 
- Flood Street repair, $260,073 
- US 85 Access Control at 31st and 37th Streets, $917,838 
- Highway 85 Improvements, $13,650 
- Street lighting, $50,000 
- Bridge repair, $24,000 
- 35th Avenue widening- 37th to Prairie View, $1,379,490 
- 65th Avenue widening, $47,500 
- 85 Access Control at 31st Street, $578,000 
- Evans Ditch Bike Path, $118,888 

 
The CIP – Parks fund includes an item at 1.15 for the carryover of design budget for the 
renovation of Riverside Park, for $359,142. 
 
Revision items for the Water fund include:  

1.16 increasing expense by $61,882 to complete the utility billing software replacement. 
The expenses for this software upgrade will be split among the water, wastewater and sewer 
funds, based upon respective revenue. 

1.17 increasing expense by $11,000 for the Sensus server replacements, which will assist 
the new utility billing software.  

1.18 increasing expense by $3,000 for water hydrant testing.  
1.19 increasing expense and related loan revenue by $126,384 to complete the water 

meter radio replacement program. 
1.24 increasing expense by $97,950 and related grant revenue of $87,184 for the Water 

Utility Master Plan. 
 
The Waste Water fund includes the following revision items: 

1.16 increasing expense by $20,333 to complete the utility billing software replacement. 
The expenses for this software upgrade will be split among the water, wastewater and sewer 
funds, based upon respective revenue. 

1.20 increasing expense by $50,500 for the purchase of a 6” pump and related hoses 
1.25 includes design costs for the new Wastewater Treatment Plant of $1,131,289 and 

grant revenue of $1,650,272. 
1.26 represents anticipated FEMA revenue of $508,873 for costs incurred permanently 

repairing the Wastewater Treatment Facility.  
 
The Storm Drainage fund will also have an increase in expenses for new utility billing software 
update at 1.16, which will cost the Storm fund approximately $6,188. Additionally, items 1.22 
and 1.23 show the 2015 fund carryover projects of the 43rd and Central Storm Drain, and the 29th 
and Anchor Inlet for $141,009 and $75,000, respectively. Also included is $141,009 of grant 
revenue and expense for item 1.6, Stormwater Management Plan. 
 

The Finance Committee reviewed the proposed budget revision at their last meeting and 
did not recommend any changes.  



4 
 

 
Attachment “A”  identifies the detailed changes for the proposed revisions to the 2016 

Budget. The details are also summarized in the heading of the appropriation ordinance.   
 
Attachment “B”  includes the Beginning Balance by Fund based on preliminary audited 

balances. Final audited balances will be presented by our external auditors by the end of May.       
The preliminary audited 2015 ending balance of all funds of $23,162,939 is higher than the 2015 
adopted budget projection (including the impact of the final budget revision of 2015) of $13,933,601. 
The majority of the difference is in the General Fund (+$4,573,693), Street Impact Fund 
(+$891,356), CIP- Streets fund (+$944,543), and the Water Fund (+$1,118,991). The General Fund 
variance was due to higher than projected revenues and budget savings. The Street Impact Fund, 
CIP- Streets Fund, and Water Funds budgeted for capital projects in 2015 which were not completed 
and are being carried forward to 2016. 
 

Details of all financial items are available for Council or Citizens upon request from the 
Finance Department by contacting Jacque Troudt at 970-475-1127 or jtroudt@evanscolorado.gov. 
__________________________________________________________________ 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Staff recommends approval of the ordinance.  
 
SUGGESTED MOTIONS: 

I move to approve Ordinance No. 651-16 on second reading. 
 

I move to deny approval of Ordinance No. 651-16 on second reading. 
 

 

mailto:jtroudt@evanscolorado.gov


Revenues 2015 Bud 2015 Act Variance
Sales Tax 7,358,786      8,583,726     1,224,940   
Property Tax 361,018         373,971        12,953        
Other Taxes 1,446,192      1,565,219     119,027      
License & Permits 795,402         973,894        178,492      
Intergov 2,271,434      1,997,757     (273,677)     
Charges for Serv 323,210         430,983        107,773      
Fines & Forfeit 409,130         429,752        20,622        
Assessments -                 99,813          99,813        
Misc 357,212         480,589        123,377      
Transfers In 1,382,808      1,300,292     (82,516)       
TOTAL 14,705,192    16,235,994   1,530,803   

Expenditures 2015 Bud 2015 Act Variance
General Gov 3,495,328      3,365,927     (129,401)     
Community Dev 1,219,670      941,731        (277,939)     
Public Safety 3,956,924      3,558,558     (398,366)     
Public Works 1,570,895      1,516,722     (54,173)       
CPR 1,641,695      1,133,564     (508,131)     
Total oper exp 11,884,512    10,516,503   (1,368,010)  

Other Targets 2015 Bud 2015 Act
Excess Revenue Over 
(Under) Expenditures (2,787,842)     1,785,851     
Operating (deficit) 
overage 1,437,871      4,419,200     

Exp Summary 2015 Bud 2015 Act Variance Ending Fund Balance 5,480,784      10,054,477   
Total Payroll 7,740,324           6,867,181          (873,143)         Minimum Target Reserve 2,281,402      1,918,343     
Total S & S 4,525,931           3,717,058          (808,873)         Available Funds 3,199,382      8,136,133     
Estip -                     -                    -                 
CIP / AMP 2,955,822           1,601,447          (1,354,375)      
Debt 289,170              289,169            (1)                   
EFPD IGA 471,358              471,358            -                 
Flood 371,742              366,418            (5,324)            

 -
 1,000,000
 2,000,000
 3,000,000
 4,000,000
 5,000,000
 6,000,000
 7,000,000
 8,000,000
 9,000,000 2015 Revenue

2015 Bud

2015 Act

 -

 1,000,000

 2,000,000

 3,000,000

 4,000,000

General Gov Community
Dev

Public
Safety

Public
Works

CPR

2015 Expenditures

2015 Bud

2015 Act



   

CITY OF EVANS, COLORADO 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 651-16 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE 2016 BUDGET; INCREASING 
GENERAL FUND REVENUES BY $225,287, APPROPRIATING GENERAL 
FUND EXPENDITURES OF $1,860,122, APPROPRIATING CEMETERY 
PERPETUAL CARE FUND EXPENDITURES OF $75,000, INCREASING 
STREET IMPACT FUND REVENUES BY $462,599, APPROPRIATING 
STREET IMPACT FUND EXPENDITURES OF $1,259,478, APPROPRIATING 
PARK IMPACT FUND EXPENDITURES OF $110,000, APPROPRIATING 
CONSERVATION TRUST FUND EXPENDITURES OF $82,000, 
INCREASING CIP STREETS FUND REVENUES BY $2,460,290, 
APPROPRIATING CIP STREETS FUND EXPENDITURES OF $3,686,439, 
APPROPRIATING CIP PARKS FUND EXPENDITURES OF $359,142, 
INCREASING WATER FUND REVENUES BY $213,568, APPROPRIATING 
WATER FUND EXPENSES OF $300,215, INCREASING WASTE WATER 
FUND REVENUES BY $2,159,145, APPROPRIATING WASTE WATER 
FUND EXPENSES OF $1,202,122, INCREASING STORM DRAINAGE FUND 
REVENUES BY $180,526, APPROPRIATING STORM DRAINAGE FUND 
EXPENSES OF $402,723. 

 
WHEREAS, in accordance with Section 8.6 of the Evans Home Rule Charter the Council 

may make additional appropriations by ordinance during the fiscal year; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Manager has certified that additional funds are available for 
appropriations in each fund from actual and anticipated revenues of the current year and prior 
year cash reserves; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council is advised that certain revenues, expenditures and transfers 
must be approved by ordinance. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
EVANS, COLORADO THE FOLLOWING: 
 

Section 1:  Upon the City Manager’s certification that there are current and prior year 
revenues available for appropriation in the General Fund, Cemetery Perpetual Care Fund, Street 
Impact Fund, Park Impact Fund, Conservation Trust Fund, Capital Projects – Streets Fund, 
Capital Projects – Parks Fund, Water Fund, Waste Water Fund, Storm Drainage Fund, and the 
City Council hereby makes supplemental appropriations as itemized in Attachment “A” attached 
hereto. 
 

Section 2:  The City Council hereby authorizes and directs the City Manager to enter into 
such contracts and execute such documents on behalf of the City as may be necessary and 
customary to expend the funds hereby appropriated for all operations, capital projects and debt 
within this budget as amended in accordance with the requirements of the Home Rule Charter 
and the City’s Financial Policies. 



   2 

 
Section 3:  The adoption of this Ordinance will promote the health, safety and general 

welfare of the Evans community. 
 

Section 4:  If any provision of this Ordinance or portion thereof is held by a court of 
competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such invalidity or unconstitutionality 
shall not affect any other provision which can be given effect without the invalid portion. 
 

Section 5:  All prior ordinances, resolutions, or other acts, or parts thereof, by the City of 
Evans in conflict with this Ordinance are hereby repealed, except that this repealer shall not be 
construed to revive any previously repealed or expired act, ordinance or resolution, or part 
thereof. 
 

Section 6:  This Ordinance shall be effective following the adoption by Section 8.5 of the 
Home Rule Charter. 
 

PASSED and APPROVED at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Evans 
on this 5th day of April, 2016. 

 
CITY OF EVANS, COLORADO 
 

 
        By:      

Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
     

City Clerk 
 
PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED ON SECOND READING this 19th day of 

April, 2016. 
 

CITY OF EVANS, COLORADO 
 

 
        By:      

Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
     

City Clerk 





































COUNCIL COMMUNICATION

DATE: April 19, 2016 

AGENDA ITEM: 7.E 

SUBJECT:  Ordinance No. 652-16 Approving a loan from the Colorado Water Resources 
and Power Development Authority in the principal amount not to exceed 
$41,429,000; authorizing the form and execution of the loan agreement and a 
governmental agency bond to evidence such loan; authorizing the construction 
of a project; and prescribing other details in connection therewith. 

PRESENTED BY: Jessica Gonifas, CPA, Deputy City Manager 
Fred Starr, Public Works Director 

________________________________________________________________________________ 
AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION: 

Chapter VII, Section 7.3 of the City Charter requires the creation of indebtedness to be approved by 
ordinance.  

Through resolution 23-2014 adopted on July 15, 2014, the City Council directed City staff to proceed 
with improvements to the Waste Water Treatment Facilities within the City. As a result of the 2013 
flood damage to the Evans Wastewater treatment plant and the need to increase treatment capacity and 
meet upcoming regulatory requirements, the City of Evans needed to make improvements to the 
wastewater treatment system.  Improvements included the consolidation of current treatment facilities 
into one location at the existing Hill-n-Park treatment plant site allowing the City to meet both capacity 
and water quality requirements while benefitting from the efficiency of operating only one treatment 
plant. Additionally, the following driving factors also contributed to the decision to proceed with the 
consolidated treatment plant: 

• Flood related impacts to existing facilities
• Current effluent quality problems
• Current capacity problems
• New Effluent quality standards (Regulation 85)
• Need for more operational flexibility and redundancy in the WWTP
• Need for more advanced control of WWTP operations

In late 2014, the project began with the contracting of a Project Management Firm, Ditesco. Soon 
thereafter, grants were successfully obtained amounting to over $2.04 million which funded the majority 
of the design on the project. With the design nearly complete, construction is slated to begin mid-
summer of this year.  

In order to effectively manage this large project, a project team consisting of one City Council member, 
the President of the Water and Sewer Board and several key staff members was created to oversee the 



details of the project as it moved forward. Both the Water and Sewer Board along with the City Council 
have received updates from the project team on several occasions and formally at the work sessions 
since the beginning of the project. The project team has also held several open houses and included 
many updates on the project in communications to residents.  

The amount of the debt issuance within the ordinance is intended to be a maximum and matches the 
amount of debt applied for through the Colorado Water Resources and Power Development Authority 
(“Water and Power Authority”). The final issuance of debt will likely be for less than the allowable 
amount in the ordinance. The interest rate is also intended to be a maximum, although it is anticipated 
that the rate will be lower in the final debt issuance.  

As consumer rate discussions have also been ongoing since the inception of the project, the project team 
has brought the final recommendation for the future phased rate adjustments, intended to both service 
the debt under consideration in this ordinance and fund operations and maintenance on the new plant, 
are the next item on the agenda for this meeting.   

Also attached to the ordinance is the Draft Loan Agreement with the Water and Power Authority. The 
final loan agreement may include minor changes, subject to approval by legal staff before execution. 

Finally, after adoption, the City will continue to work with the Water and Power Authority to finalize 
the loan agreement with an anticipated closing date in June.  Professionals involved in the transaction 
include Butler Snow LLP (Bond Counsel and Disclosure Counsel), FirstSouthwest (Financial Advisor 
to the City) and the staff at the Water and Power Authority. 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
FINANCIAL SUMMARY: 

The attached ordinance allows the City to execute a loan agreement through its Waste Water Enterprise, 
with the Colorado Water Resources and Power Development Authority in the amount not to exceed 
$41,429,000 with a maximum interest rate of 3.5%.  The revenue collected from consumers for waste 
water rates is pledged to pay the debt service on the debt. The City has up to one year to execute into the 
loan agreement. The maximum amount of the debt issuance includes funds for the remaining design and 
construction of the plant, project contingency, and transaction costs.   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends approval of the ordinance allowing the City to enter into the debt agreement with the 
Colorado Water Resources and Power Development Authority.  
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
SUGGESTED MOTIONS: 

I move to approve Ordinance No. 652-16 on second reading. 

I move to deny Ordinance No. 652-16 on second reading. 



27021476.1 

WATER POLLUTION CONTROL REVOLVING FUND 

LOAN AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN 

COLORADO WATER RESOURCES AND 

POWER DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

AND 

CITY OF EVANS, COLORADO, ACTING BY AND THROUGH ITS WASTEWATER 
UTILITIES ENTERPRISE 

DATED AS OF MAY 1, 2016 



27021476.1 1 

THIS LOAN AGREEMENT, made and entered into as of May 1, 2016, by and between 
COLORADO WATER RESOURCES AND POWER DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
(the “Authority”), a body corporate and political subdivision of the State of Colorado, and CITY 
OF EVANS, COLORADO, ACTING BY AND THROUGH ITS WASTEWATER 
UTILITIES ENTERPRISE (the “Governmental Agency”); 

WITNESSETH THAT: 

WHEREAS, the United States of America, pursuant to the federal Water Quality Act of 1987, 
requires increased state and local participation in the financing of the costs of wastewater 
treatment projects and said Water Quality Act of 1987 requires each state, as a condition to the 
receipt of certain funds, to establish a water pollution control revolving fund to be administered 
by an instrumentality of the state before the state may receive capitalization grants for such 
projects; 

WHEREAS, the Authority was created to initiate, acquire, construct, maintain, repair and 
operate or cause to be operated water management projects which include wastewater treatment 
facilities and to issue its bonds to pay the cost of such projects; 

WHEREAS, Section 37-95-107.6 of the Colorado Revised Statutes has created a water pollution 
control revolving fund to be administered by the Authority which will enable the State of 
Colorado to comply with the provisions of said federal Water Quality Act of 1987; 

WHEREAS, the Authority has determined to issue its bonds and to loan the proceeds of such 
bonds to public entities in Colorado to finance the costs of wastewater treatment facilities, and to 
use moneys on deposit in the water pollution control revolving fund to assist such public entities 
in connection with the financing of such facilities; 

WHEREAS, the Authority, in accordance with the Act and the Bond Resolution (as such terms 
are hereinafter defined), will issue its bonds for the purpose of making loans from the proceeds 
thereof to public entities, including the Governmental Agency, to finance all or any portion of 
the cost of wastewater treatment facilities; 

WHEREAS, the Governmental Agency has made timely application to the Authority for a loan 
to finance all or any portion of the cost of a wastewater treatment facility; 

WHEREAS, the General Assembly of the State of Colorado has approved a water pollution 
control project eligibility list which includes the wastewater treatment facility proposed to be 
financed hereunder; 

WHEREAS, the Authority has approved the Governmental Agency’s application for a loan 
from available proceeds of the bonds of the Authority in an amount not to exceed the amount of 
the loan commitment set forth in paragraph (3) of Exhibit B hereto to finance all or any portion 
of the cost of a wastewater treatment facility of the Governmental Agency; 

WHEREAS, the Governmental Agency will issue its bond to the Authority to evidence said loan 
from the Authority; 



 

27021476.1 2 

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the award of the loan by the Authority and of 
the mutual covenants herein, the Authority and the Governmental Agency each agree to perform 
their respective obligations under this Loan Agreement in accordance with the conditions, 
covenants and procedures set forth herein and attached hereto as a part hereof, as follows: 

ARTICLE I. 
 

DEFINITIONS 

SECTION 1.01  Definitions.  The following terms as used in this Loan 
Agreement shall, unless the context clearly requires otherwise, have the following meanings: 

“Act” means the “Colorado Water Resources and Power Development Authority Act,” being 
Section 37-95-101 et. seq. of the Colorado Revised Statutes, as the same may from time to time 
be amended and supplemented. 

“Administrative Fee” means the fee payable pursuant to subsection (b) of Section 3.03 hereof 
which is calculated on the basis of an annual fee of eight-tenths of one percent (.8%) of the initial 
principal amount of the Loan, or such lesser amount, if any, as the Authority may approve from 
time to time. 

“Allocable Investment Income” means the interest earnings or accrual thereof on the Project 
Loan Subaccount which are to be credited to the Loan Repayments in accordance with 
subsection (c) of Section 3.03. 

“Allocable Percentage” means the percentage allocated to the Governmental Agency under the 
definition of “Allocable Share” contained in Section 1.01 of the Bond Resolution. 

“Annual Information” means the information specified in Section 2.03 in this Loan Agreement. 

“Authority” means the Colorado Water Resources and Power Development Authority, a body 
corporate and political subdivision of the State of Colorado with corporate succession duly 
created and validly existing under and by virtue of the Act. 

“Authority Bonds” means bonds authorized by the Bond Resolution, together with any 
refunding bonds authenticated and delivered pursuant to the Bond Resolution, in each case in 
order to provide the source of funding of the Loan, including the particular Project Loan 
Subaccount from which the amounts loaned to the Governmental Agency pursuant to this Loan 
Agreement are taken. 

“Authorized Officer” means, in the case of the Governmental Agency, the person whose name 
is set forth in Exhibit B hereto or such other person or persons authorized pursuant to a 
resolution or ordinance of the governing body of the Governmental Agency to act as an 
Authorized Officer of the Governmental Agency to perform any act or execute any document 
relating to the Loan, the Governmental Agency Bond or this Loan Agreement whose name is 
furnished in writing to the Authority. 



27021476.1 3 

“Bond Resolution” means the Water Pollution Control Revolving Fund 2016 Series A Revenue 
Bond Resolution, as adopted by the Authority on April 22, 2016, authorizing the issuance of the 
Authority Bonds, and all further amendments and supplements thereto adopted in accordance 
with the provisions thereof. 

“Code” means the “Internal Revenue Code of 1986,” as the same may from time to time be 
amended and supplemented, including any regulations promulgated thereunder and any 
administrative or judicial interpretations thereof. 

 “Cost” means those costs that are eligible to be funded from draws under the Federal 
Capitalization Agreement and are reasonable, necessary and allocable to the Project and are 
permitted by GAAP to be costs of the Project.  Cost shall also include Costs of Issuance (as 
defined in the Bond Resolution). 

“Event of Default” means any occurrence or event specified in Section 5.01 hereof. 

“Federal Capitalization Agreement” means the instrument or agreement established or entered 
into by the United States of America Environmental Protection Agency with the Authority to 
make capitalization grant payments pursuant to the federal Water Pollution Control Act, as 
amended (33 U.S.C. § 1251 et. seq.) 

“Fiscal Year” means the fiscal year of the Governmental Agency. 

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles as in effect from time to time in the 
United States. 

“Governmental Agency” means the public entity that is a party to and is described in the first 
paragraph of this Loan Agreement, and its successors and assigns. 

“Governmental Agency Bond” means the bond executed and delivered by the Governmental 
Agency to the Authority to evidence the Loan, dated the date of the Loan Closing, the form of 
which is attached hereto as Exhibit D and made a part hereof. 

“Governmental Agencies” means the Governmental Agency and any other governmental 
agencies permitted by the Act that have entered into Loan Agreements with the Authority 
pursuant to which the Authority will make Loans to such Governmental Agencies from moneys 
on deposit in the Project Account financed with the proceeds of the Authority Bonds. 

“Gross Revenues” means the defined term of this Loan Agreement set forth in paragraph (4) of 
Exhibit A attached hereto and made a part hereof. 

“Holder” means any holder of Authority Bonds as defined under the Bond Resolution and, for 
the purposes of Section 2.03 of this Loan Agreement, shall also mean any beneficial owner of 
Authority Bonds within the meaning of Rule 13-d under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended. 

“Loan” means the loan made by the Authority to the Governmental Agency to finance or 
refinance all or any portion of the Cost of the Project pursuant to this Loan Agreement.  For all 



27021476.1 4 

purposes of this Loan Agreement, the principal amount of the Loan at any time shall be equal to 
the amount of the loan commitment set forth in paragraph (3) of Exhibit B attached hereto and 
made a part of this Loan Agreement (which loan commitment amount equals the sum of (i) the 
amount actually deposited in the Project Loan Subaccount from the proceeds of the Authority 
Bonds, moneys of the Authority and moneys drawn by the Authority pursuant to the Federal 
Capitalization Agreement, (ii) the Governmental Agency’s Allocable Percentage of the Costs of 
Issuance, original issue discount and underwriter’s discount for all Authority Bonds issued in 
connection with the making of the Loan and the deposit to the 2016 Series A Matching Account, 
and (iii) capitalized interest during the Project construction period to be paid with the proceeds of 
Authority Bonds), less any portion of such principal amount as has been repaid by the 
Governmental Agency under this Loan Agreement. 

“Loan Agreement” means this Loan Agreement, including the Exhibits attached hereto, as it 
may be supplemented, modified or amended from time to time in accordance with the terms 
hereof and of the Bond Resolution. 

“Loan Agreements” means this Loan Agreement and any other loan agreements entered into 
between the Authority and one or more of the Governmental Agencies pursuant to which the 
Authority will make Loans to such Governmental Agencies from moneys on deposit in the 
Project Account financed with the proceeds of certain of the Authority Bonds and funds of the 
Authority. 

“Loan Closing” means the date upon which the Authority shall issue and deliver the initial 
Authority Bonds. 

“Loan Repayments” means the payments payable by the Governmental Agency pursuant to 
Section 3.03 of this Loan Agreement, including payments payable under the Governmental 
Agency Bond. 

“Loan Servicer” means the Loan Servicer for the Loans, duly appointed and designated as such 
pursuant to the Loan Servicing Agreement, dated as of the dated date of the Authority Bonds, 
between the Authority and the Loan Servicer, and its successors as Loan Servicer under the Loan 
Servicing Agreement. 

“Loans” means the Loan and loans made by the Authority to other Governmental Agencies 
under the Loan Agreements. 

“Loan Term” means the defined term set forth in paragraph (4) of Exhibit B attached hereto and 
made a part hereof. 

“MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board established in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 15B(b)(1) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 

“Pledged Property” means the defined term set forth in paragraph (4) of Exhibit A attached 
hereto and made a part hereof. 

“Prime Rate” means the prevailing commercial interest rate announced by the Trustee from 
time to time as its prime lending rate. 



27021476.1 5 

“Project” means the wastewater treatment system project of the Governmental Agency 
described in paragraph (1) of Exhibit A attached hereto and made a part hereof, all or any portion 
of the Cost of which is financed or refinanced by the Authority through the making of the Loan 
under this Loan Agreement. 

“Project Account” means the 2016 Series A Project Account created under the Bond 
Resolution. 

“Project Loan Subaccount” means the 2016 Series A Project Loan Subaccount established on 
behalf of the Governmental Agency in the Project Account in accordance with the Bond 
Resolution. 

 “Rule 15c2-12” means Rule 15c2-12 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended 
through the date of adoption of the Bond Resolution, together with all interpretive guidances or 
other official interpretations and explanations thereof that are promulgated by the SEC. 

“SEC” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission. 

“2016 Series A Matching Account” means the 2016 Series A Matching Account created under 
the Bond Resolution. 

“System” has the same meaning as described in paragraph (2) of Exhibit A attached hereto and 
made a part hereof for which the Governmental Agency is making the borrowing under this Loan 
Agreement. 

“Trustee” means the Trustee appointed by the Authority pursuant to the Bond Resolution and its 
successor or successors and any other corporation which may at any time be substituted in its 
place as Trustee pursuant to the Bond Resolution. 

Terms not otherwise defined in this Section 1.01 or in Exhibits A and B hereto shall have the 
meanings ascribed to them in the Bond Resolution. 

Except where the context otherwise requires, words importing the singular number shall include 
the plural number and vice versa, and words importing persons shall include firms, associations, 
corporations, agencies and districts.  Words importing one gender shall include the other gender. 

ARTICLE II. 

REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS OF GOVERNMENTAL AGENCY 

SECTION 2.01  Representations of Governmental Agency.  The 
Governmental Agency represents for the benefit of the Authority and the holders of the 
Authority Bonds as follows: 

(a) Organization and Authority.

(i) The Governmental Agency is a governmental agency as defined in the Act
and as described in the first paragraph of this Loan Agreement.



27021476.1 6 

(ii) The Governmental Agency has full legal right and authority and all
necessary licenses and permits required as of the date hereof to own,
operate and maintain the System, to carry on its activities relating thereto,
to execute and deliver this Loan Agreement, to execute, issue and deliver
the Governmental Agency Bond, to undertake the Project (other than
licenses, permits, and approvals relating to the construction and
acquisition of the Project which the Governmental Agency expects to
receive in the ordinary course of business), and to carry out and
consummate all transactions contemplated by this Loan Agreement.  The
Project is on the water pollution control project eligibility list approved by
the General Assembly of the State of Colorado pursuant to the Act and is a
project which the Governmental Agency may undertake pursuant to
Colorado law and for which the Governmental Agency is authorized by
law to borrow money.

(iii) The proceedings of the Governmental Agency’s governing body  and
voters, if a referendum is necessary, approving this Loan Agreement and
the Governmental Agency Bond and authorizing their execution, issuance
and delivery on behalf of the Governmental Agency, and authorizing the
Governmental Agency to undertake the Project have been duly and
lawfully adopted in accordance with the laws of Colorado and such
proceedings were duly approved and published, if necessary, in
accordance with applicable Colorado law, at a meeting or meetings which
were duly called pursuant to necessary public notice and held in
accordance with applicable Colorado law, and at which quorums were
present and acting throughout.

(iv) This Loan Agreement and the Governmental Agency Bond, when
delivered at the Loan Closing, will have been, duly authorized, executed
and delivered by an Authorized Officer of the Governmental Agency; and,
assuming that the Authority has all the requisite power and authority to
authorize, execute and deliver, and has duly authorized, executed and
delivered, this Loan Agreement, this Loan Agreement constitutes, and the
Governmental Agency Bond when delivered to the Authority will
constitute, the legal, valid and binding obligations of the Governmental
Agency in accordance with their respective terms, and the information
contained under “Description of the Loan” on Exhibit B attached hereto
and made a part hereof is true and accurate in all respects.

(b) Full Disclosure.

There is no fact that the Governmental Agency has not disclosed to the Authority in 
writing on the Governmental Agency’s application for the Loan or otherwise that 
materially adversely affects the properties, activities or condition (financial or otherwise) 
of the Governmental Agency or the System, or the ability of the Governmental Agency to 
make all Loan Repayments and otherwise observe and perform its duties, covenants, 



27021476.1 7 

obligations and agreements under this Loan Agreement and the Governmental Agency 
Bond. 

(c) Pending Litigation.

There are no proceedings pending, or, to the knowledge of the Governmental Agency 
threatened, against or affecting the Governmental Agency, in any court or before any 
governmental authority or arbitration board or tribunal that, if adversely determined, 
would materially adversely affect the properties, activities or condition (financial or 
otherwise) of the Governmental Agency or the System, or the ability of the Governmental 
Agency to make all Loan Repayments and otherwise observe and perform its duties, 
covenants, obligations and agreements under this Loan Agreement and the Governmental 
Agency Bond, that have not been disclosed in writing to the Authority in the 
Governmental Agency’s application for the Loan or otherwise to the Authority. 

(d) Compliance with Existing Laws and Agreements.

The authorization, execution and delivery of this Loan Agreement and the Governmental 
Agency Bond by the Governmental Agency, the observation and performance by the 
Governmental Agency of its duties, covenants, obligations and agreements thereunder 
and the consummation of the transactions provided for in this Loan Agreement and the 
Governmental Agency Bond, the compliance by the Governmental Agency with the 
provisions of this Loan Agreement and the Governmental Agency Bond and the 
undertaking and completion of the Project will not result in any breach of any of the 
terms, conditions or provisions of, or constitute a default under, or result in the creation 
or imposition of any lien, charge or encumbrance upon any property or assets of the 
Governmental Agency pursuant to any existing ordinance or resolution, trust agreement, 
indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, loan agreement or other instrument (other than the lien 
and charge of (i) this Loan Agreement and the Governmental Agency Bond and (ii) any 
ordinance, resolution or indenture which authorized outstanding debt obligations of the 
Governmental Agency that are at parity with, or superior to, the Governmental Agency 
Bond as to lien on, and source and security for, payment thereon from the Pledged 
Property) to which the Governmental Agency is a party or by which the Governmental 
Agency, the System or any of its property or assets may be bound, nor will such action 
result in any violation of the provisions of the charter or other document pursuant to 
which the Governmental Agency was established or any laws, ordinances, resolutions, 
governmental rules, regulations or court orders to which the Governmental Agency, the 
System or its properties or operations is subject. 

(e) No Defaults.

No event has occurred and no condition exists that, upon authorization, execution and 
delivery of this Loan Agreement and the Governmental Agency Bond or receipt of the 
amount of the Loan, would constitute an Event of Default hereunder.  The Governmental 
Agency is not in violation of, and has not received notice of any claimed violation of, any 
term of any agreement or other instrument to which it is a party or by which it, the 
System or its property may be bound, which violation would materially adversely affect 



27021476.1 8 

the properties, activities, prospects or condition (financial or otherwise) of the 
Governmental Agency or the System or the ability of the Governmental Agency to make 
all Loan Repayments or otherwise observe and perform its duties, covenants, obligations 
and agreements under this Loan Agreement and the Governmental Agency Bond. 

(f) Governmental Consent.

The Governmental Agency has obtained all permits and approvals required to date by any 
governmental body or officer (and reasonably expects to receive all permits required in 
the future by any governmental body or officer) for the making, observance and 
performance by the Governmental Agency of its duties, covenants, obligations and 
agreements under this Loan Agreement and the Governmental Agency Bond or for the 
undertaking of the Project and the financing or refinancing thereof; and the Governmental 
Agency has complied with all applicable provisions of law requiring any notification, 
declaration, filing or registration with any governmental body or officer in connection 
with the making, observance and performance by the Governmental Agency of its duties, 
covenants, obligations and agreements under this Loan Agreement and the Governmental 
Agency Bond or with the undertaking or completion of the Project and the financing or 
refinancing thereof.  No consent, approval or authorization of, or filing, registration or 
qualification with, any governmental body or officer that has not been obtained (or that is 
not reasonably expected to be obtained) is required on the part of the Governmental 
Agency as a condition to the authorization, execution and delivery of this Loan 
Agreement and the Governmental Agency Bond, the undertaking or completion of the 
Project or the consummation of any transaction herein contemplated. 

(g) Compliance with Law.

The Governmental Agency (i) is in compliance with all laws, ordinances, governmental 
rules and regulations to which it is subject, the failure to comply with which would 
materially adversely affect the ability of the Governmental Agency to conduct its 
activities or undertake or complete the Project or the condition (financial or otherwise) of 
the Governmental Agency or the System; and (ii) has obtained all licenses, permits, 
franchises or other governmental authorizations presently necessary for the ownership of 
its property or for the conduct of its activities which, if not obtained, would materially 
adversely affect the ability of the Governmental Agency to conduct its activities or 
undertake the Project or the condition (financial or otherwise) of the Governmental 
Agency or the System (other than licenses, permits, franchises or other governmental 
authorizations relating to the construction and acquisition of the Project which the 
Governmental Agency expects to receive in the ordinary course of business). 

(h) Use of Proceeds.

The Governmental Agency will apply the proceeds of the Loan from the Authority (i) to 
finance or refinance all or any portion of the Cost of the Project; and (ii) where 
applicable, to reimburse the Governmental Agency for all or any portion of the Cost of 
the Project, which portion was paid or incurred in anticipation of reimbursement by the 
Authority. 



27021476.1 9 

SECTION 2.02  Particular Covenants of the Governmental Agency. 

(a) Repayment Pledge.

The Governmental Agency irrevocably pledges and grants a lien on the Pledged Property 
for the punctual payment of the Loan Repayments. 

(b) Performance Under Loan Agreement.

The Governmental Agency covenants and agrees (i) to maintain the System in good 
repair and operating condition; (ii) to cooperate with the Authority in the observance and 
performance of the respective duties, covenants, obligations and agreements of such 
Governmental Agency and the Authority under this Loan Agreement; and (iii) to comply 
with the covenants described in the Exhibits to this Loan Agreement. 

(c) Completion of Project and Provision of Moneys Therefor.

The Governmental Agency covenants and agrees (i) to exercise its best efforts in 
accordance with prudent wastewater treatment utility practice to complete the Project and 
to so accomplish such completion on or before the estimated Project Completion Date set 
forth in Exhibit B hereto and made a part hereof; and (ii) to the extent legally available, to 
provide from the Gross Revenues all moneys, in excess of the total amount of Loan 
proceeds it receives under the Loan, required to complete the Project. 

(d) Disposition of the System.

Except for the disposal of any portion of the System which the Governmental Agency 
determines is no longer necessary for the operation of the System, the Governmental 
Agency shall not sell, lease, abandon or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of the 
System, or any other component of the System which provides revenues to provide for 
the payment of this Loan Agreement or the Governmental Agency Bond except on ninety 
(90) days’ prior written notice to the Authority and, in any event, shall not so sell, lease,
abandon or otherwise dispose of the same unless the following conditions are met:  (i) the
Governmental Agency shall assign this Loan Agreement in accordance with Section 4.02
hereof and its rights and interests hereunder to the purchaser or lessee of the System and
such purchaser or lessee shall assume all duties, covenants, obligations and agreements of
the Governmental Agency under this Loan Agreement; and (ii) the Authority shall by
appropriate action determine, in its sole discretion, that such sale, lease, abandonment or
other disposition will not adversely affect the Authority’s ability to meet its duties,
covenants, obligations and agreements under the Bond Resolution, and will not adversely
affect the value of this Loan Agreement as security for the payment of Authority Bonds
and interest thereon, adversely affect the eligibility of interest on Authority Bonds then
outstanding for exclusion from gross income for purposes of Federal income taxation or
adversely affect any agreement entered into by the Authority or the State with, or
condition of any grant received by the Authority or the State from, the United States of
America, which is related to the Federal Capitalization Agreement or any capitalization
grant received by the Authority or the State under the federal Water Pollution Control
Act, as amended (33 U.S.C. § 1251 et seq.)



 

27021476.1 10 

(e) Exclusion of Interest from Federal Gross Income and Compliance with Code. 

(i) The Governmental Agency covenants and agrees that it shall not take or 
permit any action or fail to take any action which action or omission 
would result in the loss of the exclusion of the interest on any Authority 
Bonds (assuming solely for this purpose that the proceeds of the Authority 
Bonds loaned to the Governmental Agency represent all of the proceeds of 
the Authority Bonds) from gross income for federal income tax purposes 
pursuant to Section 103(a) of the Code. 

(ii) The Governmental Agency covenants and agrees that it shall not take or 
permit any action or fail to take any action, which action or omission 
would cause the Authority Bonds (assuming solely for this purpose that 
the proceeds of the Authority Bonds loaned to the Governmental Agency 
represent all of the proceeds of the Authority Bonds) to be “private 
activity bonds” within the meaning of section 141(a) of the Code.  
Accordingly, unless the Governmental Agency receives the prior written 
approval of the Authority, and subject to the conditions of Section 
2.02(d)(ii), the Governmental Agency shall neither (A) permit in excess of 
10 percent of either (1) the proceeds (as such term is used in Section 141 
of the Code) of the Authority Bonds loaned to the Governmental Agency 
or (2) the Project financed (or refinanced) with the proceeds of the 
Authority Bonds loaned to the Governmental Agency, to be used directly 
or indirectly in any manner that would constitute “private business use” 
within the meaning of Section 141(b)(6) of the Code, nor (B) use directly 
or indirectly any of the proceeds of the Authority Bonds loaned to the 
Governmental Agency to make or finance loans to persons other than 
governmental units (as such term is used in section 141(c) of the Code); 
provided further, that more than one half of the private business use 
permitted by clause (A) shall be neither (1) disproportionate related 
business use, nor (2) private business use not related to the government 
use of such proceeds of the Authority Bonds, as those terms are used in 
Section 141(b)(3) of the Code. 

(iii) The Governmental Agency covenants and agrees that it shall not directly 
or indirectly use or permit the use of any proceeds of the Authority Bonds 
(or amounts treated as replaced with such proceeds) or any other funds, or 
take or permit any action or fail to take any action, which use, action or 
omission would cause the Authority Bonds (assuming solely for this 
purpose that the proceeds of the Authority Bonds in the hands of the 
Governmental Agency represent all of the proceeds of the Authority 
Bonds) to be “arbitrage bonds” within the meaning of Section 148(a) of 
the Code. 

(iv) The Governmental Agency covenants and agrees that it shall not use or 
permit the use of any portion of the proceeds of the Authority Bonds to 
retire any other obligations of the Governmental Agency or any other 



27021476.1 11 

entity, unless the Governmental Agency obtains the written consent of the 
Authority, which consent may be given or withheld in the Authority’s sole 
discretion. 

(v) The Governmental Agency covenants and agrees to maintain records of its
investments, if any, of proceeds of the Authority Bonds loaned to the
Governmental Agency which are held by the Governmental Agency and
earnings thereon, and will maintain records of expenditures of such
proceeds.  The Governmental Agency will pay to the Authority any
earnings on proceeds of the Authority Bonds loaned to the Governmental
Agency which are held by the Governmental Agency (including earnings
on such earnings) which, in the opinion of the Authority, are required to
be rebated to the United States Treasury Department.  The Governmental
Agency will provide copies of all records of its investment of such
proceeds and of its expenditures to the Authority on a periodic basis upon
request by the Authority and will furnish to the Authority, in writing,
information regarding any facilities financed or refinanced therewith.

(vi) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, as long as is necessary to
maintain the exclusion of interest on the Authority Bonds from gross
income for Federal income tax purposes, the covenants contained in this
subsection (e) shall survive the payment of the Authority Bonds and the
interest thereon, including any payment pursuant to Section 12.01 of the
Bond Resolution or prepayment pursuant to Section 3.08 of this Loan
Agreement, respectively.

(vii) The Governmental Agency shall not, pursuant to any arrangement formal
or informal, purchase Authority Bonds in an amount related to the amount
of the Loan.

(viii) The Governmental Agency hereby certifies and represents that it has
complied with the requirements of Treasury Regulation Section 1.150-2 in
its authorizing resolution or other official action with regard to proceeds of
the Authority Bonds, if any, to be used to reimburse the Governmental
Agency for expenses incurred by the Governmental Agency prior to the
issuance of the Authority Bonds.  In the event that any of the proceeds of
the Authority Bonds are to be used to pay debt service on any prior issue
of the Governmental Agency, and any of the proceeds of such prior issue
(or any obligations refinanced by such prior issue) were used to reimburse
the Governmental Agency for expenditures incurred prior to the issuance
of the prior issue (or refinanced obligations, as the case may be), the
Governmental Agency hereby certifies and represents that the allocation
of such proceeds to the reimbursed expenditure was a valid expenditure
under the applicable law on reimbursement expenditures on the date of
issue of the prior issue (or the refinanced obligations), as required by
Federal Income Tax Regulation Section 1.150-2(g)(2).



27021476.1 12 

(ix) By executing this Loan Agreement, the Governmental Agency hereby
certifies, represents and agrees that:

(1) The proceeds of the Authority Bonds to be loaned to the
Governmental Agency pursuant to this Loan Agreement do not,
taking into account available earnings thereon, exceed the amount
necessary to pay for the Cost of the Project.

(2) The Governmental Agency has entered into (or will enter into
within six months from the date hereof) a binding commitment for
the acquisition, construction or accomplishment of the Project, and
will, within six months from the date of the Loan Closing, expend
at least five percent of the proceeds of the Authority Bonds loaned
to the Governmental Agency.

(3) The Governmental Agency reasonably expects that 85% of the
proceeds of the Loan will be expended within three years from the
date of delivery of the initial series of Authority Bonds.  Work on
the acquisition, construction or accomplishment of the Project will
proceed with due diligence to completion.

(4) The total proceeds of the sale of all obligations issued to date for
the Project do not exceed the total Cost of the Project, taking into
account available earnings thereon.

(5) The Governmental Agency does not expect that the Project will be
sold, leased or otherwise disposed of in whole or in part during the
term of the Loan or of the Authority Bonds or for any portion of
the term of the Loan or of the Authority Bonds.  The
Governmental Agency shall not sell, lease or otherwise dispose of
the Project in whole or in part during the term of the Loan or of the
Authority Bonds or for any portion of the term of the Loan or of
the Authority Bonds unless the conditions of Section 2.02(d)(ii)
have been satisfied.

(6) Any fund established, utilized or held by or on behalf of the
Governmental Agency to pay debt service on the Loan will be used
to achieve a proper matching of revenues and debt service and will
be depleted at least annually except for a reasonable carryover
amount not to exceed earnings on the fund for the immediately
preceding year or 1/12 of the annual debt service on the Loan for
the immediately preceding year.

(7) No portion of the amounts received from the Loan will be used as
a substitute for other funds which were otherwise to be used as a
source of financing for the Project and which have been or will be
used to acquire, directly or indirectly, obligations producing a yield



27021476.1 13 

in excess of the yield on the Authority Bonds.  The Governmental 
Agency does not expect to receive any amounts in the future that 
are intended to finance the portion of the Project being financed 
with proceeds of the Loan.  No portion of the amounts received 
from the Loan will be used to finance working capital 
expenditures.  The Loan has a weighted average maturity that does 
not exceed 120 percent of the average reasonably expected 
economic life of the capital projects financed or refinanced by the 
Loan. 

(8) No portion of the proceeds of the Loan which are held by the
Governmental Agency will be invested, directly or indirectly, in
federally-insured deposits or accounts, or federally-guaranteed
investments, other than amounts of unexpended Loan proceeds
invested in the debt service fund, in any reasonably required
reserve or replacement fund, or investments of unexpended Loan
proceeds for any remaining initial temporary period (e.g., no later
than three years after the date of the Loan Closing) until the
proceeds are needed for the Project.

(9) No other obligations of the Governmental Agency (1) are
reasonably expected to be paid out of substantially the same source
of funds (or will have substantially the same claim to be paid out
of substantially the same source of funds) as will be used to pay
the Loan; and (2) are being sold at substantially the same time as
the Loan (i.e., less than 15 days apart); and (3) were sold pursuant
to the same plan of financing with the Loan.

(10) The Governmental Agency has neither received notice that its
certifications as to expectations may not be relied upon with
respect to its obligations nor has it been advised that any adverse
action by the Commissioner of the Internal Revenue Service is
contemplated.

(11) To the best of the knowledge and belief of the undersigned officer
of the Governmental Agency, the facts and estimates set forth in
this subsection of the Loan Agreement on which the Governmental
Agency’s expectations as to the application of the proceeds of the
Authority Bonds loaned to the Governmental Agency are based,
are reasonable.

(12) None of the proceeds of the Authority Bonds loaned to the
Governmental Agency which are held by the Governmental
Agency will be invested in investments having a substantially
guaranteed yield of four years or more.

(f) Operation and Maintenance of the System.



27021476.1 14 

The Governmental Agency covenants and agrees that it shall, in accordance with prudent 
wastewater treatment utility practice, (i) at all times operate the properties of the System 
and any business in connection therewith in an efficient manner, (ii) maintain the System 
in good repair, working order and operating condition, (iii) from time to time make all 
necessary and proper repairs, renewals, replacements, additions, betterments and 
improvements with respect to the System so that at all times the business carried on in 
connection therewith shall be properly and advantageously conducted; provided, 
however, this covenant shall not be construed as requiring the Governmental Agency to 
expend any funds which are derived from sources other than the Gross Revenues, and 
provided further that nothing herein shall be construed as preventing the Governmental 
Agency from doing so. 

(g) Records; Accounts.

The Governmental Agency shall keep accurate records and accounts for the System (the 
“System Records”), separate and distinct from its other records and accounts (the 
“General Records”).  Such System Records shall be maintained in accordance with 
GAAP, including standards related to the reporting of infrastructure assets and shall be 
audited annually by an independent accountant, which audit may be part of the annual 
audit of the General Records of the Governmental Agency.  Such System Records and 
General Records shall be made available for inspection by the Authority at any 
reasonable time, and a copy of such annual audit(s) therefor, including all written 
comments and recommendations of such accountant, shall be furnished to the Authority 
within 210 days of the close of the fiscal year being so audited.   

(h) Inspections; Information.

The Governmental Agency shall permit the Authority, and any party designated by the 
Authority, to examine, visit and inspect, at any and all reasonable times, the property, if 
any, constituting the Project, and to inspect and make copies of any accounts, books and 
records, including (without limitation) its records regarding receipts, disbursements, 
contracts, investments and any other matters relating thereto and to its financial standing, 
and shall supply such reports and information as the Authority may reasonably require in 
connection therewith.   

(i) Insurance.

The Governmental Agency shall maintain or cause to be maintained, in force, insurance 
policies with responsible insurers or self insurance programs providing against risk of 
direct physical loss, damage or destruction of the System, at least to the extent that 
similar insurance is usually carried by utilities constructing, operating and maintaining 
utility system facilities of the nature of the System, including liability coverage, all to the 
extent available at reasonable cost.  Nothing herein shall be deemed to preclude the 
Governmental Agency from exerting against any party, other than the Authority, a 
defense which may be available to the Governmental Agency, including, without 
limitation, a defense of sovereign immunity. 



 

27021476.1 15 

(j) Cost of Project. 

The Governmental Agency certifies that the Cost of the Project, as listed in paragraph (2) 
of Exhibit B hereto and made a part hereof, is a reasonable and accurate estimation and 
upon direction of the Authority will supply the same with a certificate from its engineer 
stating that such Cost is a reasonable and accurate estimation, taking into account 
investment income to be realized during the course of the Project and other money that 
would, absent the Loan, have been used to pay the Cost of the Project. 

(k) Notice of Material Adverse Change. 

The Governmental Agency shall promptly notify the Authority of any material adverse 
change in the activities or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Governmental Agency 
relating to the System, or in the ability of the Governmental Agency to make all Loan 
Repayments and otherwise observe and perform its duties, covenants, obligations and 
agreements under this Loan Agreement and the Governmental Agency Bond from the 
Gross Revenues.  The Governmental Agency shall provide such financial information 
relating to the Governmental Agency as the Authority may require in connection with the 
issuance of Authority Bonds pursuant to the Bond Resolution. 

(l) Reimbursement for Ineligible Costs. 

The Governmental Agency shall promptly reimburse the Authority for the portion of the 
Loan which is determined to be a Cost of the Project which is not eligible for funding 
from draws under the Federal Capitalization Agreement.  Such reimbursement shall be 
promptly repaid to the Authority upon written request of the Authority with interest on 
the amount to be reimbursed at the rate borne by the Authority Bonds from the date of the 
Loan.  Any such reimbursement shall be applied by the Authority to reduce the Loan 
Repayments due pursuant to Section 3.03(a).  Eligible costs are costs associated with the 
approved scope of work, the plans and specifications and any change of orders. 

(m) Advertising. 

The Governmental Agency agrees not to advertise the Project for construction bids until 
plans and specifications for the Project have been approved by the State Department of 
Public Health and Environment. 

(n) User Charges. 

The Governmental Agency will establish a system of user charges to assure that each 
recipient of utility services from the System will pay such recipient’s equitable share of 
the costs of operation and maintenance, including replacement of the System and the 
Governmental Agency also agrees that such system of user charges will be maintained.  
Further, the Governmental Agency agrees to proceed to establish an enforceable sewer 
use resolution to (i) prohibit future clear water connections to separate sanitary sewers; 
(ii) ensure that new sewers and sewer connections are properly designed and constructed; 
and (iii) require pretreatment of industrial wastes which would be detrimental to the 



 

27021476.1 16 

treatment works in its proper and efficient operation and maintenance or will otherwise 
prevent the entry of such waste into the treatment works. 

(o) Plan of Operation. 

The Governmental Agency shall submit to the State Department of Public Health and 
Environment, with the construction plans and specifications, a preliminary plan of 
operation, which shall provide a concise, sequential description of an implementation 
schedule for those activities necessary to assure efficient and reliable start-up and 
continual operation of the Project.  The Governmental Agency agrees to implement the 
approved plan of operation. 

The Governmental Agency shall also submit a draft operation and maintenance manual 
prior to 50 percent of the Project being constructed.  The final manual must be submitted 
prior to 90 percent of the Project being constructed. 

In addition, one year after commencement of operation, the Governmental Agency shall 
submit to the State, certification of achievement of the applicable Project performance 
certification standards. 

(p) Commencement of Construction. 

Within twelve (12) months after the Loan Closing, the Governmental Agency shall 
initiate construction of the Project. 

(q) Interest in Project Site. 

As a condition of the Loan, the Governmental Agency will demonstrate to the satisfaction 
of the Authority before advertising bids for construction that the Governmental Agency 
has or will have a fee simple or such other estate or interest in the site of the Project, 
including necessary easements and rights-of-way, as the Authority finds sufficient to 
assure undisturbed use and possession for the purpose of construction and operation of 
the Project for the estimated life of the Project. 

(r) Archeological Artifacts. 

In the event that archeological artifacts or historical sources are unearthed during 
construction excavation of the Project, the Governmental Agency shall stop or cause to 
be stopped, construction activities and will notify the State Historic Conservation Office 
and the Authority of such unearthing. 

(s) No Lobbying. 

No portion of the Loan may be used for lobbying or propaganda as prohibited by 18 
U.S.C. § 1913 or Section 607(a) of Public Law 96-74. 

(t) Federal Water Pollution Control Act. 



 

27021476.1 17 

The Governmental Agency covenants to meet the requirements of or otherwise be treated 
under 204(d)(2) of the federal Water Pollution Control Act. 

(u) Continuing Representations. 

The representations of the Governmental Agency contained herein shall be true at the 
time of the execution of this Loan Agreement and at all times during the term of this 
Loan Agreement. 

(v) Tax Compliance Questionnaire. 

The Governmental Agency agrees to furnish to the Authority, no later than June 30 of 
each year, an executed copy of the Tax Compliance Questionnaire set forth in Exhibit G 
to this Loan Agreement.  

(w) Additional Covenants and Requirements. 

If necessary in connection with the Authority’s issuance of the Authority Bonds or the 
making of the Loan, additional covenants and requirements will be included on Exhibit F 
hereto and made a part hereof.  The Governmental Agency agrees to observe and comply 
with each such additional covenant and requirement, if any, included on Exhibit F on the 
date of the Loan Closing. 

SECTION 2.03  Obligation to Provide Continuing Disclosure. 

(a) If the Governmental Agency is advised in writing by the Authority that the 
Governmental Agency is required to comply with the provisions of this Section 2.03, the 
Governmental Agency shall undertake, for the benefit of Holders of the Authority Bonds, 
to provide or cause to be provided through the Authority: 

(i) to the MSRB no later than 210 days after the end of each Fiscal Year, 
commencing with the end of the first Fiscal Year following receipt of such 
advice from the Authority, the Annual Information relating to such Fiscal 
Year; 

(ii) if not submitted as part of or with the Annual Information, to the MSRB 
audited financial statements of the Governmental Agency for such Fiscal 
Year when and if they become available; provided that if the 
Governmental Agency’s audited financial statements are not available by 
the date set forth in (i) above, the Annual Information shall contain 
unaudited financial statements in a format similar to the Governmental 
Agency’s audited financial statements prepared for its most recent Fiscal 
Year, and the audited financial statements shall be filed in the same 
manner as the Annual Information when and if they become available; and 

(iii) to the MSRB, in a timely manner, notice of a failure to provide any 
Annual Information required by subsections (d), (e) and (f) of this Section 
2.03. 



 

27021476.1 18 

(b) The obligations of the Governmental Agency pursuant to subsection (a) of this 
Section 2.03 may be terminated as to such Governmental Agency pursuant to subsection 
(k) of this Section 2.03.  Upon any such termination, the Governmental Agency shall 
provide notice of such termination to the MSRB. 

(c) Nothing herein shall be deemed to prevent the Governmental Agency from 
disseminating or require the Governmental Agency to disseminate any other information 
in addition to that required hereby in the manner set forth herein or in any other manner.  
If the Governmental Agency disseminates any such additional information, the 
Governmental Agency shall have no obligation to update such information or include it in 
any future materials disseminated hereunder. 

(d) The required Annual Information shall consist of the Governmental Agency’s 
audited financial statements for the most recent Fiscal Year as provided in subsection 
(a)(2) of this Section 2.03, and such other information that the Authority may require in 
and to provide compliance with Rule 15(c)2-12. 

(e) All or any portion of the Annual Information may be incorporated in the Annual 
Information by cross reference to any other documents which have been filed with the 
MSRB or the SEC. 

(f) Annual Information for any Fiscal Year containing any modified operating data or 
financial information (as contemplated by subsection (j)(v) of this Section 2.03) for such 
Fiscal Year shall explain, in narrative form, the reasons for such modification and the 
effect of such modification on the Annual Information being provided for such Fiscal 
Year.  If a change in accounting principles is included in any such modification, such 
Annual Information shall present a comparison between the financial statements or 
information prepared on the basis of the modified accounting principles and those 
prepared on the basis of the former accounting principles. 

(g) The Governmental Agency’s annual financial statements for each Fiscal Year shall 
be prepared in accordance with GAAP as in effect from time to time.  Such financial 
statements shall be audited by an independent accounting firm. 

(h) If the Governmental Agency shall fail to comply with any provision of this Section 
2.03, then the Authority or any Holder of the Authority’s Bonds may enforce, for the 
equal benefit and protection of all Holders similarly situated, by mandamus or other suit or 
proceeding at law or in equity, this Section 2.03 against the Governmental Agency and 
any of the officers, agents and employees of the Governmental Agency, and may compel 
the Governmental Agency or any such officers, agents or employees to perform and carry 
out their duties under this Section 2.03; provided that the sole and exclusive remedy for 
breach of this Section 2.03 shall be an action to compel specific performance of the 
obligations of the Governmental Agency hereunder and no person or entity shall be 
entitled to recover monetary damages hereunder under any circumstances, and, provided 
further, that any challenge to the adequacy of any information provided pursuant to 
subsection (a) of this Section 2.03 shall be brought only by the Authority or the Holders of 
25% in aggregate principal amount of the Authority’s Bonds at the time outstanding which 



 

27021476.1 19 

are affected thereby.  The failure of the Governmental Agency to comply with the 
provisions of this Section 2.03 shall not be deemed an Event of Default hereunder and the 
only remedies available to the Holders or the Authority for such failure to comply are the 
remedies contained in this subsection (h). 

(i) The provisions of this Section 2.03 are executed and delivered solely for the 
benefit of the Holders.  No other person (other than the Authority) shall have any right to 
enforce the provisions of this Section 2.03 or any other rights under this Section 2.03. 

(j) Without the consent of any Holders of Authority Bonds, the Authority and the 
Governmental Agency at any time and from time to time may enter into any amendments 
or changes to this Section 2.03 for any of the following purposes: 

(i) to comply with or conform to Rule 15c2-12 or any amendments thereto 
(whether required or optional); 

(ii) to add a dissemination agent for the information required to be provided 
hereby and to make any necessary or desirable provisions with respect 
thereto; 

(iii) to evidence the succession of another person to the Governmental Agency 
and the assumption by any such successor of the covenants of the 
Governmental Agency under this Section 2.03; 

(iv) to add to the covenants of the Governmental Agency for the benefit of the 
Holders, or to surrender any right or power conferred upon the 
Governmental Agency pursuant to this Section 2.03; 

(v) to modify the contents, presentation and format of the Annual Information 
from time to time as a result of a change in circumstances that arises from 
a change in legal requirements, change in law, or change in the identity, 
nature or status of the Governmental Agency, or type of business 
conducted; provided that, (a) there is filed with the Trustee an opinion of 
counsel having expertise with respect to securities laws of the United 
States of America or expertise with respect to the issuance of indebtedness 
by states and political subdivisions thereof, that (i) this Section 2.03, as 
amended, would have complied with the requirements of Rule 15c2-12 at 
the time of the offering of the Authority Bonds, after taking into account 
any amendments or authoritative interpretations of the Rule 15c2-12, as 
well as any change in circumstances; and (ii) the amendment or change 
does not materially impair the interests of Holders, or (b) such change or 
amendment is approved by the vote or consent of Holders of a majority in 
outstanding principal amount of the Authority Bonds affected thereby at or 
prior to the time of such amendment or change. 

(k) This Section 2.03 shall remain in full force and effect until the earlier of (i) the 
Authority provides notice to the MSRB that the Governmental Agency is no longer an 
“obligated person” within the meaning of Rule 15c2-12 or (ii) all principal, redemption 



 

27021476.1 20 

premiums, if any, and interest on the Authority Bonds shall have been paid in full or the 
Authority Bonds shall have otherwise been paid in full or legally defeased pursuant to 
Section 12.01 of the Bond Resolution.  In the event of such payment or legal defeasance, 
the Authority shall promptly give written notice thereof to the Governmental Agency. 

(l) Any notices to or filing with the MSRB shall be effected in an electronic format 
accompanied by identifying information prescribed by the MSRB.  

ARTICLE III. 
 

LOAN TO GOVERNMENTAL AGENCY; AMOUNTS PAYABLE; 
GENERAL AGREEMENTS 

SECTION 3.01  The Loan.  The Authority hereby agrees to loan and disburse to 
the Governmental Agency in accordance with Section 3.02 hereof, and the Governmental 
Agency agrees to borrow and accept from the Authority, the Loan in the principal amount equal 
to the loan commitment set forth in paragraph (3) of Exhibit B attached hereto and made a part 
hereof; provided, however, that (i) the Authority shall be under no obligation to make the Loan if 
the Governmental Agency does not deliver a Governmental Agency Bond to the Authority on the 
Loan Closing or an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing under the Bond Resolution 
or this Loan Agreement, and (ii) the proceeds of Authority Bonds shall be available for 
disbursement, as determined solely by the Authority, to finance the Cost of the Project.  The 
Governmental Agency shall use the proceeds of the Loan strictly in accordance with Section 
2.01(h) hereof, to finance the Cost of the Project. 

SECTION 3.02  Disbursement of Loan Proceeds.  The Trustee, as the agent of 
the Authority, shall disburse the amounts on deposit in the Project Loan Subaccount to the 
Governmental Agency upon receipt of a requisition executed by an Authorized Officer thereof 
and approved by the Authority, and if deemed necessary by the Authority, approved by the 
Colorado Water Quality Control Division, in the form set forth in the Bond Resolution. 

The Authority covenants to direct the Trustee to provide all periodic written reports (as required 
by the provisions of the Bond Resolution) of all moneys on deposit under the Bond Resolution 
and to furnish such reports to the Governmental Agency as soon as practicable after receipt by 
the Authority. 

The Authority hereby agrees that in the event that moneys on deposit in the Project Loan 
Subaccount are lost due to the negligence or misconduct of the Trustee, the Authority on behalf 
of the Governmental Agency, shall, upon the written request of the Governmental Agency, 
pursue its remedies against the Trustee, including, but not limited to, equitable actions or actions 
for money damages. 

If there are moneys on deposit in the Project Loan Subaccount upon completion of the Project, 
the Governmental Agency shall advise the Authority in writing that no further requisitions are to 
be submitted to the Authority for disbursement of moneys from the Project Loan Subaccount.  
Upon receipt of such written advice, the Authority shall file with the Trustee the Certificate 
required by Section 5.03 of the Bond Resolution and use such moneys to redeem, purchase or 



 

27021476.1 21 

provide for the payment of the Authority Bonds.  The Authority shall credit ensuing Loan 
Repayments or portions thereof of the Governmental Agency chosen by the Authority as a result 
of the use of such to purchase, redeem or pay Authority Bonds. 

SECTION 3.03  Amounts Payable. 

(a) The Governmental Agency shall repay by electronic means the principal of and 
interest on the Loan in accordance with the schedule set forth on Exhibit C attached hereto 
and made a part hereof, as the same may be amended or modified, pursuant to Section 
6.04 hereof. 

The Governmental Agency shall execute the Governmental Agency Bond to evidence 
the Loan and the obligations of the Governmental Agency under the Governmental 
Agency Bond shall be deemed to be amounts payable under this Section 3.03.  Each 
portion of the Loan Repayment payable under this subsection (a), whether satisfied 
entirely through a direct payment by the Governmental Agency to the Loan Servicer or 
through a combination of a direct payment and the use of Allocable Investment Income 
as described in subsection (c) of this Section 3.03 to pay interest on the Authority Bonds 
(and to the extent moneys are available therefor, principal of the Authority Bonds), shall 
be deemed to be a credit against the corresponding obligation of the Governmental 
Agency under this subsection (a) and shall fulfill the Governmental Agency’s obligation 
to pay such amount hereunder and under the Governmental Agency Bond.  Each 
payment made to the Loan Servicer pursuant to this subsection shall be applied first to 
interest then due and payable on the Loan, then to the principal of the Loan. 

(b) In addition to the amounts payable under subsection (a) of this Section 3.03, the 
Governmental Agency shall pay the Administrative Fee in the amounts and on the dates 
set forth in Exhibit C attached hereto and made a part hereof.  Each payment made 
pursuant to this subsection (b) shall, for purposes of the Loan and the Governmental 
Agency Bond, be considered as interest on the principal amount thereof. 

(c) The Governmental Agency shall receive as a credit against each of its semiannual 
interest payment obligations set forth on Exhibit C attached hereto and made a part hereof 
(and, as applicable under the Bond Resolution, its annual principal obligations to the 
extent moneys are available therefor), (i) the amount of capitalized interest available to be 
applied against such obligations, as footnoted on such Exhibit C, and (ii) the amount of 
Allocable Investment Income, if any, to be credited against such obligations, as set forth in 
each billing statement to be mailed by the Loan Servicer to the Governmental Agency 
approximately thirty (30) days prior to each Loan Repayment due date. 

(d) In addition to the payments required by subsections (a) and (b) of this Section 
3.03, the Governmental Agency shall pay a late charge for any payment that is received by 
the Loan Servicer later than the fifth (5th) day following its due date, in an amount equal 
to the greater of twelve percent (12%) per annum or the Prime Rate plus one half of one 
percent per annum on such late payment from its due date to when it is actually paid; 
provided, however, that the interest rate payable on the Loan including such late charge 
shall not be in excess of the maximum rate permitted by law as of the date hereof. 



 

27021476.1 22 

(e) The Governmental Agency acknowledges that payment of the Authority Bonds by 
the Authority, including payment from moneys drawn by the Trustee from the 2016 Series 
A Matching Account, other than from the investment income thereon, does not constitute 
payment of the amounts due under this Loan Agreement or the Governmental Agency 
Bond.  If at any time the amounts on deposit in the 2016 Series A Matching Account shall 
be less than the requirement of such Account, as the result of any transfer of moneys from 
the 2016 Series A Matching Account to the Debt Service Fund as the result of failure by 
the Governmental Agency to make any Loan Repayments required hereunder, the 
Governmental Agency agrees to (i) replenish such moneys so transferred, and (ii) 
replenish any deficiency arising from losses incurred in making such transfer as the result 
of the liquidation by the Authority of investment securities acquired as an investment of 
moneys in the 2016 Series A Matching Account, by making payments to the Authority in 
equal monthly installments for the lesser of six (6) months or the remaining term of the 
Loan at an interest rate to be determined by the Authority necessary to make up any loss 
caused by such deficiency. 

(f) Loan Repayments pursuant to this Section 3.03 shall be made by electronic means 
(either by bank wire transfer or by Automated Clearing House “ACH” transfer.) 

SECTION 3.04  Unconditional Obligations.  The obligation of the 
Governmental Agency to make the Loan Repayments and all other payments required hereunder 
and the obligation to perform and observe the other duties, covenants, obligations and 
agreements on its part contained herein is payable solely from the Gross Revenues and shall be 
absolute and unconditional and shall not be abated, rebated, set-off, reduced, abrogated, 
terminated, waived, diminished, postponed or otherwise modified in any manner or to any extent 
whatsoever, while any payments under this Loan Agreement remain unpaid, regardless of any 
contingency, act of God, event or cause whatsoever, including (without limitation) any acts or 
circumstances that may constitute failure of consideration, eviction or constructive eviction, the 
taking by eminent domain or destruction of or damage to the Project or the System, commercial 
frustration of the purpose, any change in the laws of the United States of America or of the State 
of Colorado or any political subdivision of either or in the rules or regulations of any 
governmental authority, any failure of the Authority or the Trustee to perform and observe any 
agreement, whether express or implied, or any duty, liability or obligation arising out of or 
connected with the Project, this Loan Agreement or the Bond Resolution or any rights of set off, 
recoupment, abatement or counterclaim that the Governmental Agency might otherwise have 
against the Authority, the Trustee, the Loan Servicer or any other party or parties; provided, 
however, that payments hereunder shall not constitute a waiver of any such rights.  The 
Governmental Agency shall not be obligated to make any payments required to be made by any 
other Governmental Agencies under separate Loan Agreements or the Bond Resolution. 

SECTION 3.05  Loan Agreement to Survive Bond Resolution and Authority 
Bonds.  The Governmental Agency acknowledges that its duties, covenants, obligations and 
agreements hereunder shall survive the discharge of the Bond Resolution and payment of the 
principal of, redemption premium, if any, and interest on the Authority Bonds.  The Authority 
acknowledges that all duties, covenants, obligations and agreements of the Governmental 
Agency shall (except as and to the extent preserved in subsection (e)(vi) of Section 2.02 hereof) 
terminate upon the date of payment of all amounts payable to the Authority hereunder. 



 

27021476.1 23 

SECTION 3.06  Disclaimer of Warranties and Indemnification.  The 
Governmental Agency acknowledges and agrees that (i) neither the Authority nor the Trustee 
makes any warranty or representation, either express or implied, as to the value, design, 
condition, merchantability or fitness for particular purpose or fitness for any use of the System or 
the Project or any portions thereof or any other warranty or representation with respect thereto; 
(ii) except as provided herein, in no event shall the Authority or the Trustee or their respective 
agents be liable or responsible for any direct, incidental, indirect, special or consequential 
damages in connection with or arising out of this Loan Agreement or the Project or the existence, 
furnishing, functioning or use of the System or the Project or any item or products or services 
provided for in this Loan Agreement; and (iii) to the extent authorized by law, the Governmental 
Agency shall indemnify, save and hold harmless the Authority against any and all claims, 
damages, liability and court awards including costs, expenses and attorney fees incurred as a 
result of any act or omission by the Governmental Agency, or its employees, agents or 
subcontractors pursuant to the terms of this Loan Agreement, provided however that the 
provisions of this clause (iii) are not intended to and shall not be construed as a waiver of any 
defense or limitation on damages provided for under and pursuant to the Colorado Governmental 
Immunity Act (Section 24-10-101, et seq., C.R.S.), or under the laws of the United States or 
other laws of the State of Colorado. 

SECTION 3.07  Limited Recourse.  No recourse shall be had for the payment of 
the principal of or interest on the Governmental Agency Bond or for any claim based thereon or 
upon any obligation, covenant or agreement contained in this Loan Agreement against any past, 
present or future officer, employee or agent of the Governmental Agency, or of any successor 
public corporation, as such, either directly or through the Governmental Agency or any successor 
public corporation, under any rule of law or equity, statute or constitution or by the enforcement 
of any assessment or penalty or otherwise, and all such liability of any such officers, employees 
or agents as such is hereby expressly waived and released as a condition of and consideration for 
the Governmental Agency’s execution of this Loan Agreement and the issuance of the 
Governmental Agency Bond. 

SECTION 3.08  Option to Prepay Loan Repayments.  Subject in all instances 
to the prior written approval of the Authority and satisfaction of the requirements, if any, of the 
Bond Resolution relating to Loan prepayments, the Governmental Agency may prepay the 
principal portion of the Loan Repayments set forth in Exhibit C, in whole or in part (but if in 
part, in the amount of $100,000 or any integral multiple of $100,000), upon prior written notice 
not less than ninety (90) days in addition to the number of days advance notice to the Trustee 
required for any optional or special redemption of the Authority Bonds, to the Authority and the 
Trustee and upon payment by the Governmental Agency to the Trustee of the principal amount 
of the Loan Repayments to be prepaid, plus the interest to accrue on such amount to the date of 
the next succeeding optional redemption of the Authority Bonds allocable to such Loan 
Repayment to be prepaid; provided, however, that (i) if the Governmental Agency proposes to 
prepay in full the Loan Repayments set forth in Exhibit C, such prepayment shall be conditioned 
upon the simultaneous prepayment in full of all Administrative Fees due to and including the 
date of such redemption plus one year after the date of such redemption or (ii) if the 
Governmental Agency proposes to prepay any portion of the Loan Repayments set forth in 
Exhibit C, such prepayment shall be conditioned upon the simultaneous prepayment of such 
portion of the Administrative Fees due to and including the date of such redemption plus one 



 

27021476.1 24 

year after the date of such redemption, as shall be determined by the Authority.  In addition, if at 
the time of such prepayment, the Authority Bonds may only be redeemed at the option of the 
Authority upon payment of a redemption premium, the Governmental Agency shall add to its 
prepayment an amount, as determined by the Authority, equal to such redemption premium 
allocable to such Authority Bonds to be redeemed as a result of the Governmental Agency’s 
prepayment.  Prepayments shall be applied first to accrued interest on the portion of the Loan to 
be prepaid and then to the payment of Administrative Fees and then to principal payments 
(including redemption premium, if any) on the Loan in inverse order of Loan Repayments. 

The Governmental Agency, in the sole discretion of the Authority, and upon terms and 
conditions satisfactory to the Authority, may provide for the prepayment in full of the Loan 
Repayments by depositing with the Authority an amount which, when added to the investment 
income to be derived from such amount to be deposited with the Authority, shall provide for the 
full payment of all such Loan Repayments in the manner provided in this Section 3.08.  Any 
amounts so deposited with the Authority shall be invested solely in direct obligations of the 
United States of America. 

SECTION 3.09  Source of Payment of Governmental Agency’s Obligations.  
The Authority and the Governmental Agency agree that the amounts payable by the 
Governmental Agency under this Loan Agreement, including, without limitation, the amounts 
payable by the Governmental Agency pursuant to Section 3.03, Section 3.06, Section 3.08 and 
Section 5.04 of this Loan Agreement are payable solely from the Gross Revenues and are not 
payable from any other source whatsoever.  Nothing herein shall be deemed to prevent the 
Governmental Agency from paying the amounts payable under this Loan Agreement from any 
other legally available source. 

SECTION 3.10  Delivery of Documents.  Concurrently with the execution and 
delivery of this Loan Agreement, the Governmental Agency will cause to be delivered to the 
Authority each of the following items: 

(a) opinions of the Governmental Agency’s counsel substantially in the form set forth 
in Exhibit E-1 and E-2 hereto (such opinion may be given by one or more counsel); 
provided, however, that the Authority may permit variances in such opinion from the form 
or substance of such Exhibit E if such variances are not to the material detriment of the 
interests of the holders of the Authority Bonds; 

(b) executed counterparts of this Loan Agreement; 

(c) copies of the resolutions or ordinances of the governing body of the Governmental 
Agency authorizing the execution and delivery of this Loan Agreement and Governmental 
Agency Bond, certified by an Authorized Officer of the Governmental Agency; and 

(d) such other certificates, documents, opinions and information as the Authority may 
require. 

Concurrently with the delivery at the Loan Closing of this Loan Agreement, the Governmental 
Agency shall also deliver its Governmental Agency Bond to the Authority upon the receipt of a 
written certification of the Authority that the moneys to be deposited in the Project Loan 



 

27021476.1 25 

Subaccount to fund the Loan shall be so deposited simultaneously with the delivery of the 
Governmental Agency Bond. 

ARTICLE IV. 
 

ASSIGNMENT 

SECTION 4.01  Assignment and Transfer by Authority. 

(a) The Governmental Agency expressly acknowledges that, other than Administrative 
Fees payable pursuant to subsection (b) of Section 3.03 and the right, title and interest of 
the Authority under Sections 3.06, 5.04 and 5.07, all right, title and interest of the 
Authority in, to and under this Loan Agreement and the Governmental Agency Bond has 
been assigned to the Trustee as security for the Authority Bonds, as applicable, as 
provided in the Bond Resolution, and that if any Event of Default shall occur, the Trustee, 
pursuant to the Bond Resolution, shall be entitled to act hereunder in the place and stead 
of the Authority.  The Governmental Agency hereby acknowledges the requirements of 
the Bond Resolution applicable to the Authority Bonds and consents to such assignment 
and appointment. 

The Authority shall retain the right to compel or otherwise enforce observance and 
performance by the Governmental Agency of its duties, covenants, obligations and 
agreements under subsection (b) of Section 3.03 to pay Administrative Fees and under 
Section 3.06 and Section 5.04. 

(b) The Governmental Agency hereby approves and consents to any assignment or 
transfer of this Loan Agreement and the Governmental Agency Bond that the Authority 
deems to be necessary in connection with any refunding of the Authority Bonds or the 
issuance of additional bonds under the Bond Resolution or otherwise, in connection with 
the wastewater treatment pooled loan program of the Authority. 

SECTION 4.02  Assignment by Governmental Agency.  Neither this Loan 
Agreement nor the Governmental Agency Bond may be assigned by the Governmental Agency 
for any reason, unless the following conditions shall be satisfied:  (i) the Authority and the 
Trustee shall have approved said assignment in writing; (ii) the assignee shall be a governmental 
unit within the meaning of Section 141(c) of the Code and the assignee shall have expressly 
assumed in writing the full and faithful observance and performance of the Governmental 
Agency’s duties, covenants, agreements and obligations under the Loan Agreement; (iii) 
immediately after such assignment, the assignee shall not be in default in the performance or 
observance of any duties, covenants, obligations or agreements of the Governmental Agency 
under the Loan Agreement; (iv) the Authority shall have received an opinion of bond counsel to 
the effect that such assignment will not adversely affect the exclusion of interest on the Authority 
Bonds from gross income for purposes of federal income taxation under Section 103(a) of the 
Code; and (v) the Authority shall receive an opinion of counsel to the effect that such assignment 
will not violate the provisions of the Bond Resolution or any agreement entered into by the 
Authority with, or condition of any grant received by the Authority from, the United States of 



 

27021476.1 26 

America relating to the Federal Capitalization Agreement or any capitalization grant received by 
the Authority or the State under the federal Water Pollution Control Act. 

No assignment shall relieve the Governmental Agency from primary liability for any of its 
obligations under this Loan Agreement and in the event of such assignment, the Governmental 
Agency shall continue to remain primarily liable for the performance and observance of its 
obligations to be performed and observed under this Loan Agreement. 

ARTICLE V. 
 

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES 

SECTION 5.01  Event of Default.  If any of the following events occurs, it is 
hereby defined as and declared to be and to constitute an “Event of Default”: 

(a) failure by the Governmental Agency to pay, or cause to be paid, any Loan 
Repayment set forth in Schedule C, required to be paid hereunder when due, which failure 
shall continue for a period of ten (10) days; 

(b) failure by the Governmental Agency to make, or cause to be made, any required 
payments of principal of, redemption premium, if any, and interest on any bonds, notes or 
other obligations of the Governmental Agency for borrowed money (other than the Loan 
and the Governmental Agency Bond), after giving effect to the applicable grace period, 
the payments of which are secured by the Pledged Property; 

(c) failure by the Governmental Agency to pay, or cause to be paid, the Administrative 
Fee or any portion thereof when due or to observe and perform any duty, covenant, 
obligation or agreement on its part to be observed or performed under this Loan 
Agreement, other than as referred to in paragraph (a) of this Section 5.01 and other than a 
failure to comply with the provisions of Section 2.03 hereof, which failure shall continue 
for a period of thirty (30) days after written notice, specifying such failure and requesting 
that it be remedied, is given to the Governmental Agency by the Trustee, unless the 
Trustee shall agree in writing to an extension of such time prior to its expiration; provided, 
however, that if the failure stated in such notice is correctable but cannot be corrected 
within the applicable period the Trustee may not unreasonably withhold its consent to an 
extension of such time up to sixty (60) days from the delivery of the written notice 
referred to above if corrective action is instituted by the Governmental Agency within the 
applicable period and diligently pursued until the Event of Default is corrected; 

(d) a petition is filed by or against the Governmental Agency under any federal or 
state bankruptcy or insolvency law or other similar law in effect on the date of this Loan 
Agreement or thereafter enacted, unless in the case of any such petition filed against the 
Governmental Agency such petition shall be dismissed within thirty (30) days after such 
filing and such dismissal shall be final and not subject to appeal; or the Governmental 
Agency shall become insolvent or bankrupt or make an assignment for the benefit of its 
creditors; or a custodian (including, without limitation, a receiver, liquidator or trustee of 
the Governmental Agency or any of its property) shall be appointed by court order to take 



 

27021476.1 27 

possession of the Governmental Agency or its property or assets if such order remains in 
effect or such possession continues for more than thirty (30) days. 

SECTION 5.02  Notice of Default.  The Governmental Agency shall give the 
Trustee and the Authority prompt telephonic notice of the occurrence of any Event of Default 
referred to in Section 5.01(d) hereof, and of the occurrence of any other event or condition that 
constitutes an Event of Default at such time as any senior administrative or financial officer of 
the Governmental Agency becomes aware of the existence thereof.  Any telephonic notice 
pursuant to this Section 5.02 shall be confirmed in writing by the end of the next Business Day 
(as defined in the Bond Resolution). 

SECTION 5.03  Remedies on Default.  Whenever an Event of Default referred 
to in Section 5.01 hereof shall have occurred and be continuing, the Authority shall have the 
right to take or to direct the Trustee to take any action permitted or required pursuant to the Loan 
Agreement and to take whatever other action at law or in equity may appear necessary or 
desirable to collect the amounts then due and thereafter to become due hereunder or to enforce 
the performance and observance of any duty, covenant, obligation or agreement of the 
Governmental Agency hereunder, including, without limitation, to obtain ex parte the 
appointment of a receiver of the System. 

SECTION 5.04  Attorney’s Fees and Other Expenses.  The Governmental 
Agency shall on demand pay to the Authority or the Trustee the reasonable fees and expenses of 
attorneys and other reasonable fees and expenses (including without limitation the reasonably 
allocated costs of in-house counsel and legal staff) incurred by either of them in the collection of 
Loan Repayments or any other sum due hereunder or in the enforcement of performance or 
observation of any other duties, covenants, obligations or agreements of the Governmental 
Agency. 

SECTION 5.05  Application of Moneys.  Any moneys collected by the 
Authority or the Trustee pursuant to Section 5.03 hereof shall be applied (a) first, to pay any 
attorney’s fees or other fees and expenses owed by the Governmental Agency pursuant to 
Section 5.04 hereof, (b) second, to pay interest due and payable on the Loan, (c) third, to pay 
principal due and payable on the Loan, (d) fourth, to pay any other amounts due and payable 
under this Loan Agreement; and (e) fifth, to pay interest and principal on the Loan and other 
amounts payable hereunder as such amounts become due and payable. 

SECTION 5.06  No Remedy Exclusive; Waiver; Notice.  No remedy herein 
conferred upon or reserved to the Authority or the Trustee is intended to be exclusive and every 
such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given under this 
Loan Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity.  No delay or omission to 
exercise any right, remedy or power accruing upon any Event of Default shall impair any such 
right, remedy or power or shall be construed to be a waiver thereof, but any such right, remedy 
or power may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient.  In order 
to entitle the Authority or the Trustee to exercise any remedy reserved to it in this Article, it shall 
not be necessary to give any notice, other than such notice as may be required in this Article V. 



 

27021476.1 28 

SECTION 5.07  Retention of Authority’s Rights.  Notwithstanding any 
assignment or transfer of this Loan Agreement pursuant to the provisions hereof or of the Bond 
Resolution, or anything else to the contrary contained herein, the Authority shall have the right 
upon the occurrence of an Event of Default to take any action, including (without limitation) 
bringing an action against the Governmental Agency at law or in equity, as the Authority may, in 
its discretion, deem necessary to enforce the obligations of the Governmental Agency to the 
Authority pursuant to Section 3.03, Section 3.06 and Section 5.04 hereof. 

SECTION 5.08  Default by the Authority.  In the event of any default by the 
Authority under any duty, covenant, agreement or obligation of this Loan Agreement, the 
Governmental Agency’s remedy for such default shall be limited to injunction, special action, 
action for specific performance or any other available equitable remedy designed to enforce the 
performance or observance of any duty, covenant, obligation or agreement of the Authority 
hereunder as may be necessary or appropriate.  The Authority shall on demand pay to the 
Governmental Agency the reasonable fees and expenses of attorneys and other reasonable 
expenses in the enforcement of such performance or observation. 

ARTICLE VI. 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 

SECTION 6.01  Notices.  All notices, certificates or other communications 
hereunder shall be sufficiently given and shall be deemed given when hand-delivered or mailed 
by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, to the Governmental Agency at the address 
specified on Exhibit B attached hereto and made a part hereof and to the Authority, the Trustee 
and the Loan Servicer at the following addresses: 

(a) Authority: Colorado Water Resources and 
Power Development Authority 
1580 Logan Street, Suite 620 
Denver, Colorado  80203 
Attention:  Executive Director 

(b) Trustee : Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. 
1740 Broadway 
MAC C7301-024 
Denver, Colorado 80274 
Attention:  Corporate Trust Services 



 

27021476.1 29 

(c) Loan Servicer: Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. 
1740 Broadway 
MAC C7301-024 
Denver, Colorado 80274 
Attention:  Corporate Trust Services 

Any of the foregoing parties may designate any further or different addresses to which 
subsequent notices, certificates or other communications shall be sent, by notice in writing given 
to others. 

SECTION 6.02  Binding Effect.  This Loan Agreement shall inure to the benefit 
of and shall be binding upon the Authority and the Governmental Agency and their respective 
successors and assigns. 

SECTION 6.03  Severability.  In the event any provision of this Loan 
Agreement shall be held illegal, invalid or unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, 
such holding shall not invalidate, render unenforceable or otherwise affect any other provision 
hereof. 

SECTION 6.04  Amendments, Supplements and Modifications.  This Loan 
Agreement may not be amended, supplemented or modified without the prior written consent of 
the Authority and the Governmental Agency. 

SECTION 6.05  Execution in Counterparts.  This Loan Agreement may be 
executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall 
constitute but one and the same instrument. 

SECTION 6.06  Applicable Law and Venue.  This Loan Agreement shall be 
governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Colorado, including the 
Act.  Venue for any action seeking to interpret or enforce the provisions of this Loan Agreement 
shall be in the Denver District Court. 

SECTION 6.07  Consents and Approvals.  Whenever the written consent or 
approval of the Authority shall be required under the provisions of this Loan Agreement, such 
consent or approval may only be given by the Authority unless otherwise provided by law or by 
rules, regulations or resolutions of the Authority or unless expressly delegated to the Trustee. 

SECTION 6.08  Captions.  The captions or headings in this Loan Agreement are 
for convenience only and shall not in any way define, limit or describe the scope or intent of any 
provisions or sections of this Loan Agreement. 

SECTION 6.09  Compliance with Bond Resolution.  The Governmental 
Agency covenants and agrees to take such action as the Authority shall reasonably request so as 
to enable the Authority to observe and comply with, all duties, covenants, obligations and 
agreements contained in the Bond Resolution insofar as such duties, covenants, obligations and 
agreements relate to the obligations of the Governmental Agency under this Loan Agreement. 



 

27021476.1 30 

SECTION 6.10  Further Assurances.  The Governmental Agency shall, at the 
request of the Authority, authorize, execute, acknowledge and deliver such further resolutions, 
conveyances, transfers, assurances, financing statements and other instruments as may be 
necessary or desirable for better assuring, conveying, granting, assigning and confirming the 
rights and agreements granted or intended to be granted by this Loan Agreement and the 
Governmental Agency Bond. 

SECTION 6.11  Recital.  This Loan Agreement is authorized pursuant to and in 
accordance with the Constitution of the State of Colorado and all other laws of the State of 
Colorado thereunto enabling.  Specifically, but not by way of limitation, this Loan Agreement is 
authorized by the Governmental Agency pursuant to the City Charter and Title 11, Article 57, 
Part 2, C.R.S and shall so recite in the Governmental Agency Bond.  Such recital shall 
conclusively impart full compliance with all provisions and limitations of such laws and shall be 
conclusive evidence of the validity and regularity of the issuance of the Governmental Agency 
Bond, and the Governmental Agency Bond delivered by the Governmental Agency to the 
Authority containing such recital shall be incontestable for any cause whatsoever after its 
delivery for value. 



 

27021476.1 31 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Authority and the Governmental Agency have caused this Loan 
Agreement to be executed, and delivered, as of the Loan Closing.   

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

COLORADO WATER RESOURCES AND 
POWER DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

By:   
 Executive Director 

(SEAL) CITY OF EVANS, COLORADO, ACTING BY 
AND THROUGH ITS WASTEWATER 
UTILITIES ENTERPRISE  
 

By:   
 Mayor 

ATTEST: 

  
 City Clerk 



 

27021476.1 A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

SECURITY DESCRIPTION 

1. Description of Project 

The project consists of a new consolidated domestic wastewater treatment works at the 
existing Hill-N-Park WWRF site and replacement of Hill-N-Park lagoon system, 
decommissioning both lagoon systems, a new lift station, and a new force main.  

2. Description of System 

“System” shall mean, (i) any facility, plant, works, system, building, 
structure, improvement, machinery, equipment, fixture or other real or personal 
property, relating to the treatment of sewerage which is owned, operated or controlled by the 
Governmental Agency, including, without limitation, the Project (ii) any renewal, 
replacement, addition, modification or improvement to (i) above paid or financed in whole or 
in part from Revenues (as defined in paragraph (4) of Exhibit A of this Loan Agreement), 
and (iii) all real or personal property and rights therein and appurtenances thereto that 
are owned, operated or controlled by the Governmental Agency and necessary or useful or 
convenient for the effectiveness of the purposes of the Governmental Agency in the 
treatment of sewage. 

means all facilities, properties and equipment utilized in the provision of wastewater , 
including without limitation: water rights, raw water and any one or more works and 
improvements owned by the Governmental Agency and used in and as a part of the collection, 
treatment or distribution of water for the beneficial uses and purposes for which the water has 
been or may be appropriated, including, but not limited to, uses for domestic, municipal, 
irrigation, power and industrial purposes and including construction, operation, and maintenance 
of a system of raw and clear water and distribution storage reservoirs, deep and shallow wells, 
pumping ventilating and gauging stations, inlets, tunnels, flumes, conduits, canals, collection 
transmission and distribution lines, infiltration galleries, hydrants, meters, filtration and treatment 
plants and works, power plants, all pumping, power and other equipment and appurtenances; all 
works and improvements owned by the Governmental Agency and used in and as a part of the 
collection, treatment, use, reuse of discharge of wastewater, all extensions, improvements, 
remodeling, additions and alterations of any such works and improvements, and any and all 
rights or interests in such works and improvements; any one or more of the various properties 
used in the collection or disposition of storm, flood, or surface drainage waters, including 
without limitation open drainageways and piped drainageways, bridges, roadside drainage 
ditches and gutters, flood control facilities, including detention and retention basins, dikes, 
overflow channels, pump stations, land, and rights-of-way; and all other necessary, incidental, or 
appurtenant properties, facilities, equipment and costs relating to any of the foregoing. 

3. Lien Representation 



 

27021476.1 A-2 

The Pledged Property is free and clear of any pledge, lien, charge or encumbrance 
thereon or with respect thereto which is superior to the lien of this Loan Agreement and the 
Governmental Agency Bond on the Pledged Property, and all corporate or other action on the 
part of the Governmental Agency to that end has been and will be duly and validly taken.  As of 
the date of this Loan Agreement there are outstanding no bonds, notes or evidences of 
indebtedness or contractual obligations secured by a lien on the Pledged Property which are on a 
parity with the lien of the Loan Agreement and Governmental Agency Bond, except for the 
amounts due pursuant to the [TO COME IF APPLICABLE].  Except as permitted by Exhibit F 
hereto, the Governmental Agency shall not issue any bonds or other evidences of indebtedness of 
a similar nature secured by a pledge, lien or assignment on the Pledged Property or create a lien 
or charge thereon. 

4. Pledged Property 

“Pledged Property” means the Net Revenues (as defined in this paragraph 4 of Exhibit A 
of this Loan Agreement). 

“Net Revenues” shall mean the Gross Revenues less Operating and Maintenance 
Expenses, plus all proceeds of insurance in excess of or not applied to the repair and replacement 
of the System, and the proceeds of any sale, conveyance, or exchange of the System in excess of 
that applied to replace the System sold or exchanged. 

“Gross Revenues” includes all fees, rentals or other charges or other income derived or 
received by the Governmental Agency or accrued to the Governmental Agency from the 
operation of the System other than (a) moneys reserved for operation of the Klein Water 
Treatment Facility and (b) moneys received from the United States of America or any 
department or agency thereof. 

“Revenues” shall mean (a) all revenues, income, rents and receipts earned by the 
Governmental Agency from or attributable to the ownership and operation of the System, (b) the 
proceeds of any insurance covering business interruption loss relating to the System, and (c) 
interest earned on any moneys or investments which are required to be paid into any fund or 
account pledged to the payment of this Loan Agreement and the governmental Agency Bond 
pursuant to this Loan Agreement and the Governmental Agency Bond pursuant to paragraph 4. 
of Exhibit A of this Loan Agreement. 

“Operating and Maintenance Expenses” means the current expenses, paid or accrued, of 
operation, maintenance and repair of the System and are to include, without limiting the 
generality of the foregoing, administrative expenses relating solely to the System, insurance 
premiums, labor, the cost of materials and supplies used for current operation, and charges for 
the accumulation of appropriate reserves not annually recurrent but which are such as may 
reasonably be expected to be incurred in accordance with sound accounting practice.  
“Operating and Maintenance Expenses” are not to include any allowance for depreciation. 

 “Generally Accepted Accounting Principles” shall mean accounting principles, methods 
and terminology followed and construed for enterprises which are employed in business 
comparable to the business of the Governmental Agency, as amended from time to time. 



 

27021476.1 A-3 

5. Rate Covenant 

The Governmental Agency shall establish and collect rates and charges for the use or the 
sale of the products and services of the System, which together with other moneys available 
therefor, are expected to produce Revenues (as defined in paragraph (4) of this Exhibit A to this 
Loan Agreement) for each calendar year which will be at least sufficient for such calendar year 
to pay the sum of: 

(a) all amounts estimated to be required to pay Operating and Maintenance 
Expenses (as defined in paragraph (4) of this Exhibit A of this Loan 
Agreement) during such calendar year; 

(b) a sum equal to 110% of the debt service due on the Governmental Agency 
Bond for such calendar year and debt service coming due during such 
calendar year on a parity with the with the lien or change of this Loan 
Agreement on the Pledged Property, in each case computed as of the 
beginning of such calendar year; 

(c) the amount, if any, to be paid during such calendar year into any debt 
service reserve account; 

(d) a sum equal to the debt service on any subordinated debt for such calendar 
year computed as of the beginning of such calendar year; and 

(e) amounts necessary to pay and discharge all charges and liens or other 
indebtedness not described above payable out of the Revenues during such 
calendar year.  

Notwithstanding anything contained above, amounts deposited in a rate stabilization 
account shall not be deemed Revenues (as defined in paragraph 4. of this Exhibit A to this Loan 
Agreement) in the calendar year deposited and amounts withdrawn from the rate stabilization 
account shall be deemed Revenues (as defined in paragraph 4. of this Exhibit A to this Loan 
Agreement) in the year withdrawn. 

 



 

27021476.1 B-1 

EXHIBIT B 

DESCRIPTION OF THE LOAN 

1. Address of Governmental Agency: 

City of Evans, Colorado, Acting By And Through Its Wastewater Utilities 
Enterprise 
1100 37th street 
Evans, CO 80620 
 

2. Cost of Project: $___________ 

3. Principal Amount of Loan Commitment: $__________ 

4. Loan Term: The date commencing on the Loan Closing and ending on the final 
Loan Repayment date set forth in Exhibit C. 

5. Description of the Project: See Exhibit A, 1. 

6. Authorized Officer(s): _____________________ 
_____________________ 

7. Project Completion Date: ___________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

27021476.1 B-1 

EXHIBIT C 

CITY OF EVANS, COLORADO ACTING BY AND THROUGH ITS WASTEWATER UTILITIES 
ENTERPRISE 

LOAN REPAYMENT SCHEDULE 

 Date    Servicing Period  
  Principal (1) Principal (2) Interest      Fee  Total Annual Total 
 



 

27021476.1 D-1 

EXHIBIT D 

GOVERNMENTAL AGENCY BOND 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, CITY OF EVANS, COLORADO, ACTING 
BY AND THROUGH ITS WASTEWATER UTILITIES ENTERPRISE (the 
“Governmental Agency”) hereby promises to pay to the COLORADO WATER RESOURCES 
AND POWER DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (the “Authority”), or registered assigns, the 
principal amount of __________________________________  and 00/100 Dollars 
($_____________), at the times and in the amounts determined as provided in the Loan 
Agreement dated as of May 1, 2016, by and between the Authority and the Governmental 
Agency (the “Loan Agreement”), together with interest thereon in the amount calculated as 
provided in the Loan Agreement, payable on the dates and in the amounts determined as 
provided in the Loan Agreement. 

This Governmental Agency Bond is issued pursuant to the Loan Agreement and is issued in 
consideration of the loan made thereunder (the “Loan”) and to evidence the obligations of the 
Governmental Agency thereunder to make the Loan Repayments (as defined in the Loan 
Agreement).  This Governmental Agency Bond has been assigned to Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as 
trustee (the “Trustee”) under the Bond Resolution (as defined in the Loan Agreement) and 
payments hereunder shall, except as otherwise provided in the Loan Agreement, be made 
directly to the Loan Servicer (as defined in the Bond Resolution) for the account of the Authority 
pursuant to such assignment.  Such assignment has been made as security for the payment of the 
Authority Bonds (as defined in the Bond Resolution) issued to finance or refinance, and in 
connection with, the Loan and as otherwise described in the Loan Agreement.  All of the terms, 
conditions and provisions of the Loan Agreement are, by this reference thereto, incorporated 
herein as a part of this Governmental Agency Bond. 

This Governmental Agency Bond is entitled to the benefits and is subject to the conditions of the 
Loan Agreement.  The obligations of the Governmental Agency to make the payments required 
hereunder shall be absolute and unconditional without any defense or right of setoff, 
counterclaim or recoupment by reason of any default by the Authority under the Loan 
Agreement or under any other agreement between the Governmental Agency and the Authority 
or out of any indebtedness or liability at any time owing to the Governmental Agency by the 
Authority or for any other reason. 

This Governmental Agency Bond is subject to optional prepayment under the terms and 
conditions, and in the amounts provided in Section 3.08 of the Loan Agreement. 

The obligation of the Governmental Agency to make payments under the Loan Agreement and 
this Governmental Agency Bond is a special and limited obligation of the Government Agency 
and is payable solely from the repayment source described in the Loan Agreement and the 
obligation of the Governmental Agency to pay the Loan Repayments is secured by an 
irrevocable pledge and lien (but not necessarily an exclusive lien) upon the Pledged Property (as 
defined in paragraph 4. of Exhibit A of the Loan Agreement).  This Governmental Agency Bond 
does not constitute a debt or an indebtedness of the Governmental Agency within the meaning of 



 

27021476.1 D-2 

any constitutional, charter or statutory provision or limitation.  This Governmental Agency Bond 
is not payable in whole or in part from the proceeds of general property taxes, and the full faith 
and credit of the Governmental Agency is not pledged for the payment of the principal of or 
interest on this Governmental Agency Bond. 

This Governmental Agency Bond is issued under the authority of and in full conformity with the 
Constitution and laws of the State of Colorado, including without limitation, Article X, Section 
20 of the Constitution, the City Charter, Title 11, Article 57, Part 2, C.R.S. (the “Supplemental 
Act”), and pursuant to the Loan Agreement.  Pursuant to §11-57-210, of the Supplemental Act, 
such recital shall be conclusive evidence of the validity and regularity of the issuance of this 
Governmental Agency Bond after its delivery for value.   

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Governmental Agency has caused this Governmental Agency 
Bond to be duly executed, sealed and delivered, as of this __ day of May, 2016. 

(SEAL) CITY OF EVANS, COLORADO, ACTING BY 
AND THROUGH ITS WASTEWATER 
UTILITIES ENTERPRISE 

By:   
 Mayor 

ATTEST: 

  
 City Clerk 

 



 

27021476.1 E-1-1 

 

MAY _, 2016 

 
Colorado Water Resources and 
  Power Development Authority 

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association 
  as Trustee 

___________________________, 
  as Representative of the Underwriters 

City of Evans, Colorado, Acting By And Through Its Wastewater Utilities Enterprise, 
Loan Agreement dated as of May 1, 2016, with the 

Colorado Water Resources and Power Development Authority 
 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

We have acted as City Attorney to the City of Evans, Colorado, Acting By And Through 
Its Wastewater Utilities Enterprise (the “Governmental Agency”), in connection with its 
authorization, execution and delivery of a Loan Agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) dated as of 
May 1, 2016, by and between the Governmental Agency and the Colorado Water Resources and 
Power Development Authority (the “Authority”) and its issuance to the Authority of a 
governmental agency bond (the “Bond”) in connection therewith, as authorized by an ordinance 
finally passed and adopted by the City Council of the Governmental Agency on ____________, 
2016.  In such capacity, we have examined the Governmental Agency’s certified proceedings 
and such other documents and such law of the State of Colorado and of the United States of 
America as we have deemed necessary to render this opinion letter.  Capitalized terms not 
otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them by the Loan Agreement.  The 
Loan Agreement and the Bond are collectively referred to herein as the “Loan Documents.” 

Regarding questions of fact material to our opinions, we have relied upon the certified 
proceedings of the Governmental Agency and other representations and certifications of public 
officials and others furnished to us without undertaking to verify the same by independent 
investigation. 

Based upon such examination, it is our opinion as City Attorney that: 

1. The Governmental Agency is a “governmental agency” within the meaning of the 
Authority’s enabling legislation with the legal right to carry on the business of the System (as 
defined in the Loan Agreement) as currently being conducted and as proposed to be conducted. 

 



 

27021476.1 E-1-2 

2. The Governmental Agency has full legal right and authority to execute the Loan 
Documents and to observe and perform its duties, covenants, obligations and agreements 
thereunder and to undertake and complete the Project. 

 
3. The proceedings of the Governmental Agency’s governing members approving 

the Loan Documents and authorizing their execution, issuance and delivery on behalf of the 
Governmental Agency have been duly and lawfully adopted and authorized in accordance with 
applicable Colorado law, which proceedings were duly approved and published in accordance 
with applicable Colorado law, at a meeting or meetings which were duly called pursuant to 
necessary public notice and held in accordance with applicable Colorado law, and at which 
quorums were present acting throughout. 

 
4. To the best of our knowledge, after such investigation as we have deemed 

appropriate, the authorization, execution and delivery of the Loan Documents by the 
Governmental Agency, the observation and performance by the Governmental Agency of its 
duties, covenants, obligations and agreements thereunder and the consummation of the 
transactions contemplated therein and the undertaking of the Project do not and will not 
contravene any existing law or any existing order, injunction, judgment, decree, rule or 
regulation of any court or governmental or administrative agency, authority or person having 
jurisdiction over the Governmental Agency or its property or assets or result in a breach or 
violation of any of the terms and provisions of, or constitute a default under, any existing bond 
resolution, trust agreement, indenture, mortgage, deed or trust or other agreement to which the 
Governmental Agency is a party or by which it, the System (as defined in the Loan Agreement) 
or its property or assets is bound. 

 
5. To the best of our knowledge, after such investigation as we have deemed 

appropriate, all approvals, consents or authorizations of, or registrations of or filings with, any 
governmental or public agency, authority or person required to date on the part of the 
Governmental Agency in connection with the authorization, execution, delivery and performance 
of the Loan Documents and, other than authorizations, licenses and permits relating to the siting, 
construction and acquisition of the Project which the Governmental Agency expects to receive in 
the ordinary course of business, the undertaking and completion of the Project have been 
obtained or made. 

 
6. To the best of our knowledge, after such investigation as we have deemed 

appropriate, there is no litigation or other proceeding pending or threatened in any court or other 
tribunal of competent jurisdiction (either State of Federal) questioning the creation, organization 
or existence of the Governmental Agency or the validity, legality or enforceability of the Loan 
Documents or the undertaking or completion of the Project or which if adversely determined, 
could (a) materially adversely affect (i) the financial position of the Governmental Agency, (ii) 
the ability of the Governmental Agency to perform its obligations under the Loan Documents, 
(iii) the security for the Loan Documents, or (iv) the transactions contemplated by the Loan 
Documents, or (b) impair the ability of the Governmental Agency to maintain and operate its 
system. 



 

27021476.1 E-1-3 

This opinion is rendered on the basis of Federal law and the laws of the State of Colorado 
as enacted and construed on the date hereof.  We express no opinion as to any matter not set 
forth in the numbered paragraphs herein.  The opinions expressed in this opinion letter are 
subject to the following: 

The obligations of the Governmental Agency pursuant to the Loan Documents are limited 
by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, and other similar laws affecting 
creditors’ rights generally, and by equitable principles, whether considered at law or in equity. 

No opinion is expressed herein regarding the validity or enforceability of Section 3.06 of 
the Loan Agreement or any other provision thereof which purports to require the Governmental 
Agency to indemnify or hold any person harmless. 

 In this opinion letter issued in our capacity as City Attorney to the Governmental 
Agency, we are opining only upon those matters set forth herein, and we are not passing upon 
the accuracy, adequacy or completeness of any statements made in connection with any offer or 
sale of the Authority Bonds, the Loan Documents or upon any federal or state tax consequences 
arising from the receipt or accrual of interest on or the ownership or disposition of the Loan 
Documents, or upon any matters arising under federal or state securities laws or regulations, 
except those specifically addressed herein. 

This opinion letter is issued as of the date hereof and we assume no obligation to revise 
or supplement this opinion letter to reflect any facts or circumstances that may hereafter come to 
our attention or changes in law that may hereafter occur. 

In connection with the execution and delivery of the Loan Documents, we have 
represented the Governmental Agency as City Attorney, and the Governmental Agency is our 
sole client in this transaction.  Delivery of this letter to you does not establish an attorney-client 
relationship between the addressees hereof and this firm.  In connection with the Loan, the 
Authority has been represented by Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP, as Bond Counsel, and 
Carlson, Hammond & Paddock, L.L.C., as General Counsel, which firms are hereby authorized 
to rely on the legal conclusions expressed herein in their respective capacities as Bond Counsel 
and General Counsel to the Authority. 

This opinion letter is furnished to you solely for your information and benefit in 
connection with the initial execution and delivery of the Loan Documents and may not be relied 
upon by you for any other purpose or relied upon by any other person (other than the Authority’s 
Bond Counsel and General Counsel) without the prior written consent of this firm.   

Very truly yours, 

 

 
 



 

27021476.1 E-2-1 

 
 

May__, 2016 
 
 
 
Colorado Water Resources and Power 

Development Authority 
 
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association 
  as Trustee 

Janney Montgomery Scott LLC 
  as Representative of the Underwriters 

 

 

 
City of Evans, Colorado, Acting By And Through Its Wastewater Utilities Enterprise, 

Loan Agreement dated as of May 1, 2016, with the 
Colorado Water Resources and Power Development Authority 

 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 
 

We have acted as bond counsel to the City of Evans, Colorado, Acting By And 
Through Its Wastewater Utilities Enterprise (the “Governmental Agency”), in connection with its 
authorization, execution and delivery of a Loan Agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) dated as of 
May 1, 2016, by and between the Governmental Agency and the Colorado Water Resources and 
Power Development Authority (the “Authority”) and its issuance to the Authority of a 
governmental agency bond (the “Bond”) in connection therewith, as authorized by an ordinance 
finally passed and adopted by the City Council of the Governmental Agency on __________, 
2016.  In such capacity, we have examined the Governmental Agency’s certified proceedings 
and such other documents and such law of the State of Colorado and of the United States of 
America as we have deemed necessary to render this opinion letter.  Capitalized terms not 
otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them by the Loan Agreement.  The 
Loan Agreement and the Bond are collectively referred to herein as the “Loan Documents.” 

Regarding questions of fact material to our opinions, we have relied upon the 
certified proceedings of the Governmental Agency and other representations and certifications of 
public officials and others furnished to us without undertaking to verify the same by independent 
investigation. 

Based upon such examination, it is our opinion as bond counsel that: 

1. The Governmental Agency is a “governmental agency” within the 
meaning of the Authority’s enabling legislation. 



 

27021476.1 E-2-2 

2. The Governmental Agency has full legal right and authority to execute the 
Loan Documents and to observe and perform its duties, covenants, obligations and agreements 
thereunder. 

3. The Governmental Agency has pledged the Pledged Property for the 
punctual payment of the principal of and interest on the Loan and all other amounts due under 
the Loan Documents according to their respective terms, and the Loan Agreement creates a valid 
lien on such Pledged Property.  No filings or recordings are required under the Colorado 
Uniform Commercial Code in order to create or perfect said lien on the Pledged Property, and all 
actions have been taken as required by Section 11-57-208, Colorado Revised Statutes. 

4. The Loan Documents have been duly authorized, executed and delivered 
by authorized officers of the Governmental Agency; and, assuming in the case of the Loan 
Agreement, that the Authority has all the requisite power and authority to authorize, execute and 
deliver, and has duly authorized, executed and delivered the Loan Agreement, the Loan 
Documents constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of the Governmental Agency 
enforceable in accordance with their respective terms.  

5. Assuming compliance with the covenants contained in the Loan 
Agreement, the Governmental Agency is not, directly or indirectly, (a) using in excess of ten 
percent of the proceeds of the Authority Bonds loaned to the Governmental Agency or the 
Project in a manner that would constitute “private business use” within the meaning of Section 
141(b)(6) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and at least one-half 
of such private business use permitted by clause (a) is neither unrelated to the governmental use 
of the proceeds of the Authority Bonds loaned to the Governmental Agency (within the meaning 
of Section 141(b)(3)(A)(ii)(I) or (III) of the Code) nor disproportionate related business use 
(within the meaning of Section 141(b)(3)(A)(ii)(II) or (III) of the Code) nor (B) using, directly or 
indirectly, any of the proceeds of the Authority Bonds loaned to the Governmental Agency to 
make or finance loans to persons other than governmental units (as such term is used in Section 
141(c) of the Code). 

6. The execution and delivery of the Loan Documents are not subject to the 
limitations of Article X, Section 20 of the Colorado Constitution (“TABOR”) because the 
System constitutes an enterprise under TABOR as of the date hereof.  The performance of the 
obligations of the Governmental Agency under the Loan Documents is not subject to the 
limitations of TABOR as long as the System continues to qualify as an enterprise under TABOR.  
If the System ceases to qualify as an enterprise under TABOR, the Loan Documents will 
continue to constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of the Governmental Agency 
enforceable in accordance with their respective terms subject to the revenue and spending 
limitations of TABOR; provided, however, that if the System at any time ceases to qualify as an 
enterprise under TABOR, (a) the Governmental Agency may impose any increased fees, rates 
and charges of the System without voter approval; (b) all revenues of the Governmental Agency 
used to pay Loan Repayments by the Governmental Agency are to be included in the 
Governmental Agency’s fiscal year spending limit under Section 7(d) of TABOR, except that 
creation of bonded debt increases fiscal year spending by the amount of debt service so funded 
and debt service changes and reductions are exceptions to, and not part of, the Governmental 
Agency’s revenue and spending base and limits; and (c) if the Governmental Agency is required 



 

27021476.1 E-2-3 

to reduce spending in order to comply with its fiscal year spending limit under Section 7(b) of 
TABOR, the Governmental Agency will first be required to reduce spending for purposes for 
which it does not have an obligation under law or by contract prior to reducing spending required 
to comply with the other covenants contained in the Loan Documents. 

The opinions expressed in this opinion letter are subject to the following: 

The obligations of the Governmental Agency pursuant to the Loan Documents are 
limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, and other similar laws affecting 
creditors’ rights generally, and by equitable principles, whether considered at law or in equity. 

No opinion is expressed herein regarding the validity or enforceability of Section 
3.06 of the Loan Agreement or any other provision thereof which purports to require the 
Governmental Agency to indemnify or hold any person harmless. 

We are opining only upon those matters set forth herein, and we are not passing 
upon the accuracy, adequacy or completeness of any statements made in connection with any 
offer or sale of the Authority Bonds, the Loan Documents or upon any federal or state tax 
consequences arising from the receipt or accrual of interest on or the ownership or disposition of 
the Loan Documents, except those specifically addressed herein. 

This opinion letter is issued as of the date hereof and we assume no obligation to 
revise or supplement this opinion letter to reflect any facts or circumstances that may hereafter 
come to our attention or changes in law that may hereafter occur. 

In connection with the execution and delivery of the Loan Documents, we have 
represented the Governmental Agency which is our sole client in this transaction.  Delivery of 
this letter to you does not establish an attorney-client relationship between the addressees hereof 
and this firm.  In connection with the Loan, the Authority has been represented by Norton Rose 
Fulbright US LLP, as Bond Counsel, and Carlson, Hammond & Paddock, L.L.C., as General 
Counsel, which firms are hereby authorized to rely on the legal conclusions expressed herein in 
their respective capacities as Bond Counsel and General Counsel to the Authority. 

This opinion letter is furnished to you solely for your information and benefit in 
connection with the initial execution and delivery of the Loan Documents and may not be relied 
upon by you for any other purpose or relied upon by any other person (other than the Authority’s 
Bond Counsel and General Counsel) without the prior written consent of this firm.   

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 



 

27021476.1 F-1-1 

EXHIBIT F 

ADDITIONAL COVENANTS AND REQUIREMENTS 

Audit Requirements.  For each year in which the Governmental Agency requests a 
disbursement from the Project Loan Subaccount, the Governmental Agency shall conduct its 
annual audit in accordance with the federal Single Audit Act, 31 U.S.C. § 7501 et seq. 

Additional Senior, Parity and Subordinate Lien Bonds. The Governmental Agency covenants 
that it will not issue any obligations payable from the Pledged Property which are superior to the 
lien of this Loan Agreement on the Pledged Property. In addition, the Governmental Agency 
covenants that it will not issue any obligations, other than the refunding obligations, payable 
from the Pledged Property unless the Governmental Agency certifies to the Authority that Net 
Revenues (as defined in paragraph (4) of Exhibit A to this Loan Agreement) for any 12 
consecutive months out of the 18 months preceding the month in which such obligations are to 
be issued is at least equal to the sum (a) of 110% of the maximum annual debt service of (i) the 
Governmental Agency Bond and all obligations of the Governmental Agency outstanding during 
such 12 month period payable on a parity with the Governmental Agency from the Pledged 
Property, and (ii) such proposed obligations to be issued and (b) 100% of all other indebtedness 
payable from the Pledged Property. Net Revenues for the purposes of the preceding sentence 
may be adjusted to reflect any rate increases adopted prior to the issuance of such additional 
obligations. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Governmental Agency may issue refunding 
obligations, payable from the Pledged Property without compliance with the requirements stated 
above, provided that the debt service payments on such refunding obligations do not exceed the 
debt service payments on the refunded obligations on any interest payment date. In addition, the 
Governmental Agency covenants that it will not issue any obligations payable from the Pledged 
Property which is subordinate to the lien of this Loan Agreement on the Pledged Property unless 
of the Governmental Agency certifies to the Authority that for any 12 consecutive months out of 
the 18 months preceding the month in which such obligations are to be issued Net Revenues 
were at least 100% of the maximum annual debt service on all indebtedness outstanding during 
such period. 

Operations and Maintenance Reserve Fund.  The Governmental Agency shall maintain an 
operations and maintenance reserve in an amount equal to three months of Operation and 
Maintenance Expenses excluding depreciation of the System as set forth in the annual budget for 
the current fiscal year but in no event greater than $1,250,000.  Said reserve may be in the form 
of unobligated fund balances or other unobligated cash or securities (i.e., capital reserves) or may 
be in a separate segregated fund and shall be maintained as a continuing reserve for payment of 
any lawful purpose relating to the System.  If the operations and maintenance reserves fall below 
this requirement, the shortfall shall be made up in 24 substantially equal monthly installments 
beginning the second month after such shortfall or the date of delivery. 

Rate Study.  In the event that Gross Revenues collected during a fiscal year are not sufficient to 
meet the requirements set forth in the Rate Covenant contained in paragraph 5. of Exhibit A of 
this Loan Agreement, the Governmental Agency shall, within 90 days of the end of such fiscal 
year, cause an independent firm of accountants or consulting engineers, to prepare a rate study 



 

27021476.1 F-1-2 

for the purpose of recommending a schedule of rates, fees and charges for the use of the System 
which in the opinion of the firm conducting the study will be sufficient to provide Gross 
Revenues to be collected in the next succeeding fiscal year which will provide compliance with 
the Rate Covenant described in paragraph 5 of Exhibit A of this Loan Agreement.  Such a study 
shall be delivered to the Authority and the Trustee.  The Governmental Agency shall within six 
months of receipt of such study, adopt rates, fees and charges for the use of the System, based 
upon the recommendations contained in such study, which provide compliance with said Rate 
Covenant. 

Special Fund.  The Governmental Agency has previously created “City of Evans, Colorado, 
Acting By And Through Its Wastewater Utilities Enterprise, Water and Wastewater Enterprise 
Gross Income Fund” (the “Gross Income Fund”). The Governmental Agency covenants to create 
a special fund into which it shall deposit the Gross Revenues (as defined in paragraph 4. of 
Exhibit A to this Loan Agreement) into the Gross Income Fund.  The Gross Revenues shall be 
applied, on or before the last day of each month, first to the payment of the Operation and 
Maintenance Expenses (as defined in paragraph 4. of Exhibit A to this Loan Agreement) and 
then applied to the payment of the Loan Repayments and other amounts payable on a parity with 
the Loan Repayments.  Any further application shall be as provided by ordinance or resolution of 
the Governmental Agency. 

Davis Bacon & Related Acts.  The Governmental Agency will comply with the requirements of 
the Davis Bacon & Related Acts, codified at 40 U.S.C. §§ 3140 through 3148.   

American Iron and Steel Requirement.  The Governmental Agency will comply with all 
federal requirements applicable to the Loan, including Section 436 of  P.L. 113-76, Consolidated 
Appropriations Act, 2014, (the “Appropriations Act”) and related State Revolving Fund Policy 
Guidelines, which require that all of the iron and steel products (as defined in the Appropriations 
Act and Guidelines) used in the Project must be produced in the United States unless the 
Governmental Agency has requested and received a waiver from the requirement pursuant to the 
“waiver process” described in the Appropriations Act and Guidelines. 

Financial Sustainability Plan Requirement. The Governmental Agency will comply with all 
federal requirements applicable to the Loan, including Section 603 of the Federal Water 
Pollution Control Act (33 U.S.C. 1383) as amended by the Water Resources Reform and 
Development Act (WRRDA), 2014, which will require that treatment works proposed for repair, 
replacement, or expansion, and eligible for assistance to develop and implement a fiscal 
sustainability plan due by the end of the Project that includes: 
 

1. An inventory of critical assets that are a part of the treatment works. 
2. An evaluation of the condition and performance of inventoried assets or asset groupings. 
3. A certification that the recipient has evaluated and will be implementing water and 

energy conservation efforts as part of the plan. 
4. A plan for maintaining, repairing, and as necessary, replacing the treatment works and a 

plan for funding such activities. 
 
 



 

27021476.1 F-1-3 

Signage. The Governmental Agency will comply with all federal requirements applicable to the 
Loan, including the Guidelines for Enhancing Public Awareness of SRF Assistance Agreements 
as issued by the United States Environmental Protection Agency in the Memorandum dated June 
3, 2015. The Governmental Agency will provide project signage consistent with the guidelines in 
one or more of the listed strategies including: 
 

1. Standard signage 
2. Posters or wall signage in a public building or location 
3. Newspaper or periodical advertisement for project construction, groundbreaking 

ceremony, or operation of the new or improved facility 
4. Online signage place on a community website or social media outlet 
5. Press release 

 

 



 

G-1-1 
27021476.1 

EXHIBIT G 

COLORADO WATER RESOURCES AND POWER DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

TAX COMPLIANCE QUESTIONNAIRE 
REGARDING USE OF FACILITIES FINANCED WITH  

TAX-EXEMPT BONDS 

BOND ISSUE:  Clean Water Revenue Bonds 2016 Series A. 

NAME OF GOVERNMENT AGENCY:  City of Evans, Colorado, Acting By And 
Through Its Wastewater Utilities Enterprise (the “Government Agency”) 

Please provide the information requested below with respect to the Government 
Agency’s facilities (the “Bond-Financed Facilities”) financed with the above-referenced 
issue of tax-exempt obligations (“Bonds”) issued by the Colorado Water Resources and 
Power Development Authority (the “Authority”). 

1. (a) Are all of the Bond-Financed Facilities owned by a governmental person?  (For 
purposes of this Questionnaire, a “governmental person” is a state or local governmental 
unit or any instrumentality thereof and a “nongovernmental person” is any person or 
entity other than a governmental person.)  ___Yes ___No 

(b) If the answer to 1(a) is “No,” provide a brief description of the owner, the 
properties it owns and the ownership arrangement. 

2. (a) Are any of the Bond-Financed Facilities leased to a nongovernmental person?  
 ___Yes ___No 

(b) If the answer to 2(a) is “Yes,” provide a brief description of the lease. 

3. (a) Has the Government Agency entered into a contract with a nongovernmental 
person for the operation or management of the Bond-Financed Facilities?  
 ___Yes ___No 

(b) If the answer to 3(a) is “Yes,” provide a brief description of the contract. 

4. (a) Has the Government Agency entered into any wholesale contract with a 
nongovernmental person for the sale, exchange, pooling or other use of the capacity or 
output of the Bond-Financed Facilities? ___Yes ___No 

(b) If the answer to 4(a) is “Yes,” provide a brief description of the contract. 

5. (a) Are the Bond-Financed Facilities used to serve any retail customer under an 
arrangement other than (1) a general rate schedule or tariff or (2) a requirements contract 
under which the purchaser is obligated to make payments only to the extent it has output 
requirements served under the contract? ___Yes ___No 



 

G-1-2 
27021476.1 

(b) If the answer to 5(a) is “Yes,” provide a brief description of the contract or other 
arrangement. 

6. (a) To the best of its knowledge, is the Government Agency in compliance with its 
covenants in the Loan Agreement executed by the Government Agency in connection 
with the issuance of the Bonds? ___Yes ___No 

(b) If the answer to 6(a) is “No,” provide a brief explanation. 

Provide the name, title and contact information for the person(s) who completed this 
Questionnaire: 

Name:  ________________ 
Title:    ________________ 
Telephone number:  ________________ 
E-mail address:  ________________ 

CITY OF EVANS, COLORADO, ACTING BY 
AND THROUGH ITS WASTEWATER 
UTILITIES ENTERPRISE  

By:    
Name:  ________________ 
Title:    ________________ 

 



 CITY OF EVANS, COLORADO 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 652-16 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A LOAN FROM THE 
COLORADO WATER RESOURCES AND POWER 
DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY IN THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT 
OF NOT TO EXCEED $41,429,000; AUTHORIZING THE FORM 
AND EXECUTION OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT AND A 
GOVERNMENTAL AGENCY BOND TO EVIDENCE SUCH 
LOAN; AUTHORIZING THE CONSTRUCTION OF A PROJECT; 
AND PRESCRIBING OTHER DETAILS IN CONNECTION 
THEREWITH. 

 
WHEREAS, the City Of Evans (the “City”), in the County of Weld and State of 

Colorado, is duly organized and existing under the Constitution and the laws of the State of Colorado 

and the Home Rule Charter of the City (the “Charter”); and 

WHEREAS, the members of the City Council of the City (the “Council”) have been 

duly elected, chosen and qualified; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to C.R.S. §37-45.1-103, the City owns and operates its 

municipal wastewater system (the “System”); and 

WHEREAS, the Council has determined that the System constitutes an enterprise (the 

“Enterprise”) pursuant to Article X, Section 20 of the Colorado Constitution; and 

WHEREAS, the Council is the governing body of the Enterprise; and 

WHEREAS, the Council has heretofore determined that the interest of the City and 

the public interest and necessity demand and require the construction of a new consolidated domestic 

wastewater treatment works at the existing Hill-N-Park WWTF site and replacement of Hill-N-Park 

lagoon system, decommissioning both lagoon systems, a new lift station, and a new force main (the 

“Project”); and 

WHEREAS, the Council has determined that in order to finance the Project, it is 

necessary and advisable and in the best interests of the City to enter into a loan agreement (the “Loan 

Agreement”) with the Colorado Water Resources and Power Development Authority (“CWRPDA”), 

a body corporate and political subdivision of the State of Colorado, pursuant to which CWRPDA 

shall loan the City an amount of not to exceed $41,429,000 (the “Loan”) for such purposes; and 



 
 2 

WHEREAS, the CWRPDA will obtain money to fund the Loan to the City through 

the issuance of its bonds (the “CWRDPA Bonds”); and  

WHEREAS, the repayment obligations under the Loan Agreement shall be evidenced 

by a governmental agency bond (the “Bond”) to be issued by the City to CWRPDA, and which Bond 

shall be payable only from revenue of the System; and 

WHEREAS, under Section 10.5 of the Charter, the City is authorized to issue revenue 

bonds payable solely from the revenues of the System; and 

WHEREAS, Article X, Section 20 of the Colorado Constitution (“TABOR”)  requires 

an election to incur any multiple fiscal year obligation unless such obligation is incurred by an 

enterprise; and 

WHEREAS, under TABOR, an enterprise is a government-owned business 

authorized to issue its own revenue bonds and receiving under 10% of annual revenue in grants from 

all Colorado state and local governments combined; and 

WHEREAS, in 2015, the Enterprise received grants for the System (as defined in the 

Loan Agreement) from all Colorado state and local governments combined which were less than 

10% of the annual revenue of the System; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to TABOR and the Charter, the Bond and the Loan Agreement 

(collectively, the “Financing Documents”) may be approved by the Council without an election; and 

WHEREAS, the Bond and the Loan Agreement shall be revenue obligations of the 

City, payable from the net revenues of the System; and 

WHEREAS, the City has previously executed and delivered two separate loan 

agreements with the CWRPDA dated April 1, 1998, and November 16, 1998 (collectively, the “1998 

Loan”) which have a lien on the net revenues of the System (the “Pledged Property”); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the loan agreements and ordinances authorizing the 1998 

Loans (collectively, the “1998 Authorizing Documents”), the City may issue additional obligations 

with a lien on the Pledged Property which is on a parity with the lien thereon of the 1998 Loans upon 

compliance with certain conditions set forth in the 1998 Authorizing Documents; and 

WHEREAS, and the Council has determined and hereby determines that such 

conditions for the issuance of additional parity obligations can be met so that the lien of the 

Financing Documents on the Pledged Property is on a parity with the lien of the 1998 Loans; and 



 
 3 

WHEREAS, except to secure the 1998 Loans, the Loan and the Bond, the City has not 

pledged nor hypothecated the net revenues derived or to be derived from the operation of the System, 

or any part thereof, to the payment of any bonds or for any other purpose, with the result that the net 

revenue may now be pledged lawfully and irrevocably to the payment of the Bond; and 

WHEREAS, there have been presented to the Council the forms of the Financing 

Documents; and 

WHEREAS, the Council desires to approve the forms of the Financing Documents 

and authorize the execution thereof. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF EVANS, COLORADO: 

Section 1.  Determinations.  The Council hereby finds and determines that the 

System constitutes an enterprise under all applicable Colorado laws.  The adoption of this ordinance 

does not adversely impact the enterprise status of the System prior to the date hereof. 

Section 2.  Approvals, Authorizations, and Amendments.  The forms of the 

Financing Documents presented at this meeting are incorporated herein by reference and are hereby 

approved.  The City shall enter into and perform its obligations under the Financing Documents in 

the forms of such documents, with such changes as are not inconsistent herewith and as are hereafter 

approved by the Mayor of the City (the “Mayor”), the City Manager of the City (the “City Manager”) 

or the Deputy City Manager/Treasurer of the City (the “Chief Financial Officer”).  The Mayor and 

City Clerk are hereby authorized and directed to execute the Financing Documents and to affix the 

seal of the City thereto, and further to execute and authenticate such other documents or certificates 

as are deemed necessary or desirable in connection therewith.  The Financing Documents shall be 

executed in substantially the forms approved at this meeting.   

The execution of any instrument or certificate or other document in connection with 

the matters referred to herein by the Mayor, the City Manager, the Chief Financial Officer and City 

Clerk or by other appropriate officers of the City, shall be conclusive evidence of the approval by the 

City of such instrument. 

Section 3. Election to Apply the Supplemental Act.  Section 11-57-204 of the 

Supplemental Public Securities Act, constituting Title 11, Article 57, Part 2, C.R.S. (the 

“Supplemental Act”) provides that a public entity, including the City, may elect in an act of issuance 



 
 4 

to apply all or any of the provisions of the Supplemental Act.  The City hereby elects to apply all of 

the provisions of the Supplemental Act to the Financing Documents. 

Section 4. Delegation. 

(a) Pursuant to Section 11-57-205 of the Supplemental Act, the City hereby 

delegates to the Mayor, the City Manager and the Chief Financial Officer the independent authority 

to make the following determinations relating to and contained in the Financing Documents, subject 

to the restrictions contained in paragraph (b) of this Section 4: 

i. The interest rate on the Loan; 

ii. The principal amount of the Loan; 

iii. The amount of principal of the Loan maturing in any given year and 

the final maturity of the Loan; 

iv. The dates on which the principal of and interest on the Loan are paid; 

and 

v. The existence and amount of reserve funds for the Loan, if any. 

(b) The delegation in paragraph (a) of this Section 4 shall be subject to the 

following parameters and restrictions:  

 (i) the net effective interest rate on the Loan shall not exceed 3.50%;  

 (ii) the principal amount of the Loan shall not exceed $41,429,000; and  

 (iii) the final maturity of the Loan shall not be later than twenty-three years 

from the date of the Loan. 

Section 5. Conclusive Recital. Pursuant to Section 11-57-210 of the 

Supplemental Act, the Bond and the Loan Agreement shall contain a recital that the Bond is issued 

pursuant to certain provisions of the Supplemental Act.  Such recital shall be conclusive evidence of 

the validity and the regularity of the issuance of the Bond after its delivery for value. 

Section 6. Ratification and Approval of Prior Actions.  All actions heretofore 

taken by the officers of the City and members of the Council, not inconsistent with the provisions of 

this Ordinance, relating to the Financing Documents, or actions to be taken in respect thereof, are 

hereby ratified, approved, and confirmed. 

Section 7. Pledge of Revenues. The creation, perfection, enforcement, and 

priority of the pledge of revenues to secure or pay the Bond and the Loan Agreement provided herein 



 
 5 

shall be governed by Section 11-57-208 of the Supplemental Act and this Ordinance.  The amounts 

pledged to the payment of the Bond and the Loan Agreement shall immediately be subject to the lien 

of such pledge without any physical delivery, filing, or further act.  The lien of such pledge shall 

have the priority described in the Loan Agreement.  The lien of such pledge shall be valid, binding, 

and enforceable as against all persons having claims of any kind in tort, contract, or otherwise 

against the City irrespective of whether such persons have notice of such liens. 

Section 8. Limitation of Actions.  Pursuant to Section 11-57-212 of the 

Supplemental Act, no legal or equitable action brought with respect to any legislative acts or 

proceedings in connection with the Financing Documents shall be commenced more than thirty days 

after the issuance of the Bond. 

Section 9.  Limited Obligation; Special Obligation.  The Financing Documents are 

payable solely from the Pledged Property (as defined in the Loan Agreement) and the Financing 

Documents do not constitute a debt within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory limitation 

or provision. 

No elected or appointed officers or agents of the City shall be subject to any pecuniary 

liability in connection with any agreement, covenant, or undertaking by the City, or by them, 

contained in any document executed in connection with the authorization, execution, and delivery of 

the Financing Documents or this Ordinance or with respect to any action taken or omitted to be taken 

in good faith with reference thereto. 

Section 10. No Recourse against Officers and Agents.  Pursuant to Section 11-57-

209 of the Supplemental Act, if a member of the Council, or any officer or agent of the City acts in 

good faith, no civil recourse shall be available against such member, officer, or agent for payment of 

the principal of or interest on the Bond.  Such recourse shall not be available either directly or 

indirectly through the Council or the City, or otherwise, whether by virtue of any constitution, 

statute, rule of law, enforcement of penalty, or otherwise.  By the acceptance of the Bond and as a 

part of the consideration of its sale or purchase, CWRPDA specifically waives any such recourse. 

Section 11.  Disposition and Investment of Loan Proceeds.  The proceeds of the 

Loan shall be applied to pay the costs and expenses of acquiring, constructing and equipping the 

Project, including costs related thereto and, to the extent permitted under federal tax laws, 

reimbursement to the City for capital expenditures heretofore incurred and paid from City funds in 



 
 6 

anticipation of the incurrence of long-term financing therefor, and all other costs and expenses 

incident thereto, including without limitation the costs of obtaining the Loan.  Neither CWRPDA nor 

any subsequent owner(s) of the Loan Agreement shall be responsible for the application or disposal 

by the City or any of its officers of the funds derived from the Loan.  In the event that all of the 

proceeds of the Loan are not required to pay such costs and expenses, any remaining amount shall be 

used for the purpose of paying the principal amount of the Loan and the interest thereon. 

Section 12.  City Representative.  Pursuant to Exhibit B of the Loan Agreement, the 

Mayor, the City Manager and the Chief Financial Officer are hereby designated as the Authorized 

Officers (as defined in the Loan Agreement) for the purpose of performing any act or executing any 

document relating to the Loan, the City, the Bonds or the Loan Agreement.  A copy of this Ordinance 

shall be furnished to CWRPDA as evidence of such designation. 

Section 13.  Estimated Life of Improvements.  It is hereby determined that the 

estimated life of the Project to be financed with the proceeds of the Loan is not less than the final 

maturity of the Loan. 

Section 14.  Direction to Take Authorizing Action.  The appropriate officers of the 

City and members of the Council are hereby authorized and directed to take all other actions 

necessary or appropriate to effectuate the provisions of this Ordinance, including but not limited to 

such certificates and affidavits as may reasonably be required by CWRPDA. 

Section 15.  Ratification and Approval of Prior Actions.  All actions heretofore 

taken by the officers of the City and members of the Council, not inconsistent with the provisions of 

this Ordinance, relating to the Financing Documents, or actions to be taken in respect thereof, are 

hereby ratified, approved, and confirmed. 

Section 16. CWRPDA’s Official Statement.  The appropriate officers and 

employees of the City are hereby authorized and directed to furnish and supply information 

concerning the City to CWRPDA for use in the preparation of an Official Statement to be used to 

market the CWRPDA Bonds. 

Section 17.  Severability.  If any section, paragraph, clause, or provision of this 

Ordinance shall for any reason be held to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or 

unenforceability of such section, paragraph, clause, or provision shall not affect any of the remaining 

provisions of this Ordinance, the intent being that the same are severable. 



 
 7 

Section 18.  Repealer.  All orders, resolutions, bylaws, ordinances or regulations of 

the City, or parts thereof, inconsistent with this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent only of 

such inconsistency. 

Section 19.  Ordinance Irrepealable.  After the Bond is issued, this Ordinance shall 

constitute an irrevocable contract between the City and CWRPDA, and shall be and remain 

irrepealable until the Bond and the interest thereon shall have been fully paid, satisfied, and 

discharged.  No provisions of any constitution, statute, charter, ordinance, resolution or other 

measure enacted after the issuance of the Bond shall in any manner be construed as impairing the 

obligations of the City to keep and perform the covenants contained in this Ordinance. 

Section 20.  Recordation.  A true copy of this Ordinance, as adopted by the City 

Council, shall be numbered and recorded on the official records of the City and its adoption and 

publication shall be authenticated by the signatures of the Mayor and the City Clerk, and by a 

certification of publication. 

Section 21. Publication and Effective Date.  This ordinance after its passage on 

final reading shall be numbered, recorded, published and posted as required by the City Charter and 

the adoption, posting, and publication shall be authenticated by the signature of the Mayor and the 

City Clerk, and by the Certificate of Publication.  This ordinance shall become effective upon final 

passage.   



 
 8 

 

PASSED and APPROVED at a regular meeting of the City of Evans on this 5th day of April, 
2016. 

 
CITY OF EVANS, COLORADO 
 

 
        By:      

Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
     

City Clerk 
 
 
PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED ON SECOND READING this 19th day of April, 

2016. 
 

CITY OF EVANS, COLORADO 
 

 
        By:      

Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
     

City Clerk 
 



 

9 
 

STATE OF COLORADO  ) 
) 

COUNTY OF WELD   ) ss. 
) 

CITY OF EVANS   ) 

I, Raegan Robb, City Clerk of the City of Evans, Colorado (the “City”), do hereby 

certify the following: 

1. The attached copy of Ordinance No. 652-16 (the “Ordinance”) is a true, 

correct and complete copy thereof. 

2. The Ordinance was introduced, read, and approved on first reading by the City 

Council of the City at a regular meeting there held at Council Chambers, City Hall, 1100 37th Street, 

Evans, Colorado, the regular meeting place thereof, on April 5, 2016, by the members of the City 

Council as follows: 

Name “Yes” “No” Absent Abstain 
John Morris, Mayor     
Jay Schaffer, Mayor Pro Tem – Ward 3     
Laura Brown, Ward 1     
Lance Homann – Ward 1     
Sherri Finn – Ward 2     
Mark Clark – Ward 2     
Brian Rudy – Ward 3     

 

3. That notice of the regular meeting of April 5, 2016, in the form, attached 

hereto as Exhibit A, was posted in a designated public place within the boundaries of the City no 

less than twenty-four hours prior to the meeting as required by law. 

4. That the ordinance was posted and published by title after passage on first 

reading (with a statement that the ordinance is on file in the City Clerk’s office for public inspection) 

in The Greeley Tribune, a newspaper of general circulation within the City on [_________], 2016.  

The affidavit of publication is attached hereto as Exhibit B. 

5. The passage of the ordinance on second and final reading on April 19, 2016, 

was duly moved and seconded and the ordinance was passed on second and final reading by an 

affirmative vote of not less than a majority of the members of the Council as follows: 



10 

Name “Yes” “No” Absent Abstain 
John Morris, Mayor 
Jay Schaffer, Mayor Pro Tem – Ward 3 
Laura Brown, Ward 1 
Lance Homann – Ward 1 
Sherri Finn – Ward 2 

Mark Clark – Ward 2 
Brian Rudy – Ward 3 

6. That notice of the regular meeting on April 19, 2016, in the form attached

hereto as Exhibit A, was posted in a designated public place within the boundaries of the City no 

less than twenty-four hours prior to the meeting as required by law. 

7. That the ordinance was posted after second reading and published by title

(with notice that a copy of the entire text of the ordinance is available at the office of the City Clerk) 

after adoption in The Greeley Tribune a newspaper of general circulation within the City on 

____________, 2016.  The affidavit of publication is attached hereto as Exhibit B. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal of said 

City this _____ day of April, 2016. 

City Clerk 
(       SEAL       ) City of Evans, Colorado, 



A-1

Exhibit A 

(Attach affidavits of publication of Ordinance) 



B-1

Exhibit B 

(Forms of Notice of Public Meetings) 



 
 

  
 CITY COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 
 
 
DATE: April 19, 2016 
 
AGENDA ITEM: 10.A 
 
SUBJECT: Approval of Resolution No. 20-2016 approving a contract 

extension and preliminary budget revision for the City of Evans 
Long Range Planner 

 
PRESENTED BY: Sheryl Trent; Economic Development Director 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION: 
 

The State of Colorado manages the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) funds 
through the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD).  As a result of the flood, 
special CDBG Disaster Recovery (CDBG – DR) grant funds have been made available. In 2014 
the City applied for and were granted staffing funds to assist with our long range planning 
efforts, and we hired Chad Reischl as our City Planner in that position.   

The original grant is set to expire on April 28, 2016, however the state has agreed to continue 
funding the position for an additional 18 months with an award of $106,000. The state is 
requesting our approval of the amended grant contract at this time. The city will also need a 
budget amendment to account for the additional revenue. No match is required, however there 
will be $4,495.00 of personnel costs paid for from the General Fund due to an underestimation of 
personnel costs in the first grant cycle; this cost difference has been adjusted for in the second 
round of funding. The City will be providing space, office furniture, technology, and overhead 
(already existing in the budget).  There may also be some travel and training needs.  

 

BACKGROUND: 

 
In round one of the CDBG-DR funding, the City of Evans was awarded funds to hire a long-
range planner. Chad Reischl was hired and his position has been ongoing since October of 2014. 
Under general direction of the Flood Recovery Manager and direct supervision of the Economic 
Development Director the long range planner has been working to coordinate all long-range 
plans/projects related to flood recovery, including community engagement, consultant 
management and grant administration. 
 
While the large number of long range planning projects undertaken by the City due to the 2013 
flood necessitates an additional staff position to monitor consultants and assist with initial 
implementation of these plans, it is not possible for the City of Evans to support this position 



 
 

using general fund revenues at this time. Therefore, the state has awarded the City of Evans 
continued funding for the position 
 
This contract amendment approves continued funding for this position for 18 additional months 
so that Mr. Reischl can accomplish the following:  

1. Finish administering the Stormwater Management Plan and Sediment Transport Study 
that will not conclude until late 2016, 

2. Continue working with the Middle South Platte River Alliance and its newly hired 
coordinator as needed, 

3. Work toward implementing recently completed and/or soon to be completed planning 
projects along the South Platte River and in the Riverside Neighborhood, 

4. Continue to support the planning, design and construction process for Riverside Park, 
5. Complete a full analysis of floodplain affected properties within the “Evans Growth 

Management Area” to determine the best plan of action for future development and/or 
land preservation, and 

6. Assist with other short and long-range planning needs/projects as they arise 
 
The total grant contact is for $106,000 with an end date of October 31, 2017.  There is a separate 
employment contract between Mr. Reischl and the City of Evans which is based on the CDBG-
DR contract. There will be no gap in funding or staffing with this amended contract and funding.  
The grant covers personnel costs (salary and benefits) and any travel or training costs would be 
funded as necessary out of existing City budget allocations. 
 
FINANCIAL: 
 
The grant dates do not follow the City of Evans budget dates, which are based on a calendar year 
of January – December.  Therefore, the City currently has $25,953.00 budgeted for 2016 for the 
position which covers January – April.  The amended grant contract is for $106,000 which is for 
eighteen (18) months which begins when the State signs the grant (after approval by the City 
Council).  The end date of the grant per the contract is October 31, 2017.  
 
The total personnel budget for the whole calendar year will be $72,246.00, and the City’s 
contribution of that amount will be $4,495.00  
 
Therefore the total 2016 budget revision would be for $46,293.00 of additional revenue with 
offsetting expenditures to match. 
 
Costs Reimbursement 
Cost for Entire Year $72,246.00 Total Cost $72,246.00 
Currently Budgeted $25,953.00 State Share $67,751.00 
Difference (Budget 
Revision) 

$46,293.00 City Share $4,495.00 

 
 
 
 
 



 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
 
The City of Evans staff recommends that the City Council approve Resolution No. 20-2016 
approving a contract extension and preliminary budget revision for the City of Evans Long 
Range Planner.   
 
SUGGESTED MOTIONS:  
 
“I move to approve Resolution No. 20-2016 approving a contract extension and preliminary 
budget revision for the City of Evans Long Range Planner” 
 
“I move to deny Resolution No. 20-2016” 



CITY OF EVANS, COLORADO 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 20-2016 
 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE CONTRACT AND PRELIMINARY BUDGET 
REVISION FOR THE CITY OF EVANS LONG RANGE PLANNER 

 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Evans, Colorado, pursuant to Colorado 
statute and the Evans City Charter, is vested with the authority of administering the affairs of the 
City of Evans, Colorado; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council approved the application by City Staff for $160,000 in 
additional funding from the CDBG-DR program for the long range planner position in 
November, 2015, and  
 
 WHEREAS, the funds for this grant have been awarded and a contract amendment for 
the position has been generated by the State of Colorado Department of Local Affairs. 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
EVANS, COLORADO AS FOLLOWS: 
 

1. The City Council of the City of Evans hereby approves the amended contract; and 
2. The City Council approves a preliminary budget revision for the long range planner  
 position based on this grant award. 

 
 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED AT A REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF 
THE CITY OF EVANS ON THIS 19th DAY OF APRIL, 2016. 
 

 
 

ATTEST:   CITY OF EVANS, COLORADO 
 
 
__________________________________ BY: ______________________________ 
Raegan Robb, City Clerk John Morris, Mayor 







 
 
 COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 
  
 
DATE:   April 19, 2016 
 
AGENDA ITEM:  10.B 

 
SUBJECT:   Authorization to purchase a City Street Sweeper 
 
PRESENTED BY:  Fred Starr, Director of Public Works/Planning 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION: 
 
On February 12, 2016 the City entered into an Interlocal Contract for Cooperative Purchasing with 
HGACBuy, which is a political subdivision of the State of Texas which is empowered to enter into 
agreements with other governmental jurisdictions for the purpose of purchasing goods and services. 
 
By entering into this agreement, the City of Evans is able to utilize the broader purchasing power of 
HGACBuy to acquire certain goods at a lower price through the HGACBuy competitive bidding process.  
 
The City received a quote for a new Street Sweeper through the HGACBuy program at a price of $270,220.00 
for a street sweeper matching the City of Evans specifications and requirements. 
 
The City Attorney has reviewed and approved the agreement with HGACBuy, and the City Staff and Finance 
department have reviewed the specifications and quote for the street sweeper and are recommending the City 
Council authorize the City to purchase the street sweeper as referenced in attached HGACBuy Contract 
Pricing Worksheet. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  

HGACBuy Interlocal Contract for Cooperative Purchasing 
HGACBuy Contract Pricing Worksheet  

FINANCIAL SUMMARY:  
 
The City budgeted $300,000 for the purchase of a Street Sweeper in the 2016 Budget as follows: 

 
$150,000 from General Fund 
$100,000 from Capital Streets Fund 
$ 50,000 from Stormwater Fund  

  
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Staff recommends that the City Council direct staff to purchase the Street Sweeper as specified in the 
HGACBuy Contract Pricing Worksheet. 
  
SUGGESTED MOTIONS: 
 
 “ I move to direct City Staff to purchase a Street Sweeper utilizing the HGACBuy Cooperative 

Purchasing Program in the amount of $270,220.00.”  
 
 “ I move to deny approval of  City Staff to purchase a Street Sweeper utilizing the HGACBuy 

Cooperative Purchasing Program in the amount of $270,220.00.”   























City Manager - Monitoring Report
April 19, 2016 

Below is a compellation of updates and projects that are either new 
or have changed since the last City Council meeting. 

 Finance
Sales Tax Update 

Please find the Final January sales tax update below.   

Please find the Preliminary February 2016 sales tax update below.  

Year-to-date Actual vs. Budget we are $156,883 short. 

As far as the February monthly projection goes, we are $126,416 short of what we needed to collect 
this month to meet our annual budget. This does not include motor vehicle tax. 

Category 2015 YTD 2016 YTD % Change
Base 194,389       164,850           -15%
Commercial 160,970       152,310            -5%
Industrial 194,728       71,339              -63%
Utilities 84,149         64,616             -23%
Motor Vehicle 117,392         81,430             -31%
Total 751,629       534,545          -29%
January 2016 - Final
Lodging 7,998           5,898              -26%

January 2016 - Final

Category 2015 YTD 2016 YTD % Change
Base 372,122        327,445           -12%
Commercial 305,320       296,309          -3%
Industrial 374,712        153,497           -59%
Utilities 151,174         125,771             -17%
February 2016 - Preliminary
Lodging 15,304          11,830              -23%

February 2016 - Preliminary



 
 
 

New Business License List - March 
 
The chart below is a list of new Business and Tax License Applications received.  The columns show the 
company and Doing Business As (DBA) name.  “In/Out” indicates whether or not the business is located 
“In” Evans or “Out” of Evans.  “Account Start” is the date the business/account started, location 
address and type of business conducted.   
 
New businesses located in Evans go through a review process.  Please contact me by email 
at jpacheco@evanscolorado.gov or by phone at 970-475-1109 if you would like to know if an Evans 
business listed below was approved, denied or still under review.   
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

Nature of Business
ARB Niobrara Connector LLC ARB Niobrara Connector LLC Denver, CO  80202
AT&T Digital Life Inc AT&T Digital Life Inc Atlanta, GA  30319
Fit and Nurticion LLC Fit and Nurticion LLC Evans, CO  80620
New Avon LLC New  Avon LLC New  York, NY  10017

Saf-Gard Safety Shoe Inc Saf-Gard Safety Shoe Inc Greensboro, NC  27407
Crasco LLC Crasco LLC Greeley, CO  80634
Inspire Dance Academy IDA Evans, CO  80620
Copperleaf Custom Builders Copperleaf Custom Builders Mead, CO  80542
Helix TCS Inc Helix TCS and Boss High Level Protection Greenw ood Village, CO  
Maria Gerlach Maria Gerlach Evans, CO  80620
La Costenita Market LLC La Costenita Market LLC Evans, CO  80620
Taqueria La Costenita LLC Taqueria La Costenita LLC Evans, CO  80620
Gremlins Electric LLC Gremlins Electric LLC Evans, CO  80620
Savage Services Corporation Savage Services Corporation Evans, CO  80645
Wooden Nickel Salsa Wooden Nickel Salsa Evans, CO  80620
BH Inc BHI Vernal, UT  84078
Western Skies Construction LLC Western Skies Construction LLC Greeley, CO  8063133154   CR 51

Electrical Contractor
3/28/2016O

826   South 1500 East
General Construction

O 3/28/2016
3419 39th Ave3/25/2016

3/21/2016
Transload - Transportation Support Services

I
7300   47th Ave3/22/2016

Salsa

Restaurant3505   11th Ave #3
Grocery store, bakery & butcher

Electrical Services
I

3901   Harbor LaneI

I

3/18/2016I
3505   11th Ave #3

5300   DTC Parkw ay
Vacation Rental Property

3/18/2016I
3028   Sunset Drive3/15/2016

3/10/2016
1015   42nd St

O
General Contractor2688   Grace Way

3/11/2016 Private Security/Transportation

Retailer of shoes

Manuf and direct sales of cosmetics, 
toiletries, fragrances and fashion acc

Crack f ill925   N 35th Ave
Dance Lessons

O
818 31st St
777   Third Avenue

2701   Patterson Street

Dance and f itness3/1/2016
3/1/2016

Rail facility for crude oil and porppants
Security Systems Service

Address
1600   Broadw ay Ste 2400
1025   Lenox Park Blvde NE

O

O
I

3/1/2016
3/1/2016

New 
Accounts

O

3/1/2016

Business/Doing Business As

I
O

Acct Start

3/7/2016
3/4/2016O

In/Out

3/1/2016

mailto:jpacheco@evanscolorado.gov


 
 
 



 
 

 
COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 

 
 
 
DATE:   April 19, 2016 
 
AGENDA ITEM:  13.A 

   
SUBJECT:   Adjournment to Executive Session 
 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION: 

 
The City Council will adjourn into an executive session to determine positions relative to matters 
that may be subject to negotiations, developing strategy for negotiations, and instructing 
negotiators, pursuant to C.R.S. 24-6-402(4)(e).   

 
 

FINANCIAL SUMMARY: 
N/A 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
       
N/A 

 
SUGGESTED MOTIONS: 

 
“I move to go into Executive Session for the purpose of determining positions relative to 
matters that may be subject to negotiations, developing strategy for negotiations, and 
instructing negotiators, pursuant to C.R.S. 24-6-402(4)(e).”   
 

 
 


	CALL TO ORDER
	PLEDGE
	ROLL CALL
	PROCLAMATION
	Holocaust Memorial Proclamation

	AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION
	APPROVAL OF AGENDA
	CONSENT AGENDA
	7.A Staff Report - Approval of Minutes
	04.05.2016 Draft Meeting Minutes

	7.B Bella Vista-Combined_final_
	Bella Vasta Ord 649-16- FINAL

	7.C Vintage Villas
	7.D - 2016 Budget Rev #1
	Ordinance No. 651-16 - 2016 Budget Rev
	Attachment A and support

	7.E - Loan Approval for Wastewater Treatment Plant
	DRAFT LOAN AGREEMENT 


	SPECIAL RECOGNITION
	SWEARING IN NEW COUNCIL MEMBERS
	NEW BUSINESS
	10.A Contract-budget amendment for long range planner.pdf
	Reso 20-2016 Approval of contract-budge for long range planner
	Grant Amendment for Long Range Planner

	10.B Street Sweeper Contract.pdf
	STAFF Report Street Sweeper April 19
	2016_Sweeper-Agreement
	2016_HGAC-Contract_StreetSweeper


	REPORTS
	4-19-2016 Monitoring Report

	AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION
	EXECUTIVE SESSION
	13.A Staff Report - Adjournment to Executive Session

	ADJOURNMENT



